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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC is an open-ended variable capital investment 
company incorporated under the laws of Ireland pursuant to the European Communities (Undertakings for 

Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2019 as amended. THE MULTI-
MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC is constituted as an umbrella fund with segregated liability 
between sub-funds. There are four sub-funds at 31 December 2019, the ORGANIC BOND Fund, the 
ORGANIC LONG/SHORT ALPHA Fund, the MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED FUND and the 
MERANTILE OPPORTUNITIES FUND. Two sub-funds, the GLOBAL BOND FUND and the 
LONG/SHORT ALPHA FUND were launched on 1 July 2019 and terminated on 30 September 2019. 
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The prospectus, supplement, the articles of association, the Key Investor Information Document, the annual and semi-annual 

report as well as a list containing all purchases and sales which have been made during the reporting year can be obtained free 

of charge at the UK Representative. 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Directors’ Report 
 

This report covers the financial year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019.  

 

Principal Activity 
 

The Multi-Manager UCITS Platform Fund PLC was incorporated in Ireland on 25th October 2012 and was registered in Ireland by 

way of continuation, as an open-ended investment Company and authorised as a UCITS by the Central Bank of Ireland pursuant to 

the UCITS Regulations 2011 on 26th July 2013. The Company is constituted as an open-ended umbrella investment company with 

variable capital. 
 

At 31 December 2019, the Company has four sub-funds (“the Sub-Funds”). Details of the Sub-Funds are below: 
 

Sub-Funds Start Date of Operations 

Net Assets as at 31 

December 2019 

Net Assets as at 31 

December 2018 

The Organic Long Short Alpha 

Fund  21 September 2016 USD$178,581 USD$7,414,222 

The Organic Bond Fund  2 November 2016 GBP£764,149 GBP£25,565,835 

The Mercantile Diversified Fund 11 June 2018 GBP£6,410,749 GBP£6,997,635 

The Mercantile Opportunities Fund 6 September 2018 GBP£5,618,704 GBP£5,817,105 

The Long/Short Alpha Fund * 1 July 2019 - - 

The Global Bond Fund * 1 July 2019 - - 
 

Sub-Funds  

Profit/Loss as at 31 

December 2019 

Profit/Loss as at 31 

December 2018 

The Organic Long Short Alpha 

Fund   US$(738,655) US$(3,324,649) 

The Organic Bond Fund   GBP£(8,741,072) GBP£(9,615,267) 

The Mercantile Diversified Fund  GBP£(2,995) GBP£(393,898) 

The Mercantile Opportunities Fund  GBP£345,385 GBP£(835,329) 

The Long/Short Alpha Fund *  - GBP£(50,363) 

The Global Bond Fund *  - GBP£(42,748) 
 

* The Long/Short Alpha Fund and The Global Bond Fund which commenced operations on 1 July 2019 were terminated on 30 

September 2019. 
 

Please note that as per Note 13, the NAV as per the Financial statements differs to the dealing NAV due to deferred costs. 
 

Statement on Relevant Audit Information 
There is no relevant audit information of which the statutory auditors are unaware. The Directors have taken all steps that they ought 

to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and they have established that the statutory auditors are 

aware of the information. 
 

Establishment of an Audit Committee 
The Company has elected not to establish an audit committee as per Section 167(2)(b) of the Companies Act 2014 given the following 

reasons: 

(a) the nature, scale and complexity of the Company’s business range of services and activities undertaken in the course of that 

business; 

(b) the financial controls already adopted by the company, as per the Central Bank’s requirements, in respect of internal 
controls, internal audit and risk management (each of which are documented in the Company’s UCITS Business Plan); 

(c) the resources available to the Company and the expertise of the various third parties engaged to support the Company and 

carry out certain functions on its behalf; and 

(d) the procedures in place for the review, approval and circulation of the audited financial accounts which are appropriate for 

a self-managed investment company such as the Company, pursuant to the UCITS Regulations. 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Directors’ Report (continued) 
 

Corporate Governance Statement 
The Board has adopted the voluntary Irish Funds Corporate Governance Code for Collective Investment Schemes and Management 

Companies (the “Code”). The Board has reviewed and assessed the measures included in the Code and considers its corporate 

governance practices and procedures since its adoption of the Code as consistent therewith. Currently the Directors are comprised of 

three non-executive Directors. Details of the current Directors are set out in the Management and Administration section on page 2. 
Maurice Murphy resigned on 17 May 2019 and Andrew Curtin was appointed on 17 May 2019.  
 

Connected Parties  
In accordance with the requirements of the Central Bank of Ireland 2019 Regulations, all transactions carried out with the Fund by 

the promoter, director, investment adviser and associates/group companies ("connected parties") must be carried out as if negotiated 

at arm's length and be in the best interests of the shareholders. The Manager is satisfied that there are arrangements in place, evidenced 

by written procedures to ensure that the obligations set out in the UCITS Notices are applied to all transactions with connected parties 

and that transactions with connected parties entered into during the financial year complied with the obligations set out in the Central 

Bank of Ireland 2019 Regulations. 
 

Directors 
The names of the persons who were Directors at any time during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 are set out on page 2 

of this report. Unless indicated, the Directors served for the entire year. In accordance with the Articles of Association the current 

Directors shall continue in office. No Directors or Secretaries have an interest or debenture held in the Company. 
 

Directors’ Statement on Adequate Accounting Records 
To ensure compliance regarding the keeping of accounting records in accordance with the requirements of Section 281 to 285 of the 

Companies Act, 2014, the Directors of the Company have employed accounting personnel with appropriate expertise. The 

Company’s financial records are maintained by Apex Fund Services (Ireland) Limited, Block 5, Irish Life Centre, Abbey Street 

Lower, Dublin 1, Ireland, D01 P767. 
 

Independent Auditors  
The auditors, Deloitte Ireland LLP, have signified their willingness to continue in office in accordance with Section 383(2) of the 

Companies Act 2014. 
 

Dividends 
There have been no dividends declared during the financial year ended 31st December 2019 (2018: NIL). 
 

Significant Events during the reporting year 
The Significant events during the reporting year are detailed in Note 14. 
 

Events after the reporting year 
The events after the reporting year are detailed in Note 15. 
 

Review of Business  
An overview of the industry and performance of the Sub-Funds are detailed in the Investment Manager’s Report on page 7. The 

Statement of Financial Position as at 31st December and the results for the year are set out on pages 15-19. 
 

Principal Risk & Uncertainties 
An investment in the Company involves a high degree of risk including, but not limited to, the risks as outlined in the prospectus. 

An investment in the Company is only suitable for investors who are in a position to take such risk. There can be no assurance that  

the Company will achieve its objective and the value of the shares can go down as well as up. The principal risks and uncertainties 

faced by the Company are market price risk, foreign currency risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and interest rate risk which are outlined 

in Note 8. 
 

Future Developments 
The Organic Bond and Organic Long Short Alpha Fund remain suspended. The Directors and EGI as manager are committed to 

winding down the remaining positions as soon as possible. In furtherance of the aim of allowing shareholders to access their money, 

a decision was made to create two new Sub-Funds into which all the liquid assets will be transferred. A portion of each shareholders 

holding the legacy Funds was converted on the 1 July 2019 for corresponding shares in the new Sub-Funds. These Sub-Funds were 

then opened for investor dealing. The illiquid assets remain in the legacy Sub-Funds and will be managed by EGI until such time as 

all the positions are closed out. The application for the new Sub-Funds was filed with the Central Bank on 8 March 2019. Approval 
was received on 15 April 2019. 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 
 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and with the Companies Act, 2014. 

 

Irish company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the 

state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the 

directors are required to: 

 

 Select suitable accounting policies and then apply then consistently; 

 

 Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 

 

 Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will 

continue in business. 

 

 State whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, 
identify those standards, and note the effect and the reasons for any material departure from those standards 

 

The directors are responsible for keeping proper books of account which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 

position of the company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting 

standards generally accepted in Ireland and comply with Irish statute comprising the Companies Acts 2014 and with the European 

Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2011 (the “UCITS Regulation 2011”) 

and the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in 

Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2019 (the “Central Bank UCITS Regulations 2019”) and the Listing Rules of the Irish Stock 

Exchange. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. In this regard the Directors have appointed Apex Fund Services (Ireland) 

Limited for the purposes of maintaining proper books of account. Accordingly the books of account are kept at the following address: 

Apex Fund Services (Ireland) Limited, 2nd Floor, Block 5, Irish Life Centre, Abbey Street Lower, Dublin 1, Ireland, D01 P767. 

 

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 

and detection of fraud and other irregularities. The Directors have entrusted the assets of the Company to the Custodian for 

safekeeping. In this regard, the Directors have appointed Societe Generale, as Depositary. The address at which this business is 

conducted is as follows: 3rd Floor, IFSC House, IFSC, Dublin 1, D01 R2P9, Ireland. 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Investment Manager’s Report 

 
Mercantile Opportunities UCITS Fund 

 
Jan  Feb Mar  Apr May Jun  Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

1.671% 0.000% 0.352% 0.976%  -2.175% 3.391% 1.257% -3.837% 1.526% -0.35% 0.46% 2.66% 

 

End of Year 

5.931% 

 

Market Overview 
UK equities performed well over Q1 despite ongoing Brexit-related uncertainty and were in line with global equities. US equities 

rose, fuelled mainly by an increasingly dovish tilt in Federal Reserve (Fed) commentary, apparent progress in US-China trade talks, 

and as the government shutdown ended. A degree of USD weakness accompanied the more dovish interest rate outlook during the 

period while commodity prices, especially oil, posted gains but signally failed to re-ignite serious inflationary concerns for policy 

makers. US 10-year Treasury yields fell in Q1, reaching its lowest levels since late 2017. The three-month Treasury bill yield rose 
higher than that of 10-year bonds in March, inverting the yield curve, resonating as a sign of caution with investors. Eurozone equities 

also recovered well, supported by central banks stepping away from tighter monetary policy. However, worries over economic 

growth lingered throughout Q1. Emerging markets (EM) equities registered a strong return in Q1, led by China. Optimism over a  

trade agreement with the US and ongoing government support for the Chinese domestic economy were beneficial. 

 

Shares in developed markets gained in Q2, despite a steep fall in May due to concerns over the US China trade war. Stock markets 

were supported by increasingly accommodative central banks and hopes of progress in trade tensions by the end of June. The US 

S&P 500 index achieved a new record high. The Federal Reserve (Fed) did not cut interest rates at its June meeting, but indicated 

that there may be rate cuts ahead. More economically sensitive areas of the market generally performed strongly. Eurozone shares 

advanced, with a sharp drop in May sandwiched between gains in April and June. UK shares performed well over the quarter, despite 

ongoing Brexit-related uncertainty and the resignation of Prime Minister Theresa May. Emerging market shares lagged their 

developed market counterparts. Trade uncertainty weighed on Chinese stocks. Government bond yields fell noticeably as prices rose. 

 

Shares in Western geographical regions posted gains within the period only to evaporate and slip into moderate negative territory by 

the end of the third Quarter. Inevitably, the ongoing tit-for-tat tariff war initiated by the Trump administration against China 

significantly influenced movements in equities and the US Dollar as well as further dovish action from the Federal Reserve. The net 

effect was for pockets of acute volatility with the S&P 500 index of leading US companies posting gyrations of between 5% and 7% 

in both directions within just a few weeks. On balance the US Dollar Index (versus key major currencies) saw a 2.5% gain, although 
this started to look stretched into the end of September. UK gilts made minor gains over the Quarter while US treasuries also edged 

ahead slightly, after surrendering more material gains during early September. With so much volatility and geopolitical uncertainty, 

portfolios were held largely constant with some rotation into and out of stocks which presented oversold characteristics (Thomas 

Cook, Facebook, Saga) and relatively swift, low risk/reward trading windows which helped overall returns. 

 

The geopolitical risks that dominated markets for much of 2019 faded in Q4, helping global equity markets to post gains. In fixed 

income, corporate bonds performed well amid the improved investor sentiment. US equities made robust gains in Q4 as trade 

uncertainty faded with the US and China’s “phase one” trade deal announcement. The Federal Reserve cut interest rates once in the 

quarter before indicating that "the current stance of monetary policy is appropriate". Eurozone shares advanced, supported by signs 

of better economic data from Germany as well as optimism surrounding the US and China trade deal. Christine Lagarde took over 

as president of the European Central Bank. UK shares gained. Domestically focused areas of the market performed well amid reduced 

near-term political uncertainty, following the landslide general election victory for the Conservative Party. Japanese shares ended 

higher and the yen weakened slightly against the US dollar. Emerging market equities posted a strong gain. Bond markets reflected 

the better mood as government bond yields rose (i.e. prices fell) and corporate bonds performed well. Currency markets fluctuated 

throughout the period with GBP seeing swings from Brexit and government related events which saw the pound strengthen and then 

begin to slide subsequently. 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Investment Manager’s Report (continued) 
 

Performance Commentary 
We saw some recovery across the fund in Q1 but not in the same circumstances as the recoveries seen on the Dow Jones and S&P500 

as we reduced proportionate exposure during late November and early December of last year as markets were seeing a difficult 

period. Some of this exposure was later reinstated between the end of Q4 and the start Q1 but greater holdings in cash assets as 

extreme volatility was being seen. Overall, in terms of performance in Q1, we are disappointed not to have seen the recovery that 

some benchmarks suggest we could have seen but as is our position that we are not prepared to seek higher risk opportunity gains 

when the market data and trading signs where not positive. 

 

The fund advances in Q2 to build on positive returns already seen in Q1, mainly led by gains seen across developed equity markets. 

The fund did not see the same return as some of the major stock market indices but being a multi asset fund using inversely correlated 

assets to attempt to hedge risk this is to be expected. 

 

Overall performance was slightly negative in the fund, with overall equity allocations largely mirroring benchmark index returns. 

Holdings in cash remain high in the Fund as key bell weathers such as the SP 500 index display characteristics of a bull market 

nearing its completion and -within Europe - clues that GDP growth is contracting and Brexit remains unresolved necessitates a more 

defensive and reactive management approach. 

 

In the final quarter of the year performance was positive in the fund as equity holdings continued to gain. UK government events 
such as Brexit meant the gains seen from equities was affected from fluctuations in GBP/USD and GBP/EUR markets. This was 

expected and precautious positions were in to minimise any real material effects but we did still see a slight downside from this 

aspect. 

 
Mercantile Diversified UCITS Fund 

 
Jan  Feb Mar  Apr May Jun  Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 
2.030%  -0. 419%  1.262%  0.612%  -0.792%  2.064%  0.203% -2.442% 0.104% -3.02% 0.21% 0.00% 

 

End of Year 

-0.188% 

 

Market Overview 
UK equities performed well over Q1 despite ongoing Brexit-related uncertainty and were in line with global equities. US equities 

rose, fuelled mainly by an increasingly dovish tilt in Federal Reserve (Fed) commentary, apparent progress in US-China trade talks, 

and as the government shutdown ended. A degree of USD weakness accompanied the more dovish interest rate outlook during the 

period while commodity prices, especially oil, posted gains but signally failed to re-ignite serious inflationary concerns for policy 

makers. US 10-year Treasury yields fell in Q1, reaching its lowest levels since late 2017. The three-month Treasury bill yield rose 

higher than that of 10-year bonds in March, inverting the yield curve, resonating as a sign of caution with investors. Eurozone equities 

also recovered well, supported by central banks stepping away from tighter monetary policy. However, worries over economic 

growth lingered throughout Q1. Emerging markets (EM) equities registered a strong return in Q1, led by China. Optimism over a  

trade agreement with the US and ongoing government support for the Chinese domestic economy were beneficial. 

 

Shares in developed markets gained in Q2, despite a steep fall in May due to concerns over the US China trade war. Stock markets 
were supported by increasingly accommodative central banks and hopes of progress in trade tensions by the end of June. The US 

S&P 500 index achieved a new record high. The Federal Reserve (Fed) did not cut interest rates at its June meeting, but indicated 

that there may be rate cuts ahead. More economically sensitive areas of the market generally performed strongly. Eurozone shares 

advanced, with a sharp drop in May sandwiched between gains in April and June. UK shares performed well over the quarter, despite 

ongoing Brexit-related uncertainty and the resignation of Prime Minister Theresa May. Emerging market shares lagged their 

developed market counterparts. Trade uncertainty weighed on Chinese stocks. Government bond yields fell noticeably as prices rose. 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Investment Manager’s Report (continued) 
 

Shares in Western geographical regions posted gains within the period only to evaporate and slip into moderate negative territory by 
the end of the third Quarter. Inevitably, the ongoing tit-for-tat tariff war initiated by the Trump administration against China 

significantly influenced movements in equities and the US Dollar as well as further dovish action from the Federal Reserve. The net 

effect was for pockets of acute volatility with the S&P 500 index of leading US companies posting gyrations of between 5% and 7% 

in both directions within just a few weeks. On balance the US Dollar Index (versus key major currencies) saw a 2.5% gain, although 

this started to look stretched into the end of September. UK gilts made minor gains over the Quarter while US treasuries also edged 

ahead slightly, after surrendering more material gains during early September. With so much volatility and geopolitical uncertainty, 

portfolios were held largely constant with some rotation into and out of stocks which presented oversold characteristics (Thomas 

Cook, Facebook, Saga) and relatively swift, low risk/reward trading windows which helped overall returns. 

 

The geopolitical risks that dominated markets for much of 2019 faded in Q4, helping global equity markets to post gains. In fixed 

income, corporate bonds performed well amid the improved investor sentiment. US equities made robust gains in Q4 as trade 

uncertainty faded with the US and China’s “phase one” trade deal announcement. The Federal Reserve cut interest rates once in the 

quarter before indicating that "the current stance of monetary policy is appropriate". Eurozone shares advanced, supported by signs 

of better economic data from Germany as well as optimism surrounding the US and China trade deal. Christine Lagarde took over 

as president of the European Central Bank. UK shares gained. Domestically focused areas of the market performed well amid reduced 

near-term political uncertainty, following the landslide general election victory for the Conservative Party. Japanese shares ended 

higher and the yen weakened slightly against the US dollar. Emerging market equities posted a strong gain. Bond markets reflected 
the better mood as government bond yields rose (i.e. prices fell) and corporate bonds performed well. Currency markets fluctuated 

throughout the period with GBP seeing swings from Brexit and government related events which saw the pound strengthen and then 

begin to slide subsequently. 

 

Performance Commentary 
We saw some recovery across the fund in Q1 but not in the same circumstances as the recoveries seen on the Dow Jones and S&P500 

as we reduced proportionate exposure during late November and early December of last year as markets were seeing a difficult 

period. Some of this exposure was later reinstated between the end of Q4 and the start Q1 but greater holdings in cash assets as 

extreme volatility was being seen. Overall, in terms of performance in Q1, we are disappointed not to have seen the recovery that 

some benchmarks suggest we could have seen but as is our position that we are not prepared to seek higher risk opportunity gains 

when the market data and trading signs where not positive. 

 

The fund advances in Q2 to build on positive returns already seen in Q1, mainly led by gains seen across developed equity markets. 

The fund did not see the same return as some of the major stock market indices but being a multi asset fund using inversely correlated 

assets to attempt to hedge risk this is to be expected. 

 

Overall performance was slightly negative in the fund, with overall equity allocations largely mirroring benchmark index returns and 
allocations into government bonds dragging the diversified portfolio holdings lower in tandem with sharp retracements in that asset 

class. Holdings in cash remained slightly high as key bell weathers such as the SP 500 index display characteristics of a bull market 

nearing its completion and -within Europe - clues that GDP growth is contracting and Brexit remains unresolved necessitates a more 

defensive and reactive management approach. 

 

Performance in the fund was negative in the last quarter as there was substantial price retracements in UK and US government bonds, 

which ultimately overshadowed any gains made in equity holdings. This was not helped by UK government events causing 

fluctuations in the price of GBP, even with precautions taken this did have an effect on the fund and GBP denominated holdings. 

 



The Multi Manager UCITS Platform Plc  

ANNUAL REPORT AND AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Depositary’s Report 

We have enquired into the conduct of the Company for the financial period 1st January 2019 to 3rd December 

2019 in our capacity as Depositary to the Company. 

This report including the opinion has been prepared for and solely for the shareholders in the Company as a 
body, in accordance with the Central Bank of Ireland (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 and the 
European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) (the ‘UCITS 
Regulations’), as amended and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown. 

Responsibilities of the Depositary 

Our duties and responsibilities are outlined in Part 5 (34), of SI. No. 352 of 2011 and Part 12 (114) SI. 420 of 
2015. One of those duties is to enquire into the conduct of the Company in each annual accounting period and 
report thereon to the Shareholders. 

Our report shall state whether, in our opinion, the Company has been managed in that period, in accordance 
with the provisions of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and the UCITS Regulations. It is 
the overall responsibility of the Company to comply with these provisions. If the Company has not so 
complied, we as Depositary must state why this is the case and outline the steps which we have taken to 
rectify the situation. 

Basis of Depositary Opinion 

The Company has been managed, in all material respects, during the period in accordance with the provisions 
of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and the UCITS Regulations, including specifically the provisions 
relating to the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the Company. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the Company has been managed during the period, in all material respects: 

(i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the Company by
Memorandum and Articles of Association and the UCITS Regulations; and

(ii) otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the Memorandum and Articles of Association.

We note the auditor’s reference to the valuation of financial instruments at fair value through the P&L. 

On behalf of the Depositary, 

______________________________ 

Société Générale S.A. Dublin Branch 

Date: 23rd April 2020 
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The Multi-Manager UCITS Platform Fund Plc 
Report of the Depositary to the Shareholders 

For the period 4th December 2019 to 31st December 2019 
 

 
Report of the Depositary to the Shareholders 

 
We have enquired into the conduct of the The Multi-Manager UCITS Platform Fund Plc (the “Fund”) for the period 
4th December 2019 to 31st December 2019 in our capacity as Depositary to the Fund.   
 
This report including the opinion has been prepared for and solely for the Shareholders in the Fund, in accordance 
with Part 5 of the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) 
Regulations 2011, as amended, (“The UCITS Regulations”), and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this 
opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown. 
 
Responsibilities of the Depositary 

 
Our duties and responsibilities are outlined in Part 5 of the UCITS Regulations. One of those duties is to enquire 
into the conduct of the Fund in each annual accounting period and report thereon to the Shareholders. Our report 
shall state whether, in our opinion, the Fund has been managed in that period in accordance with the provisions of 
the Fund’s Instrument of Incorporation of the Fund and the UCITS Regulations. It is the overall responsibility of the 
Fund to comply with these provisions. If the Fund has not so complied, we as Depositary must state why this is the 
case and outline the steps which we have taken to rectify the situation 
 
Basis of Depositary Opinion 
 

The Depositary conducts such reviews as it, in its reasonable opinion, considers necessary in order to comply with 
its duties as outlined in Part 5 of the UCITS Regulations and to ensure that, in all material respects, the Fund has 
been managed (i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on its investment and borrowing powers by the 
provisions of the Instrument of Incorporation of the Fund and the appropriate regulations and (ii) or otherwise in 
accordance with the Fund constitutional documentation and the appropriate regulations. 
 
Opinion 

 
In our opinion, the Fund has been managed during the period, in all material respects: 
 

(i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the Fund by 
the Instrument of Incorporation of the Fund, the UCITS Regulations and the Central Bank UCITS 
Regulations, and 

(ii) or otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the Instrument of Incorporation of the Fund, the 
UCITS Regulations and the Central Bank UCITS Regulations. 

  
For and on behalf of  
 
European Depositary Bank, Dublin Branch 

 
 
 
 
____________________________     ____________________________ 
       
     

Authorised Signatory                                                                           Authorised Signatory  
    

 



Deloitte Ireland LLP 

Chartered Accountants & 

Statutory Audit Firm  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 

THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion on the financial statements of the Multi-Manager UCITS Platform Fund Plc (“the company”) 

In our opinion the financial statements: 
 give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at 31

December 2019 and of the loss for the financial year then ended; and
 have been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, the

applicable Regulations and, in particular, with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

The financial statements we have audited comprise: 

 the Statement of Financial Position;
 the Statement of Comprehensive Income;
 the Statement of Changes in Net Assets attributable to holders of Redeemable Participating Shares;
 the Statement of Cash Flows; and
 the related notes 1 to 16, including a summary of significant accounting policies as set out in note 2.

The relevant financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the Companies Act 

2014 and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (“the relevant 

financial reporting framework”).  

The applicable regulations that have been applied in their preparation is the European Communities 

(Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2011 and Central Bank 

(Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in 

Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2019 (“the applicable Regulations”). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and 

applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are described below in the “Auditor's responsibilities 

for the audit of the financial statements” section of our report.  

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 

of the financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish Auditing and Accounting 

Supervisory Authority, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of matter – Financial statements prepared on a basis other than that of going concern 

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy 

of the disclosure made in note 2 to the financial statements, which explains that the financial statements have 

been prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern. 

Emphasis of matter – Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy 

of disclosures set out in Note 8 to the financial statements regarding the valuation of financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss. The company has financial assets at fair value through profit or loss valued at 

€1,419,653 as of 31 December 2019, the fair values of which have been estimated by management in the 

absence of readily determinable market prices. The information used in carrying out the valuation of the level 

3 instruments as at 31 December 2019 is based on:  

 Market price sources (Bloomberg), broker valuations and market liquidity premia. Such information

is checked against other data relating to the security, such as the status of coupon payments.

 In the absence of such information a credit risk of assessment has been carried out using the most

up to date information on the issuer and the underlying collateral. Where possible news on the issuer

has been collated and updated periodically

 The valuations also implicitly take account of estimates of default probability and recovery rate based

on market assumptions for similar assets.

 Sensitivity to assumptions have also where relevant been reported
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If other prices were available for the investments, they may be different to those presented and those 

differences could be material. Therefore, the realisable value of the company’s financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss may differ significantly from the fair values recorded. The ultimate outcome of these 

uncertainties cannot at present be determined. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which ISAs (Ireland) require us to 

report to you where: 

 
 the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of the financial statements 

is not appropriate; or 
 the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that 

may cast significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis 
of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. 

 

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements, other than the financial statements and our 

auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, 

except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 

in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 

our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such 

material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a 

material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, 

based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. 

 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of directors 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the 

preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and otherwise 

comply with the Companies Act 2014, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, 

or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 

arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland), we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
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 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the company’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the entity (or where relevant, the group) to cease to continue as a
going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 

the auditor identifies during the audit. 

This report is made solely to the company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the 

Companies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s 

shareholders those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 

company and the company’s shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 

have formed. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014 

Based solely on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, we report that: 

 We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of

our audit.
 In our opinion the accounting records of the company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to

be readily and properly audited.
 The financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records.
 In our opinion the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements and

the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Based on the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of 

the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the directors' report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the provisions in the Companies Act 2014 which require us to report 

to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions specified by law are not 

made. 

Christian MacManus 

For and on behalf of Deloitte Ireland LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm 

Deloitte & Touche House, Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2 

30 April 2020 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Statement of Financial Position  
 

As at 31 December 2019 
 

 
  

 

ORGANIC  

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

THE 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

 Notes  2019 2019 2019 

   GBP US$ GBP 

Assets       

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4  734,993 152,151 6,102,306 

Cash and cash equivalents  5  41,638 42,130 325,908 

Interest receivable   - - 8,725 

Dividend receivable   - - 9,611 

Prepayments and other receivables   - - 36 

Total Assets   776,631 194,281 6,446,586 

      

Liabilities      

Management fees payable 3  - - 2,805 

Depositary fees payable 3  285 81 8,168 

Directors fees payable 3  - - 3,003 

Audit fees payable 3  6,349 8,422 6,349 

Administration fees payable  3  705 936 3,596 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses   5,143 6,261 11,916 

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable 

to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares)   12,482 15,700 35,837 

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares   764,149 178,581 6,410,749 

 

 



 

The accompanying notes on pages 35 to 99 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Statement of Financial Position (continued) 
 

As at 31 December 2019 
 

 
  

 

THE  

MERANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total 

THE 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total* 

THE 

 GLOBAL 

BOND 

Fund Total* 

 Notes  2019 2019 2019 

   GBP GBP GBP 

Assets       

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4  5,121,486 - - 

Cash and cash equivalents  5  539,583 23,012 40,510 

Interest receivable   - - - 

Dividend receivable   796 - - 

Prepayments and other receivables   36 509 581 

Total Assets   5,661,901 23,521 41,091 

      

Liabilities      

Management fees payable 3  2,444 - 219 

Depositary fees payable 3  16,915 6,540 6,540 

Directors fees payable 3  3,003 1,904 2,575 

Audit fees payable 3  6,349 - - 

Administration fees payable  3  3,596 - - 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses   10,890 15,077 31,757 

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable 

to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares)   43,197 23,521 41,091 

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares   5,618,704 - - 

 

* The Long/Short Alpha Fund and The Global Bond Fund were launched on 1 July 2019 and terminated on 30 September 

2019. 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Statement of Financial Position (continued) 
 

As at 31 December 2018 
 

 

 
  

 

ORGANIC  

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

THE 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total* 

 Notes  2018 2018 2018 

   GBP US$ GBP 

Assets       

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4  22,987,043 6,081,642 5,853,038 

Cash and cash equivalents  5  1,841,535 1,365,429 1,158,118 

Interest receivable   860,975 36,793 19,660 

Dividend receivable   5,298 7,272 6,893 

Prepayments and other receivables   - 101 - 

Total Assets   25,694,851 7,491,237 7,037,709 

      

Liabilities      

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 4  - 2,800 - 

Management fees payable 3  67,201 17,761 2,581 

Depositary fees payable 3  4,419 9,212 6,228 

Directors fees payable 3  2,061 2,579 1,874 

Audit fees payable 3  6,739 8,590 1,797 

Administration fees payable  3  7,257 9,571 8,271 

Redemption payable   - - - 

Due to broker   - - 11,326 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses   41,339 26,502 7,997 

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable 
to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares)   129,016 77,015 40,074 

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares   25,565,835 7,414,222 6,997,635 

 
* The Mercantile Diversified Fund was launched on 08/06/2018. 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Statement of Comprehensive Income  
 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019  
 

 

 

  

ORGANIC  

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

THE 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

 Notes 

For the year 

 ended 31 

December 2019 

For the year  

ended 31  

December 2019 

For the year  

ended 31  

December 2019 

  GBP US$ GBP 

Income     

Interest income  26,891 27,436 58,176 

Dividend income  24,855 76,204 142,707 

Net loss on financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss 4 (10,833,824) (897,485) (805,786) 

Net foreign currency exchange   2,713,715 234,560 832,505 

Other income  2,939 19,015 27 

Investment (Loss)/Profit  (8,065,424) (540,270) 227,629 

     
Operating Expenses     

Management fees 3 (166,919) (53,157) (35,557) 

Depositary fees  3 (24,384) (19,948) (40,671) 

Directors’ fees 3 (5,500) (6,254) (8,790) 

Audit fees  3 (6,349) (8,422) (6,349) 

Administration fees 3 (19,112) (33,258) (38,847) 

Other fees and expenses 3 (21,949) (38,253) (57,121) 

Transaction costs  (13,784) (7,942) (30,577) 

Operating Expenses  (257,997) (167,234) (217,912) 
     

Operating (Loss)/Profit  (8,323,421) (707,504) 9,717 
     

Finance Costs     

Interest expense  (414,136) (19,822) - 

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (8,737,557) (727,326) 9,717 
     

Withholding tax  (3,515) (11,329) (12,712) 

     

Loss after taxation  (8,741,072) (738,655) (2,995) 

     

Decrease in net assets attributable to Holders of 

Redeemable Participating shares from operations  (8,741,072) (738,655) (2,995) 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued) 
 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019  
 

 

 

  

THE  

MERANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total 

THE 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total* 

THE 

 GLOBAL 

BOND  

Fund Total* 

 Notes 

For the year  
ended 31 December 

2019 

For the period   
to 31 December  

2019 

For the period  
to 31 December 

2019 

  GBP GBP GBP 

Income     

Interest income  1,937 773 2,409 

Dividend income  132,915 123 - 

Net gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 4 498,872 (14,601) 1,122 

Net foreign currency exchange   (81,776) 10,681 786 

Other income  486 503 706 

Investment Profit/(Loss)  552,434 (2,521) 5,023 

     
Operating Expenses     

Management fees 3 (30,106) (3,213) (8,319) 

Depositary fees  3 (37,645) (7,014) (7,014) 

Directors’ fees 3 (8,790) (3,101) (3,194) 

Audit fees  3 (6,349) - - 

Administration fees 3 (38,845) (11,690) (11,690) 

Other fees and expenses 3 (55,792) (20,080) (17,483) 

Transaction costs  (24,152) (2,604) (71) 

Operating Expenses  (201,679) (47,702) (47,771) 
     

Operating Profit/(Loss)  350,755 (50,223) (42,748) 
     

Finance Costs     

Interest expense  - (16) - 

Profit/(loss) before taxation  350,755 (50,239) (42,748) 
     

Withholding tax  (5,370) (124) - 

     

Profit/(loss) after taxation  345,385 (50,363) (42,748) 

     

Increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to 

Holders of Redeemable Participating shares from 

operations  345,385 (50,363) (42,748) 

      

* The Long/Short Alpha Fund and The Global Bond Fund - for the period from 1 July 2019 (Date of launch) to 30 September 
2019 (Date of termination).  
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued) 
 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 
 

 

   Company Total Company Total 

 Notes  

For the year  

ended 31  

December 2019 

For the year  

ended 31  

December 2018 

   US$ US$ 

Income     

Interest income   142,784 1,880,979 

Dividend income   460,840 398,173 

Net loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4  (15,169,831) (19,552,931) 

Net foreign currency exchange    5,470,542 (1,499,685) 

Other income   24,960 319,563 

Investment Loss   (9,070,705) (18,453,901) 

     

Operating Expenses     

Management fees 3  (365,331) (863,831) 

Depositary fees  3  (169,081) (125,862) 

Directors’ fees 3  (43,739) (31,139) 

Audit fees  3  (33,688) (21,809) 

Administration fees 3  (186,663) (172,482) 

Other fees and expenses 3  (257,379) (256,790) 

Transaction costs   (98,989) (263,204) 

Operating Expenses   (1,154,870) (1,735,117) 
     

Operating Loss   (10,225,575) (20,189,018) 
     

Finance Costs     

Interest expense   (549,757) (1,513) 

Dividend expense   - (2,509) 

Loss before taxation   (10,775,332) (20,193,040) 
     

Withholding tax   (39,121) (40,002) 

     

Loss after taxation   (10,814,453) (20,233,042) 

     

Decrease in net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 
Participating shares from operations   (10,814,453) (20,233,042) 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued) 
 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018  
 

 

 

  
ORGANIC BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

THE 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total* 

 Notes 

For the year  

ended 31 

December 2018 

For the year  

ended 31  

December 2018 

For the period 

to 31 December 

2018 

  GBP US$ GBP 

Income     

Interest income  1,314,256 80,032 39,179 

Dividend income  112,533 178,559 34,783 
Net loss on financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss 4 (11,351,110) (2,947,083) (381,925) 

Net foreign currency exchange   962,514 (314,878) 35,698 

Other income  163,982 101,416 - 

Investment Loss  (8,797,825) (2,901,954) (272,265) 

     
Operating Expenses     

Management fees 3 (512,528) (151,381) (16,182) 

Depositary fees  3 (35,115) (43,232) (19,246) 

Directors’ fees 3 (7,761) (10,076) (4,708) 

Audit fees  3 (6,739) (8,590) (1,797) 

Administration fees 3 (45,313) (59,503) (25,855) 

Other fees and expenses 3 (68,953) (72,550) (36,665) 

Transaction costs  (130,330) (51,991) (13,962) 

Operating Expenses  (806,739) (397,323) (118,415) 
     

Operating Loss  (9,604,564) (3,299,277) (390,680) 
     

Finance Costs     

Interest expense  (1,137) - - 

Dividend expense  (1,886) - - 

Loss before taxation  (9,607,587) (3,299,277) (390,680) 
     

Withholding tax  (7,680) (25,372) (3,218) 

     

Loss after taxation  (9,615,267) (3,324,649) (393,898) 
     

Decrease in net assets attributable to Holders  
of Redeemable Participating shares from operations  (9,615,267) (3,324,649) (393,898) 

     
* The Mercantile Diversified Fund - for the period from 8 June 2018 (Date of launch) to 31 December 2018. 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued) 
 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018  
 

 

   

THE  

MERANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total** 

 Notes  

For the period  

to 31 December 
2018 

   GBP 

Income    

Interest income   1,471 

Dividend income   19,419 

Net loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4  (788,508) 

Net foreign currency exchange    19,373 

Other income   - 

Investment Loss   (748,245) 

    

Operating Expenses    

Management fees 3  (7,557) 

Depositary fees  3  (8,640) 

Directors’ fees 3  (3,623) 

Audit fees  3  (1,797) 

Administration fees 3  (15,006) 

Other fees and expenses 3  (34,852) 

Transaction costs   (15,415) 

Operating Expenses   (86,890) 
    

Operating Loss   (835,135) 
    

Finance Costs    

Interest expense   - 

Dividend expense   - 

Loss before taxation   (835,135) 
    

Withholding tax   (194) 

    

Loss after taxation   (835,329) 

    

Decrease in net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 
Participating shares from operations   (835,329) 

 

** The Mercantile Opportunities Fund - for the period from 6 September 2018 (Date of launch) to 31 December 2018. 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares  

 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 
ALPHA 

Fund Total 

THE 

MERCANTILE 
DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

 

For the year  

ended 31  

December 2019 

For the year 

ended 31 

December 2019 

For the year 

ended 31 

December 2019 

 GBP US$ GBP 

    

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares at the start of the year 25,565,835 7,414,222 6,997,635 

    

Issue of Redeemable Participating Shares - - 838,249 

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares (16,060,614) (6,496,986) (1,422,140) 

Net decrease from share transactions (16,060,614) (6,496,986) (583,891) 

    

Decrease in net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares from operations (8,741,072) (738,655) (2,995) 

    

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares at the end of the year 764,149 178,581 6,410,749 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares 

(continued) 

 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 

 

 

 

THE  

MERANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total 

THE 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total* 

THE 

 GLOBAL 

BOND  

Fund Total* 

 

For the year  

ended 31  

December 2019 

For the period 

to 31 December  

2019 

For the period  

to 31 December 

2019 

 GBP GBP GBP 

    

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares at the start of the year/period 5,817,105 - - 

    

Issue of Redeemable Participating Shares 687,223 5,326,023 16,114,780 

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares (1,231,009) (5,275,660) (16,072,032) 

Net (decrease)/increase from share transactions (543,786) 50,363 42,748 

    

Increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to Holders of 

Redeemable Participating Shares from operations 345,385 (50,363) (42,748) 

    

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares at the end of the year/period 5,618,704 - - 

    
 

* The Long/Short Alpha Fund and the Global Bond Fund - for the period from 1 July 2019 (Date of launch) to 30 September 2019 
(Date of termination). 
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THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares 

(continued) 
 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 
 

 

  Company Total Company Total 

  

For the year 
 ended 31  

December 2019 

For the year 
 ended 31  

December 2018 

  US$ US$ 

    

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating  

Shares at the start of the year  56,334,104 71,048,765 

    

Issue of Redeemable Participating Shares  29,039,539 27,298,288 

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares  (57,412,455) (21,779,907) 

Net (decrease)/increase from share transactions  (28,372,916) 5,518,381 

    

Decrease in net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating  

Shares from operations  (10,814,453) (20,233,042) 

    

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating  

Shares at the end of the year  17,146,735 56,334,104 
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares 

(continued) 
 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 
 

 

 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 
LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

THE 
MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total* 

 

For the year  

ended 31  

December 2018 

For the year 

ended 31 

December 2018 

For the period 

to 31 December 

2018 

 GBP US$ GBP 

    

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares at the start of the year/period 42,154,313 14,039,272 - 

    

Issue of Redeemable Participating Shares 4,838,425 483,139 8,930,393 

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares (11,811,636) (3,783,540) (1,538,860) 

Net (decrease)/increase from share transactions (6,973,211) (3,300,401) 7,391,533 

    

Decrease in net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares from operations (9,615,267) (3,324,649) (393,898) 

    

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares at the end of the year/period 25,565,835 7,414,222 6,997,635 

    

 
* The Mercantile Diversified Fund - for the period from 8 June 2018 (Date of launch) to 31 December 2018. 

 



The accompanying notes on pages 35 to 99 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares 

(continued) 

 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 

 

 

  

THE  

MERANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total** 

  

For the period 

to 31 December 
2018 

  GBP 

   

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares at the start of 

the year/period  - 

   

Issue of Redeemable Participating Shares  6,880,173 

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares  (227,739) 

Net increase from share transactions  6,652,434 

   

Decrease in net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares from 

operations  (835,329) 

   

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares at the end of 

the year/period  5,817,105 

   

 
** The Mercantile Opportunities Fund - for the period from 6 September 2018 (Date of launch) to 31 December 2018. 
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Statement of Cash Flows  
 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 
 

 

   

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

THE 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

   

For the year  

ended 31 

December 2019 

For the year 

 ended 31 

December 2019 

For the year  

ended 31 

December 2019 

 Notes  GBP US$ GBP 

Reconciliation of decrease in net assets 

attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares from operations to net 

cash from/(used in) operating activities      

Decrease in net assets attributable to Holders of 

Redeemable Participating Shares from operations    (8,741,072) (738,655) (2,995) 
      
Net (gain)/loss on financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss   (28,811,168) 622,907 962,450 

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments   - 101 (36) 

Decrease in interest receivable   860,975 36,793 10,935 

Decrease/(increase) in dividend receivable   5,298 7,272 (2,718) 

(Decrease)/increase in management fees payable   (67,201) (17,761) 224 

(Decrease)/increase in depositary fees payable   (4,134) (9,131) 1,940 

(Decrease)/increase in directors’ fees payable   (2,061) (2,579) 1,129 

(Decrease)/increase in audit fees payable   (390) (168) 4,552 

Decrease in administration fees payable   (6,552) (8,635) (4,675) 

Decrease in due to broker   - - (11,326) 

(Decrease)/increase in other accounts payable and 

accrued expenses   (36,196) (20,241) 3,919 

Payment for purchases of investments   (7,250,843) (1,250,336) (11,455,423) 

Proceeds from disposals of investments   58,314,061 6,554,120 10,243,705 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  14,260,717 5,173,687 (248,319) 

Cash flows from financing activities      

Proceeds from issuance of Redeemable 

Participating Shares   - - 838,249 

Payments on redemption of Redeemable 

Participating Shares   (16,060,614) (6,496,986) (1,422,140) 

Redemption payable   - - - 

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (16,060,614) (6,496,986) (583,891)  
      Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (1,799,897) (1,323,299) (832,210) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  1,841,535 1,365,429 1,158,118  
Effect of exchange rate changes  - - -  
      
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5  41,638 42,130 325,908 

 

Supplemental Information to the Statement of Cash Flows    

Interest paid during the year   (414,136) (19,822) - 

Interest received during the year   887,866 64,229 69,111 

Dividend received during the year   30,153 83,476 139,989 
 



The accompanying notes on pages 35 to 99 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows (continued) 
 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 
 

 

   

THE  

MERANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total 

THE 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total* 

THE 

 GLOBAL 

BOND  

Fund Total* 

   

For the year  

ended 31 

December 2019 

For the period 

to 31 December 

2019 

For the period 

to 31 December 

2019 

 Notes  GBP GBP GBP 
Reconciliation of increase/(decrease) in net 

assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares from operations to net 

cash used in operating activities      

Increase/(decrease) in net assets attributable to 

Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares from 

operations    345,385 (50,363) (42,748) 
      Net (gain)/loss on financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss   (414,902) 19,250 (1,122) 

Increase in prepayments   (36) (509) (581)  
Decrease in interest receivable   - - - 

Increase in dividend receivable   (796) - - 

Increase in management fees payable   354 - 219 

Increase in depositary fees payable   8,275 6,540 6,540 

Increase in directors’ fees payable   1,129 1,904 2,575 

Increase in audit fees payable   4,552 - - 

Decrease in administration fees payable   (4,675) - - 

Decrease in due to broker   (55,282) - - 

Increase in other accounts payable and accrued 

expenses   3,404 15,077 31,757 

Payment for purchases of investments   (7,102,563) (1,008,095) (70,335) 

Proceeds from disposals of investments   6,664,452 988,845 71,457 

Net cash used in operating activities  (550,703) (27,351) (2,238) 

Cash flows from financing activities      

Proceeds from issuance of Redeemable 

Participating Shares   687,223 5,326,023 16,114,780 

Payments on redemption of Redeemable 

Participating Shares   (1,231,009) (5,275,660) (16,072,032) 

Redemption payable   (1,896) - - 

Net cash flows (used in)/provided by financing activities  (545,682) 50,363 42,748  
      Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 

equivalents 
  (1,096,385) 23,012 40,510 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year/period  1,635,968 - -  
Effect of exchange rate changes  - - -  
      
Cash and cash equivalents at end of 

year/period 5  539,583 23,012 40,510 
 

Supplemental Information to the Statement of Cash Flows    

Interest paid during the year/period   - (16) - 

Interest received during the year/period   1,937 773 2,409 

Dividend received during the year/period   132,119 123 - 

 

* The Long/Short Alpha Fund and the Global Bond Fund - for the period from 1 July 2019 (Date of launch) to 30 September 2019 

(Date of termination). 
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Statement of Cash Flows (continued) 

 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019  

 

 
 

  Company Total Company Total 

  

For the year 

ended 31 

December 2019 

For the year 

ended 31 

December 2018 

 Notes US$ US$ 

Reconciliation of decrease in net assets attributable to  

Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares from operations  

to net cash from/(used in) operating activities   

 

Decrease in net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable  

Participating Shares from operations   (10,814,453) (20,233,042) 
    

Net (gain)/loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  (35,519,376) 17,700,374 

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments   (1,441) 121 

Decrease/(increase) in interest receivable  1,147,679 (332,303) 

Decrease in dividend receivable  9,008 1,930 

Decrease in share capital receivable  - 3,343 

(Decrease)/increase in management fees payable  (102,118) 29,234 
Increase in performance fees payable  - 429 

Increase in depositary fees payable  17,279 21,997 

Increase in directors’ fees payable  3,922 8,790 

Increase in audit fees payable  11,928 7,490 

(Decrease)/increase in administration fees payable  (28,496) 30,192 

Decrease in due to broker  (84,898) 84,898 

Increase/(decrease) in other accounts payable and accrued expenses  6,517 (55,396) 

Payment for purchases of investments  (35,636,906) (59,854,904) 

Proceeds from disposals of investments  104,145,513 57,471,388 

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 23,154,158 (5,115,459) 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from issuance of Redeemable Participating Shares  29,039,539 27,298,288 

Payments on redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares  (57,412,455) (21,779,907) 

Redemption payable  (2,417) (348,849) 

Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities (28,375,333) 5,169,532 

    Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (5,221,175) 54,073 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7,273,992 4,904,269 
Effect of exchange rate changes (723,313) 2,315,650 

    
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5 1,329,504 7,273,992 

 

Supplemental Information to the Statement of Cash Flows   

Interest paid during the year (549,757) (1,513) 

Interest received during the year   1,290,463 1,548,676 

Dividend received during the year   469,848 400,103 

Dividend paid   - (2,509) 

 



The accompanying notes on pages 35 to 99 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows (continued) 

 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018 

 

 

   

QUANTUM 

 PYX  

MANAGED FX 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

   

For the year 

ended 31 

December 2018 

For the year 

ended 31 

December 2018 

For the year 

ended 31 

December 2018 

 Notes  US$ GBP US$ 

Reconciliation of (decrease)/ increase in net 

assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares from operations to net cash 

(used in)/from operating activities      

Decrease in net assets attributable to Holders of 

Redeemable Participating Shares from operations    - (9,615,267) (3,324,649) 
      
Net loss on financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss   - 10,228,118 2,663,292 

Decrease in prepayments   - - 121 

(Increase)/decrease in interest receivable   - (302,599) 35,007 

(Increase)/decrease in dividend receivable   - (3,667) 15,263 

Decrease/(increase) in share capital receivable   - 2,472 - 

Increase/(decrease) in management fees payable   - 22,321 (1,678) 

Increase in performance fees payable   - - 429 

Increase in depositary fees payable   - 193 3,129 

Increase in directors’ fees payable   - 1,619 1,983 
Increase/(decrease) in audit fees payable   - 1,362 1,592 

Increase in administration fees payable   - 3,607 4,794 

(Decrease)/increase in other accounts payable and 

accrued expenses   (64,252) 5,938 (15,694) 

Payment for purchases of investments   - (15,818,218) (15,068,497) 

Proceeds from disposals of investments   - 22,825,115 17,841,565 

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities  (64,252) 7,350,994 2,156,657 

Cash flows from financing activities      

Proceeds from issuance of Redeemable 

Participating Shares   - 4,838,425 483,139 

Payments on redemption of Redeemable 

Participating Shares   - (11,811,636) (3,783,540) 

Redemption payable   - (235,205) (33,175) 

Net cash flows used in financing activities  - (7,208,416) (3,333,576) 

      Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (64,252) 142,578 (1,176,919) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year/period  64,252 1,698,957 2,542,348 

Effect of exchange rate changes  - - - 

      
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year/period 5  - 1,841,535 1,365,429 

 

Supplemental Information to the Statement of Cash Flows    

Interest paid during the year/period   - (1,137) - 

Interest received during the year/period   - 1,011,657 115,039 

Dividend received during the year/period   - 108,866 193,822 

Dividend paid   - (1,886) - 



The accompanying notes on pages 35 to 99 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

34 
 

THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Statement of Cash Flows (continued) 

 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2018  

 

 
 

   

THE  

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total* 

THE  

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total** 

   

For the period  

to 31 December 

2018 

For the period  

to 31 December 

2018 

 Notes  GBP GBP 

Reconciliation of decrease in net assets attributable to Holders of 

Redeemable Participating Shares from operations to net cash (used 

in)/from operating activities     

Decrease in net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares from operations    (393,898) (835,329) 
     

Net loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   343,137 769,285 

Decrease in prepayments    - - 

Increase in interest receivable   (19,660) - 
(Increase)/decrease in dividend receivable   (6,893) - 

Decrease in share capital receivable   - - 

Increase in management fees payable   2,581 2,090 

Increase in performance fees payable   - - 

Increase in depositary fees payable   6,228 8,640 

Increase in directors’ fees payable   1,874 1,874 

Increase in audit fees payable   1,797 1,797 

Increase in administration fees payable   8,271 8,271 

Increase in due to broker   11,326 55,282 

Increase/(decrease) in other accounts payable and accrued expenses   7,997 7,486 

Payment for purchases of investments   (8,737,680) (9,698,410) 

Proceeds from disposals of investments   2,541,505 4,660,652 

Net cash used in operating activities  (6,233,415) (5,018,362) 

Cash flows from financing activities     

Proceeds from issuance of Redeemable Participating Shares   8,930,393 6,880,173 

Payments on redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares   (1,538,860) (227,739) 

Redemption payable   - 1,896 

Net cash flows from financing activities  7,391,533 6,654,330 

     
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   1,158,118 1,635,968 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year/period  - - 

Effect of exchange rate changes  - - 

     
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year/period 5  1,158,118 1,635,968 

 

Supplemental Information to the Statement of Cash Flows   

Interest paid during the year/period - - 

Interest received during the year/period   19,519 1,471 

Dividend received during the year/period   27,890 19,419 

Dividend paid   - - 
 

* The Mercantile Diversified Fund - for the period from 8 June 2018 (Date of launch) to 31 December 2018. 

** The Mercantile Opportunities Fund - for the period from 6 September 2018 (Date of launch) to 31 December 2018. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 
 

1. Company information 

 
The Multi-Manager UCITS Platform Fund plc (the “Company”) is an open-ended umbrella investment Company with variable 

capital incorporated in Ireland on 25 October 2012 and authorised on 26 July 2013 by the Central Bank of Ireland under the 

European Communities (Undertaking for Collective Investments in Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2019 as amended. The 

Company is constituted as an umbrella fund insofar as the share capital of the Company will be divided into different classes of 

Shares with one or more classes of Shares representing a separate portfolio of assets which will comprise a separate sub-fund of 

the Company. Shares of any particular sub-fund may be divided into one or more classes of Shares (“Classes”) to accommodate 

differing characteristics attributable to each such different class of Shares. The Prospectus for the Company was issued on 17 

July 2014 with an updated version issued on 10 October 2017. 

 

As at 31 December 2019, there were four sub-funds in existence, the Organic Bond Fund, the Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund, 

the Mercantile Diversified Fund and the Mercantile Opportunities Fund (the “Sub Funds”). The Organic Bond Fund was 
authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland on the 26th August 2016, the Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund was authorised by the 

Central Bank of Ireland on the 5th December 2014, the Mercantile Diversified Fund was authorised by the Central Bank of 

Ireland on the 23rd September 2015, the Mercantile Opportunities Fund was authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland on the 

25th April 2018. 

 

Due to the illiquid nature of large portion of the assets held in the Organic Bond and Organic Long/Short Fund in 2018, it was 

decided to suspend the subscriptions and redemptions of these Sub-Funds. The net asset calculation of the Organic Bond Fund 

and the Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund were suspended on 14 November 2018. From this date the Manager has taken numerous 

steps to attempt to value and dispose of the assets in the best interests of the shareholders. It is believed that a quick sale would 

result in realising an amount below what would be received from disposing the assets in an orderly market transaction. As a 

result of inability to sell the assets of these Sub-Funds, two new Sub-Funds were created, the Long/Short Alpha Fund was 

authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland on the 15th April 2019 and the Global Bond Fund was authorised by the Central Bank 

of Ireland on the 15th April 2019, the liquid assets of the old Funds were transferred accordingly with the conversion of 

shareholders holding in the old Fund for corresponding shares in the new Sub-Funds.  
 

Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund 
The First Supplement (“The Supplement”) was issued for Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund on 22 April 2016 and further updated 

on 25 April 2018. The Supplement contains information relating specifically to the Sub Fund. The Sub Fund commenced 
operations on 20 September 2016. The Sub Fund has six share classes, Institutional Shares USD, Institutional shares GBP 

(Hedged), Retail shares USD, Retail shares GBP (Hedged), Class U shares and Class Z shares. As at 31 December 2019, two 

classes were active: Institutional shares GBP and Retail shares GBP. This Sub Fund was suspended for subscriptions and 

redemptions on 14th November 2018.  

 

Organic Bond Fund 
The Second Supplement (“The Supplement”) was issued for the Organic Bond Fund on 21 October 2016 and further updated 

on 25 April 2018. The Supplement contains information relating specifically to the Sub Fund. The Sub Fund commenced 

operations on 2 November 2016. The Sub Fund has seven share classes; Institutional Shares GBP, Institutional shares USD, 

Retail shares GBP, Class U shares, Class Z shares, Class USD shares and Class EUR shares. As at 31 December 2019, two 

classes were active; Class A Institutional shares GBP and Class A Retail shares GBP. This Sub Fund was suspended for 

subscriptions and redemptions on 14th November 2018. 

 

Mercantile Diversified Fund 
The Third Supplement (“The Supplement”) was issued for the Mercantile Diversified Fund on 25 April 2018. The Supplement 

contains information relating specifically to the Sub Fund. The Sub Fund commenced operations on 11 June 2018. The Sub 

Fund has three share classes denominated in GBP, Class A Share, Class B Share and Class C Share. As at 31 December 2019, 
one class is active: Class B Share. 

 

The Mercantile Diversified Fund’s investment objective is to achieve capital growth by investing in a geographically diversified 

portfolio of equities, debt securities and Underlying Funds of varying market capitalisation. These investments will in the opinion 

of the Investment Manager, exhibit potential for accelerated growth, high dividend yield or high coupon yield. 
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 
 

1. Company information (continued) 
 

Mercantile Opportunities Fund 
The Fourth Supplement (“The Supplement”) was issued for the Mercantile Opportunities Fund on 25 April 2018. The 

Supplement contains information relating specifically to the Sub Fund. The Sub Fund commenced operations on 6 September 

2018. The Sub Fund has three share classes denominated in GBP, Class A Share, Class B Share and Class C Share. As at 31 
December 2019, one class is active: Class B Share. 

 

The Mercantile Opportunities Fund’s investment objective is to achieve above average return on capital. The Sub Fund will seek 

to achieve its investment objective by investing in equity and equity- related securities, debt and debt- related securities and 

underlying funds. The Fund may invest in a blend of equity, debt securities and underlying funds or may, at any time, hold up 

to 100% in a particular asset class. 

 

Long/Short Alpha Fund 
The Fifth Supplement (“The Supplement”) was issued for the Long/Short Alpha Fund on 15 April 2019. The Supplement 

contains information relating specifically to the Sub Fund. The Sub Fund commenced operations on 1 July 2019. The Sub Fund 

has four share classes denominated in GBP, Institutional Shares GBP, Institutional “O” Shares GBP, Retail Shares GBP and 

Retail “O” Shares GBP. During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, two classes were issued and fully redeemed: 

Institutional “O” Shares GBP and Retail “O” Shares GBP. 

 

The Long/Short Alpha Fund’s investment objective is to achieve capital growth. The Sub Fund will seek to generate capital 

growth by gaining exposure to a diversified portfolio of long and short positions of listed global equities. The Sub Fund may 

also invest in exchange traded instruments, such as units in open-ended exchange traded funds ("ETFs"). At the same time the 
Sub Fund will buy or sell listed call or put options and other financial derivative instruments ("FDI"). 

 

The Sub Fund was terminated during the year and this is detailed in note 14. 

 

Global Bond Fund 
The Sixth Supplement (“The Supplement”) was issued for the Global Bond Fund on 15 April 2019. The Supplement contains 

information relating specifically to the Sub Fund. The Sub Fund commenced operations on 1 July 2019. The Sub Fund has five 

share classes; Retail Shares EUR, Institutional Shares GBP, Retail Shares GBP, Institutional “O” Shares GBP and Retail “O” 

Shares GBP. During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, two classes were issued and fully redeemed: Institutional “O” 

Shares GBP and Retail “O” Shares GBP. 

 
The Global Bond Fund’s investment objective is to achieve a value return on the assets of the Sub Fund at a moderate risk. The 

Sub Fund will seek to achieve its investment objective by investing mainly in bonds issued by commercial, governmental or 

supranational entities domiciled in Europe, the US and Emerging Markets Countries and in equities. In addition, the Sub Fund 

may invest indirectly in these bonds and equities through the use of Underlying Funds and may also invest in cash and cash 

equivalents as detailed below. All of the instruments will be listed and/or traded on Recognised Markets. The Sub Fund may 

invest up to 40% of its NAV in Emerging Market Countries. 

 
The Sub Fund was terminated during the year and this is detailed in note 14. 

 

2. Accounting policies 
 

2.1 Basis of presentation 

 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued 

by International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”) and adopted by the European Union and Irish Statute comprising of the 

Companies Act 2014, the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in transferable Securities) 

Regulations 2011, as amended by the European Communities (Amendment) UCITS Regulations, 2016 (the “UCITS 

Regulations”), and the Central bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)),(Undertakings for Collective 

investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2019 (the “Central bank UCITS regulations 2019”). These financial 

statements have been prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern. As at 31 December 2019, assets are stated at their 

realisable values while liabilities are stated at the amount they are expected to be discharged as at the date of Statement of 

Financial Position. 
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 
 

2. Accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.1 Basis of presentation (continued) 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 

statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based 

on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. 

 

2.2 Critical accounting estimates and judgements  

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 

requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 

statements are as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 

 

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies 

 

a. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  
 

(i) Classification 
 

Under IFRS 9, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; Fair value through other comprehensive income 

(“FVOCI”) or fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).  
 

The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and on 

its contractual cash flow characteristics.  
 

In evaluating the classification of financial assets the Fund has determined the following: 

• Based on how performance is evaluated, how risks are managed and how compensation is paid, the business model for 

financial assets is to manage on a fair value basis. 

• The contractual cash flows of the financial assets are not solely payments of principal and interest. 
 

Based on the above evaluation, the Fund’s financial assets are classified at FVTPL. 
 

The Fund’s financial liabilities are classified at FVTPL.  

 

(ii) Recognition/derecognition 

 

All purchases and sales of investments and trading securities that require delivery within the time frame established by regulation 

or market convention ("regular way" purchases and sales) are recognised at trade date, which is the date on which the Company 

commits to purchase or sell the asset. Any change in fair value of the asset to be received is recognised between the trade date 
and settlement date. Securities are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the securities have expired or the 

Sub Fund has substantially transferred all risks and rewards of ownership.  
 

(iii) Fair value estimation 
 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on listed market prices at the Statement of Financial 

Position date. The listed market price used for financial assets and the appropriate market price for financial liabilities held by 

the Sub Fund is the current last traded price. If a quoted market price is not available on a recognised stock exchange or from a 

broker/dealer for non-exchange-traded financial instruments, the fair value of the instrument is estimated using valuation 

techniques, including use of recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current fair value of another instrument 

that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow techniques, option pricing models or any other valuation technique that 

provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained in actual market transactions. These techniques incorporate inputs based on 

unobservable market data. Transaction costs on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 

expensed immediately. Transaction costs are defined in the UCITS Regulations as costs incurred by a Sub fund in connection 

with the transactions on its portfolio. Transaction costs are incremental costs, which are separately identifiable and directly 

attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or financial liability. Details of valuation of illiquid assets 

are shown in note 8 (c) of these financials statements. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

a. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 
 
(iv) Specific Instruments 

 

Options 

 

Options are contractual agreements that convey the right, but not the obligation, for the purchaser either to buy or sell a 

specific amount of a financial instrument at a fixed price, either at a fixed future date or at any time within a specified period. 

 

The Company purchases and sells put and call options through regulated exchanges. Options purchased by the Company provide 

the Company with the opportunity to purchase (call options) or sell (put options) the underlying asset at an agreed-upon value 

either on or before the expiration of the option. 

 

Futures Contracts 

 

A futures contract is a legal agreement, generally made on the trading floor of a futures exchange, to buy or sell a particular 

commodity or financial instrument at a predetermined price at a specific time in the future. Futures contracts are standardised to 

facilitate trading on a futures exchange and depending on the underlying asset being traded, detail the quality and quantity of 

the commodity. Some futures contracts may call for physical delivery of the asset, while others are settled in cash. 

 

b. Offsetting of financial instruments 
 

IFRS 7, “Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’’- Amendments to IFRS 7: These amendments require an entity 

to disclose information about rights to set-off and related arrangements (e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures provide 

users with information that is useful in evaluating the effect of netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The  

disclosures are required for all recognised financial instruments that are set off in accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: 

Presentation. 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position if, and only if, there 

is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset 

and settle the liability simultaneously. The Sub Fund does not have any master netting agreements in place. 

 

c. Foreign currency translations 
 

The presentation and functional currency of both the Company and for the Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund is US Dollar (“US$”) 

while the Organic Bond Fund, the Mercantile Diversified Fund ,the Mercantile Opportunities Fund, the Long/Short Alpha Fund 
and the Global Bond Fund have their presentation and functional currency to be GBP. The directors have determined that this 

reflects the Company’s primary economic environment. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign currency 

exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 

to US$ for the Company, and the Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund, and GBP for the Organic Bond Fund, the Mercantile 

Diversified Fund, the Mercantile Opportunities Fund, the Long/Short Alpha Fund and the Global Bond Fund at the foreign 

currency closing exchange rate ruling at the Statement of Financial Position date.  

 

Foreign currency exchange differences arising on translation and realised gains and losses on disposals or settlements of 

monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated to US$ for the Company, the Organic Bond 

Fund, the Mercantile Diversified Fund, the Mercantile Opportunities Fund, the Long/Short Alpha Fund and the Global Bond 

Fund and GBP for the Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund at the foreign currency exchange rates ruling at the dates that the values 

were determined. Foreign currency exchange differences relating to investments at fair value through profit or loss and derivative 

financial instruments are included in gains and losses on investments. All other foreign currency exchange differences relating 

to monetary items, including cash, are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.3  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

d. Net loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 

This item includes changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities and excludes interest and dividend income and 

expenses. 

 
Realised gains and losses on disposals of financial instruments classified as at fair value through profit or loss are calculated 

on a first in first out basis. Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of financial instruments for the 

year.  

 

e. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash comprises cash at bank. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant changes in value. The Company’s cash is held with Citibank NA 

London and Societe Generale Securities Services. 

 

f. Income and expenses 
 

All income and expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis and recognised in the Statement Comprehensive Income.  
 

g. Interest income 
 

Interest income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as it accrues, using the original effective interest 

rate of the instrument calculated at the acquisition or origination date. Interest income includes the amortisation of any 

discount or premium, transaction costs or other differences between the initial carrying amount or any interest-bearing 

instrument and its amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest rate basis. Interest income includes interest on bank 

and broker balances. 

 

h. Dividend income 
 

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the dividend is established. 

 

i. Other receivables and other payables 
 

These amounts are measured at amortised cost. 

 
The Directors consider the probability of default to be close to zero as these instruments are short-term and their counterparties 

have a strong capacity to meet their contractual obligations in the near term. As a result, no loss allowance has been recognised 

based on 12-month expected credit losses as any such impairment would be wholly insignificant to the Company. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.3  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

j. Taxation 
 

As the Company qualifies under Section 739B of the Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997 as an investment undertaking, the 

Company is not liable for income tax, capital gains tax or corporation tax on its income or gains, other than on the occurrence 

of a chargeable event. 

 

A chargeable event includes any distribution to shareholders or any redemption or transfer of shares, or the ending of a 

Relevant Period. A Relevant Period is an eight year period beginning with the acquisition of shares by the shareholder and 

each subsequent period of eight years beginning immediately after the preceding Relevant Period. 

 

A chargeable event does not include: 

 Any transactions in relation to shares held in a recognised clearing system as designated by order of the Revenue 

Commissioners of Ireland; or 

 An exchange of shares representing one fund for another fund of the Company; or 

 Any exchange of shares arising on a qualifying amalgamation or reconstruction of the Company with another fund 

or Company. 

 

A chargeable event will not occur in respect of shareholders who are neither resident nor ordinarily resident in Ireland and 
who have provided the Company with a relevant declaration to that effect. 

 

In the absence of an appropriate declaration, the Company will be liable to Irish tax on the occurrence of a chargeable event. 

There were no chargeable events during the period under review. 

 

Capital gains, dividends and interest may be subject to withholding taxes imposed by the country of origin and such taxes 

may not be recoverable by the Company or its shareholders. 

 

k. Transaction costs  
 

Transaction costs are costs incurred to acquire financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. They include 

fees and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers. Transaction costs, when incurred, are immediately 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an expense. 

 

l. New standards, amendments and interpretations issued and effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2019 
 

IFRS 16 – Leases 
 
IFRS 16 affects primarily the accounting by lessees and results in the recognition of almost all leases on statement of financial 

position. The standard removes the current distinction between operating and financing leases and requires recognition of an 

asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals for virtually all lease contracts. An optional 

exemption exists for short term and low value leases. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods starting on or after 1 January 

2019. 

 

An assessment has been performed on the effects of applying the new standard on the Company’s financial statements and 

given the Company does not transact in leases, no material impacts have been identified. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.3  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

l. New standards, amendments and interpretations issued and effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2019 

(continued) 
 

IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

 
The Company is tax-exempt and is only subject to withholding tax on certain dividend and interest income in some countries. If 

the Company is subject to income tax, including withholding taxes, then it is required to provide specific disclosures under IAS 

12 and IAS 1. Additionally, if the Company is subject to income taxes in the scope of IAS 12, including withholding taxes, then 

the Company should consider if there are any uncertain tax treatments. IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments is 

effective from 1 January 2019; earlier application is permitted. 

 

An assessment has been performed on the effects of applying IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments and it has no 

material effect on the Company’s financial statements. 

 

There are no other standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are effective for the financial year 

beginning on 1 January 2019 that would be expected to have a material impact on the Company. 

 

m. Organisational cost and deferred sales charge 
 
The organisational cost and deferred sales charge are borne out of the assets of the respective Sub-Fund and amortised over a 

five year period commencing from the date of the launch of the Sub-Fund. However, for the purpose of these financial statements 

establishment costs have been expensed to the respective Sub-Fund in their entirety in line with International Financial Reporting 

Standards. Due to the difference in the treatment of these costs there is a difference in the NAV per the financial statements and 

the NAV as calculated in accordance with the Prospectus (dealing NAV) of the respective Sub-Fund. For a reconciliation of 

these differences, please see Note 13.  

 

3. Fees and expenses 

 

a. Management fees 
 

The Manager will be entitled to the following management fee for the Organic Bond Fund in respect of the management services 

that it provides to the Company, payable out of the assets of the Sub Fund. The management fee is calculated by the 

Administrator accruing at each Valuation Day and payable monthly in arrears at a rate of (i) up to 1.25% per annum of the Net 

Asset Value for the Institutional shares; (ii) up to 2% per annum of the Net Asset Value for the Retail shares, subject to a 

minimum annual fee, exclusive of out-of-pocket expenses, of €25,000. 

 
The Manager will be entitled to the following management fee for the Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund in respect of the 

management services that it provides to the Company, payable out of the assets of the Sub Fund in relation to the Shares. The 

management fee is calculated by the Administrator accruing at each Valuation Day and payable monthly in arrears at a rate of 

up to (i) 1.2% per annum of the Net Asset Value for the Institutional Shares, (ii) 2% per annum of the Net Asset Value for the 

Retail Shares. 

 

The Manager will be entitled to the following management fee for the Mercantile Diversified Fund in respect of the management 

services that it provides to the Company, payable out of the assets of the Sub Fund. The management fee is calculated by the 

Administrator accruing at each Valuation Day and payable monthly in arrears at a rate of up to (i) 0.5% per annum of the Net 

Asset Value for the Class B Shares. The Class A Shares will not be charged a management fee. The management fee, or part of 

the management fee, may be waived at the discretion of the Manager. 
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3. Fees and expenses (continued) 
 

a. Management fees (continued) 
 

The Manager will be entitled to the following management fee for the Mercantile Opportunities Fund in respect of the 

management services that it provides to the Company, payable out of the assets of the Sub Fund. The management fee is 
calculated by the Administrator accruing at each Valuation Day and payable monthly in arrears at a rate of up to (i) 0.5% per 

annum of the Net Asset Value for the Class B Shares. The Class A Shares will not be charged a management fee. The 

management fee, or part of the management fee, may be waived at the discretion of the Manager. 

 

The Manager will be entitled to the following management fee for the Long/Short Alpha Fund in respect of the management 

services that it provides to the Company, payable out of the assets of the Sub Fund. The management fee is calculated by the 

Administrator accruing at each Valuation Day and payable monthly in arrears at a rate of up to (i) 0.65% per annum of the Net 

Asset Value for the Institutional “O” Shares GBP and (ii) 0.50% per annum of the Net Asset Value for the Retail “O” Shares 

GBP. 

 

The Manager will be entitled to the following management fee for the Global Bond Fund in respect of the management services 

that it provides to the Company, payable out of the assets of the Sub Fund. The management fee is calculated by the 

Administrator accruing at each Valuation Day and payable monthly in arrears at a rate of up to 0.50% per annum of the Net 

Asset Value for the Institutional “O” Shares GBP and Retail “O” Shares GBP. 

 

31 December 2019 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total 

 2019 2019 2019 2019 

 GBP US$ GBP GBP 

Management fees incurred 166,919 53,157 35,557 30,106 

Management fees ending balance payable - - 2,805 2,444 

 

31 December 2019  

LONG/SHORT 
ALPHA  

Fund Total 

GLOBAL 
 BOND 

 Fund Total Company Total 

  2019 2019 2019 

  GBP GBP US$ 

Management fees incurred  3,213 8,319 365,331 

Management fees ending balance payable  - 219 7,251 

 

31 December 2018 

 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

  2018 2018 2018 

  GBP US$ GBP 

Management fees incurred  512,528 151,381 16,182 

Management fees ending balance payable  67,201 17,761 2,581 
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3. Fees and expenses (continued) 
 

a. Management fees (continued) 
 

31 December 2018   

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total Company Total 

   2018 2018 

   GBP US$ 

Management fees incurred   7,557 863,831 

Management fees ending balance payable   2,090 109,369 
 

 

b. Performance fees 
 

In addition to the management fee, the Manager is entitled to a performance fee payable out of the relevant Share Classes of the 

Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund, the Mercantile Diversified Fund, the Mercantile Opportunities Fund and the Long/Short Alpha 

Fund. 

 

In relation to the Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund, no performance fee is accrued or paid until the net asset value per Share 

exceeds the previous peak net asset value per Share on which the performance fee was paid or accrued. The current rate of the 

performance fee is: (i) 15% in relation to the Institutional shares and (ii) 20% per annum in relation to the Retail shares of the 

appreciation of the peak net asset value of each such class during that calculation period. 

 

In relation to the Mercantile Diversified Fund, the Performance Fee is calculated as a percentage of the amount (if any) by which 

the Net Asset Value per Share is on the relevant Valuation Day greater than the highest Net Asset Value per Share on any 

preceding Valuation Day on which a Performance Fee was paid (or greater than the initial offer price in the case of the first 
Valuation Day after the launch of any Class) (the "Peak Net Asset Value"), subject to a 1.25% Hurdle. 

 

No Performance Fee is accrued or paid until the Net Asset Value per Share exceeds the previous Peak Net Asset Value per 

Share on which the Performance Fee was paid or accrued plus a 1.25% Hurdle. For the Class B Shares, the current rate of the 

Performance Fee is 20% per annum of the appreciation of the Peak Net Asset Value of each relevant Class during that 

Calculation Period, subject to the 1.25% Hurdle. 

 

In relation to the Mercantile Opportunities Fund, the Performance Fee is calculated as a percentage of the amount (if any) by 

which the Net Asset Value per Share is on the relevant Valuation Day greater than the highest Net Asset Value per Share on 

any preceding Valuation Day on which a Performance Fee was paid (or greater than the initial offer price in the case of the first 

Valuation Day after the launch of any Class) (the "Peak Net Asset Value"), subject to a 1.25% Hurdle. 

 

No Performance Fee is accrued or paid until the Net Asset Value per Share exceeds the previous Peak Net Asset Value per Share 

on which the Performance Fee was paid or accrued plus a 1.25% Hurdle. For the Class B Shares, the current rate of the 

Performance Fee is 20% per annum of the appreciation of the Peak Net Asset Value of each relevant Class during that Calculation 

Period, subject to the 1.25% Hurdle. 

 
In relation to the Long/short Alpha Fund, the Performance Fee is calculated as a percentage of the amount (if any) by which the 

Net Asset Value per Share is on the relevant Valuation Day greater than the highest Net Asset Value per Share on any preceding 

Valuation Day on which a Performance Fee was paid (or greater than the initial offer price in the case of the first Valuation Day 

after the launch of any Class) (the "Peak Net Asset Value"). 

 

No Performance Fee is accrued or paid until the Net Asset Value per Share exceeds the previous Peak Net Asset Value per Share 

on which the Performance Fee was paid or accrued. The current rate of the Performance Fee is 15% per annum in relation to the 

Institutional Shares GBP of the appreciation of the Peak Net Asset Value of each such Class during that calculation period. 

 

No performance fees incurred during the year and none is outstanding as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 for all Sub-Funds.  
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3. Fees and expenses (continued) 
 

c. Administrator’s fees 
 

The Administrator will be paid a fee not to exceed 0.10% per annum of the entire Net Asset Value of the Sub Fund subject to a 

minimum annual fee, exclusive of out-of-pocket expenses of €48,000 for each Sub Fund. The Administrator will also be 
reimbursed out of the assets of the Sub Fund for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Administrator. 

 

A standard implementation fee of EUR5,000 will be charged by the administrator only once for each of the Sub Fund. 

 

As of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, administration fees incurred and payable were: 

 

31 December 2019 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIE

S Fund Total 

 2019 2019 2019 2019 

 GBP US$ GBP GBP 

Administration fees incurred 19,112 33,258 38,847 38,845 

Administration fees ending balance payable 705 936 3,596 3,596 

 

31 December 2019  

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA  

Fund Total 

GLOBAL 

 BOND 

 Fund Total Company Total 

  2019 2019 2019 

  GBP GBP US$ 

Administration fees incurred  11,690 11,690 186,663 

Administration fees ending balance payable  - - 11,409 

 

31 December 2018 

 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

  2018 2018 2018 

  GBP US$ GBP 

Administration fees incurred  45,313 59,503 25,855 

Administration fees ending balance payable  7,257 9,571 8,271 

 

31 December 2018   

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total Company Total 

   2018 2018 

   GBP US$ 

Administration fees incurred   15,006 172,482 

Administration fees ending balance payable   8,271 39,905 
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3. Fees and expenses (continued) 

 

d. Depositary fees 
 

The Depositary will be paid for the Organic Bond Fund and the Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund a fee of 2.5 basis points of the 

Net Asset Value per fund per annum with value added tax, if any, applicable to such fees, subject to a minimum annual fee, 
exclusive of out-of-pocket expenses, of €30,000. The Depositary shall also be entitled to securities transaction fees per securities 

transaction and a cash transaction fee per cash transaction which are charged at market banking rates. The Depositary will also 

be paid out of the assets of the Sub Fund for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them and for fees (which will not 

exceed normal commercial rates) and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of any sub-custodian appointed by the Depositary and 

will be liable for transaction charges, which will be at normal commercial rates. 
 

The Depositary will be paid for the Mercantile Diversified Fund and the Mercantile Opportunities Fund a fee not to exceed 2.5 

basis points of the Net Asset Value per fund per annum with value added tax, if any, applicable to such fees, subject to a 

minimum annual fee, exclusive of out-of-pocket expenses, of €30,000. The Depositary shall also be entitled to securities 

transaction fees per securities transaction and a cash transaction fee per cash transaction which are charged at market banking 

rates. The Depositary will also be paid out of the assets of the Sub Fund for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them 

and for fees (which will not exceed normal commercial rates) and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of any sub-custodian 

appointed by the Depositary and will be liable for transaction charges, which will be at normal commercial rates. 
 

The Depositary will be paid for the Long/Short Alpha Fund and the Global Bond Fund a fee not to exceed 2.5 basis points of 

the Net Asset Value per fund per annum with value added tax, if any, applicable to such fees, subject to a minimum annual fee, 

exclusive of out-of-pocket expenses, of €30,000. The Depositary shall also be entitled to securities transaction fees per securities 

transaction and a cash transaction fee per cash transaction which are charged at market banking rates. The Depositary will also 

be paid out of the assets of the Sub Fund for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them and for fees (which will not 

exceed normal commercial rates) and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of any sub-custodian appointed by the Depositary and 

will be liable for transaction charges, which will be at normal commercial rates. 
 

As of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, Depositary and trustee fees incurred and payable were: 
 

31 December 2019 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total 

 2019 2019 2019 2019 

 GBP US$ GBP GBP 

Depositary fees incurred 24,384 19,948 40,671 37,645 

Depositary fees payable 285 81 8,168 16,915 

 

31 December 2019  

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA  

Fund Total 

GLOBAL 

 BOND 

 Fund Total Company Total 

  2019 2019 2019 

  GBP GBP US$ 

Depositary fees incurred  7,014 7,014 169,081 

Depositary fees payable  6,540 6,540 51,074 

 

31 December 2018 

 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

  2018 2018 2018 

  GBP US$ GBP 

Depositary fees incurred  35,115 43,232 19,246 

Depositary fees payable  4,419 9,212 6,228 
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3. Fees and expenses (continued) 
 

d. Depositary fees (continued) 
 

31 December 2018   

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total Company Total 

   2018 2018 

   GBP US$ 

Depositary fees incurred   8,640 125,862 

Depositary fees payable   8,640 33,795 
 

e. Directors’ fees  
 

Under the Articles, the Directors are entitled to a fee in remuneration for their services to the Company at a rate to be determined 

from time to time by the Directors, but so that the aggregate amount of each Directors’ remuneration in any one year shall not 

exceed €25,000 (inclusive of VAT) (or such other higher limit as the Directors may from time to time determine). The Directors 

and any alternate Directors may also be paid all travelling, hotel and other expenses properly incurred by them in attending and 

returning from meetings of the Directors or any other meetings in connection with the business of the Company. 

 

In the case of the Company, Mr. Julian Alworth has waived the receipt of directors’ fees. 

 

Mr. John Bohan is not an independent director and charges a director’s fee of €5,000 per annum per sub fund.  

 

Mr. Andrew Curtin is an independent director and charges a director’s fee of €20,000 per annum. 

 

As of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 Directors’ fees incurred and payable were: 
  

31 December 2019 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total 

 2019 2019 2019 2019 

 GBP US$ GBP GBP 

Directors’ fees incurred 5,500 6,254 8,790 8,790 

Directors’ fees payable - - 3,003 3,003 
 

31 December 2019  

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA  

Fund Total 

GLOBAL 

 BOND 

 Fund Total Company Total 

  2019 2019 2019 

  GBP GBP US$ 

Directors’ fees incurred  3,101 3,194 43,739 

Directors’ fees payable  1,904 2,575 13,906 

 

31 December 2018 

 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

  2018 2018 2018 

  GBP US$ GBP 

Directors’ fees incurred  7,761 10,076 4,708 

Directors’ fees payable  2,061 2,579 1,874 
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3. Fees and expenses (continued) 
 

e. Directors’ fees (continued) 
 

31 December 2018   

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 
Fund Total Company Total 

   2018 2018 

   GBP US$ 

Directors’ fees incurred   3,623 31,139 

Directors’ fees payable   1,874 9,984 

 

Note: Directors fees are accrued in EUR, the difference between the amount incurred and paid and payable relates to currency 

movements in the period. 

 

f. Auditor’s remuneration 
 

31 December 2019 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total 

 2019 2019 2019 2019 

 GBP US$ GBP GBP 

Audit fees incurred 6,349 8,422 6,349 6,349 

Audit fees payable 6,349 8,422 6,349 6,349 
 

31 December 2019  

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA  

Fund Total 

GLOBAL 

 BOND 

 Fund Total Company Total 

  2019 2019 2019 

  GBP GBP US$ 

Audit fees incurred  - - 33,688 

Audit fees payable  - - 33,688 
 

31 December 2018 

 

ORGANIC 

BOND 
Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 
Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 
Fund Total 

  2018 2018 2018 

  GBP US$ GBP 

Audit fees incurred  6,739 8,590 1,797 

Audit fees payable  6,739 8,590 1,797 

 

31 December 2018   

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total Company Total 

   2018 2018 

   GBP US$ 

Audit fees incurred   1,797 21,809 

Audit fees payable   1,797 21,760 
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3. Fees and expenses (continued) 
 

g. Other fees and expenses 

 

31 December 2019 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total 

 2019 2019 2019 2019 

 GBP US$ GBP GBP 

Bank charges 464 1,482 277 227 

Directors insurance expense - 625 913 913 

Financial statement prep expenses 2,120 2,691 2,023 1,922 

Legal fee - 1,423 6,791 6,791 

License fee - 563 - - 

Other professional services expense 792 3,377 1,728 1,831 

Corporate secretarial fees 1,287 1,673 2,632 2,632 

Tax preparation fee expense 3,500 4,420 5,712 6,059 

Transfer agent fee expense 2,141 12,491 2,018 2,018 

VAT expenses 915 2,151 983 939 

FATCA services fee expense 1,285 1,662 2,104 1,980 

Financial regulator levy expense - - 973 974 

VAT registration & management expense 880 1,115 - - 

Accounting Fee - - 113 29 

Other Expenses 8,565 4,580 30,854 29,477 

 21,949 38,253 57,121 55,792 
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3. Fees and expenses (continued) 
 

g. Other fees and expenses (continued) 

 

31 December 2019  

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA  
Fund Total 

GLOBAL 

 BOND 
 Fund Total Company Total 

  2019 2019 2019 

  GBP GBP US$ 

Bank charges  123 - 2,875 

Directors insurance expense  - - 2,961 

Financial statement prep expenses  1,147 1,147 13,350 

Legal fee  1,543 - 20,752 

License fee  703 407 1,965 

Other professional services expense  1,171 1,629 12,481 

Registered office fees  153 77 290 

Corporate secretarial fees  701 702 11,828 

Tax preparation fee expense  1,820 2,273 29,131 

Transfer agent fee expense  - - 20,395 

FATCA services fee expense  701 701 10,304 

VAT expenses  - - 5,782 

Financial regulator levy expense  - - 2,491 
VAT Registration & Management 

Expense  328 827 3,700 

Accounting fee  - - 182 

Insurance expense  883 316 1,515 

Transaction charges  1,169 1,169 2,954 

Operating fee  82 - 104 

Other expenses  9,556 8,235 114,319 

  20,080 17,483 257,379 



50  

THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 
 

3. Fees and expenses (continued) 
 

g. Other fees and expenses (continued) 
 

31 December 2018 

 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

  2018 2018 2018 

  GBP US$ GBP 

Bank charges  4,379 16,135 403 

Directors insurance expense  1,377 881 753 

Financial statement prep expenses  2,218 2,969 2,280 

Legal fee  30,785 5,549 3,046 

License fee  978 - - 

Listing fees  1,335 - - 

Other professional services expense  445 1,133 739 

Organisation expense  444 - 9,983 

Registered office fees  395 537 - 

Risk Management fees  3,193 - - 

Corporate secretarial fees  2,669 3,562 1,505 

Tax preparation fee expense  4,210 6,233 828 

Transfer agent fee expense  4,450 16,253 1,154 

VAT expenses  3,208 1,791 230 

FATCA services fee expense  2,670 3,587 2,735 

Financial regulator levy expense  - 1,240 453 

Other expenses  6,197 12,680 12,556 

  68,953 72,550 36,665 
 

31 December 2018   

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total Company Total 

   2018 2018 

   GBP US$ 

Bank charges   31 22,521 

Directors insurance expense   427 4,235 

Financial statement prep expenses   2,341 11,872 

Legal fee   1,950 52,945 

License fee   - 1,301 

Listing fees   - 1,776 

Organisation expense   16,841 35,105 

Other professional services expense   630 3,489 

Registered office fees   - 1,062 

Risk Management fees   - 4,248 

Corporate secretarial fees   855 10,156 

Tax preparation fee expense   470 13,508 

Transfer agent fee expense   655 24,506 

FATCA services fee expense   2,808 14,279 

VAT expenses   - 6,357 

Financial regulator levy expense   229 2,120 

Other expenses   7,615 47,310 

   34,852 256,790 
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3. Fees and expenses (continued) 

  

h. Distribution expenses 
 

In line with the prospectus the Distribution Expense of 5% of subscriptions into the institutional class of shares of £0 (2018: £401,154) on Organic Bond Fund and $0 (2018: $149,611) 
on Organic Long Short Alpha Fund is paid to the Manager European and Global Investments Limited. They also received an initial sales charge fee of 2% of subscriptions into the retail 

class of shares for £0 (2018: £91) on Organic Bond Fund and $0 (2018: $50) on the Organic Long Short Alpha Fund. These amounts, charged to subscriptions and sales are paid by the 

manager to underlying distributors. 

 

4. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

 

 
ORGANIC BOND  

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED  

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES  

Fund Total 

 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 

 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 

 GBP GBP US$ US$ GBP GBP GBP GBP 

Corporate bonds - - - - 191,306 - 169,656 - 

Government bonds - - - - 1,368,763 - - - 

Equity - - - - 3,203,214 - 2,996,333 - 

Mutual Fund 734,993 - 152,151 - - - 508,022 - 

Exchange traded fund - - - - 1,339,023 - 1,447,475 - 

 734,993 - 152,151 - 6,102,306 - 5,121,486 - 
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4. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

 

   

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

GLOBAL 

BOND 

Fund Total Company Total 

   2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 

     Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 

     GBP GBP GBP GBP US$ US$ 

Corporate bonds     - - - - 478,745 - 

Government bonds     - - - - 1,815,390 - 

Equity     - - - - 8,222,459 - 

Mutual Fund     - - - - 1,800,762 - 

Exchange traded fund     - - - - 3,695,731 - 

     - - - - 16,013,087 - 

 

 
ORGANIC BOND  

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED  

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES  

Fund Total Company Total 

 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 

 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 

 GBP GBP US$ US$ GBP GBP GBP GBP US$ US$ 

Corporate bonds 15,344,282 - 747,737 - 1,071,837 - 391,734 - 22,171,025 - 

Government bonds 638,404 - 148,922 - 1,452,604 - - - 2,814,121 - 

Equity 4,775,740 - 5,111,255 - 1,338,715 - 1,638,959 - 14,993,757 - 

Mutual Fund 2,182,897 - - - 601,862 - 556,258 - 4,258,461 - 

Exchange traded fund - - - - 1,388,020 - 1,681,522 - 3,912,438 - 

Options - - 415 (2,500) - - - - 415 (2,500) 

Futures 45,720 - 73,313 (300) - - - - 131,588 (300) 

 22,987,043 - 6,081,642 (2,800) 5,853,038 - 4,268,473 - 48,281,805 (2,800) 
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4.  Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 
 

 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total 

Net (loss)/gain on financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss 2019 2019 2019 2019 

 GBP US$  GBP  GBP 

Realised (losses)/gains on investments (17,839,997) (1,124,275) (1,156,165) 93,305 

Unrealised gains on investments – 
movement in period 7,006,173 226,790 350,379 405,567 

Net (loss)/gain on financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss (10,833,824) (897,485) (805,786) 498,872 

 

  

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA  

Fund Total 

GLOBAL 

 BOND 

 Fund Total Company Total 

Net (loss)/gain on financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  2019 2019 2019 

   GBP  GBP US$ 

Realised (losses)/gains on investments  (14,601) 1,122 (25,328,769) 

Unrealised gains on investments – movement 
in period  - - 10,158,938 

Net (loss)/gain on financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  (14,601) 1,122 (15,169,831) 

 

  

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

Net loss on financial assets and liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss  2018 2018 2018 

  GBP US$  GBP 

Realised loss on investments  (6,711,676) (1,232,042) (112,093) 

Unrealised losses on investments – movement 
in period  (4,639,433) (1,715,041) (269,832) 

Net losses on financial assets and liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss  (11,351,110) (2,947,083) (381,925) 

 

   

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total Company Total 

Net loss on financial assets and liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss   2018 2018 

    GBP US$ 

Realised losses on investments   (372,103) (10,782,869) 

Unrealised losses on investments – movement 
in period   (416,405) (8,770,062) 

Net losses on financial assets and liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss   (788,508) (19,552,931) 
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5. Cash and cash equivalents  

 

 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total 

 2019 2019 2019 2019 

 GBP US$ GBP GBP 

Societe Generale 41,638 42,130 324,304 533,832 

Citibank NA London - - 1,604 5,751 

 41,638 42,130 325,908 539,583 

 

  

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA  

Fund Total 

GLOBAL 

 BOND 

 Fund Total Company Total 

  2019 2019 2019 

  GBP GBP US$ 

Societe Generale  23,012 40,510 1,319,749 

Citibank NA London  - - 9,755 

  23,012 40,510 1,329,504 

 

  

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

  2018 2018 2018 

  GBP US$ GBP 

Royal Bank of Scotland International  270 16,044 - 

Societe Generale  1,604,103 945,093 1,158,118 

Valbury Capital  (109) (24) - 

Berkeley Futures Limited  237,271 404,316 - 

  1,841,535 1,365,429 1,158,118 

 

   

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total Company Total 

   2018 2018 

   GBP US$ 

Royal Bank of Scotland International   - 16,388 

Societe Generale    1,635,968 6,551,025 

Valbury Capital   - (163) 

Berkeley Futures Limited   - 706,742 

   1,635,968 7,273,992 

 

Cash at bank deposited at the Depositary and Royal Bank of Scotland International subscription and redemption account as at 

31 December 2019 amounted to US$Nil (2018: US$16,388) on behalf of the Company. 
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6. Share Capital 
 

The minimum authorised share capital of the Company is €2 represented by 2 Subscriber Shares of no par value and the 

maximum authorised share capital of the Company is 500,000,000,002 Shares of no par value initially designated as unclassified 

Shares. The Directors are empowered to issue up to 500,000,000,002 Shares of no par value designated as Shares of any Class 

on such items as they think fit. 
 

The issued capital of the Company as of the date of this Prospectus is €2 represented by 2 Subscriber Shares of no par value 

issued for €1 each. The Subscriber Shares entitle the holders to attend and vote at general meetings of the Company but do not 

entitle the holders to participate in the profits or assets of the Company except for a return of capital on a winding-up. 
 

Redeemable Non-Participating Shares do not entitle the holder to any dividends or assets attributable to Redeemable 

Participating Shares of the Company. On the winding up of the Company, Redeemable Non-Participating Shares entitle the 

holders thereof to receive the amount paid up thereon but do not otherwise entitle them to participate in the assets of the 

Company. Redeemable Non-Participating Shares may at the request of any of the holders thereof be purchased by the Company 

directly or indirectly out of the Company’s assets. 
 

As at 31 December 2019, 2 Redeemable Non-Participating shares were in issue.  
 

As at 31 December 2019 and at all times during the year under review, the proceeds from the issuance of Redeemable Non-

Participating Shares were the only assets of the Company which were not part of the assets of the Sub Fund. 
 

The cash proceeds from the issuance of Redeemable Non-Participating Shares is deposited with the Depositary. Interest income 

earned on this cash during the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to US$ nil (2018: US$ nil). 
 

Organic Bond Fund 
 

Redeemable Participating Shares will be issued to investors as Shares of a Class in the Sub Fund. The Directors may, whether 

on the establishment of this Sub Fund or from time to time, with prior notification to, and clearance by the Central Bank, create 

more than three Classes of Shares in this Sub Fund. The Directors may in their absolute discretion differentiate between Classes 

of Shares, without limitation, as to currency denomination of a particular Class, dividend policy, hedging strategies, if any 
applied to the designated currency of a particular Class, Shariah compliance, fees and expenses or the Minimum Subscription 

or Minimum Holding applicable. The Directors may in their absolute discretion waive the Minimum Subscription or Minimum 

Holding requirement. 

 

As at 31 December 2019, the Sub Fund remain suspended, hence there were no Shares in the Sub Fund have been offered for 

subscription. 
 

Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund 
 

Redeemable Participating Shares will be issued to investors as Shares of a Class in the Sub Fund. The Directors may, whether 

on the establishment of this Sub Fund or from time to time, with prior notification to, and clearance by the Central Bank, create 
more than four Classes of Shares in this Sub Fund. The Directors may in their absolute discretion differentiate between Classes 

of Shares, without limitation, as to currency denomination of a particular Class, dividend policy, hedging strategies, if any 

applied to the designated currency of a particular Class, Shariah compliance, fees and expenses or the Minimum Subscription 

or Minimum Holding applicable. The Directors may in their absolute discretion waive the Minimum Subscription or Minimum 

Holding requirement. 

 
As at 31 December 2019, the Sub Fund remain suspended, hence there were no Shares in the Sub Fund have been offered for 

subscription. 
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6. Share Capital (continued) 
 

The Mercantile Diversified Fund 
 

The Sub Fund is offering three GBP denominated Classes of Shares – Class A, B and C. 

 
As at 31 December 2019, two Class of Shares in the Sub Fund is available for subscription and details of which are set out 

below: 

 

Class of Share Currency 

 

Minimum Initial 

Subscription 

Minimum 

Holding 

Class A GBP GBP5,000 GBP5,000 

Class B GBP GBP5,000 GBP5,000 

 

After the close of the initial offer period (the “IOP”), Shares shall be issued at the Net Asset Value per Share on each Dealing 

Day and adding thereto such sum as the Directors in their absolute discretion may from time to time determine as an appropriate 

provision for Duties and Charges and such other adjustment as the Directors may from time to time determine. 
 

In order to receive Shares at the Net Asset Value per Share as of any particular Dealing Day, the signed application form must 

be received no later than 5pm (Irish time) at least 1 Business Day prior to the relevant Valuation Day or, in exceptional 

circumstances, such later time as the Manager may from time to time permit provided that applications will not be accepted after 

the Valuation Point. Applications received after such time will be held over until the following Dealing Day. Where the applicant 

is an existing Shareholder a repeat application form may be used. The signed repeat application form must be received no later 

than 5pm (Irish time) at least 1 Business Day prior to the relevant Valuation Day or, in exceptional circumstances, such later 

time as the Manager may from time to time permit provided that applications will not be accepted after the Valuation Point. 

 

Shareholders may request the Sub Fund to redeem their Shares on and with effect from any Dealing Day at the Net Asset Value 

per Share less any applicable Duties and Charges on such Dealing Day (subject to such adjustments, if any, as may be specified 

including, without limitation, any adjustment required for redemption charges) in accordance with the redemption procedures 

specified below. 

 

A redemption request form should be posted or sent by facsimile or email, so as to arrive at the Administrator’s address no later 

than 5pm (Irish time) at least 1 Business Day prior to the relevant Valuation Day or, in exceptional circumstances, such later 

time as the Manager may from time to time permit provided that redemption request forms will not be accepted after the 
Valuation Point. 

 

Redemption requests should be made on the redemption request form (available from the Administrator) which should be posted 

or sent by facsimile or email to the Administrator. The address for the Administrator is set out in the Prospectus. Subject to the 

foregoing, and to the receipt of the application form and all anti-money laundering documentation and completion of all anti-

money laundering checks, redemption proceeds will be paid by telegraphic transfer to the Shareholder’s account specified in the 

application form within 3 Business Days from the deadline for receipt of redemption requests. Redemptions will not be processed 

on non-verified accounts. 

 

The Mercantile Opportunities Fund 
 

The Sub Fund is offering three GBP denominated Classes of Shares – Class A, B and C. 
 

As at 31 December 2019, one Classes of Shares in the Sub Fund is available for subscription and details of which are set out 

below: 
 

Class of Share Currency 

 

Minimum Initial 

Subscription 

Minimum 

Holding 

Class B GBP GBP5,000 GBP5,000 
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The Mercantile Opportunities Fund (continued) 
 

After the close of the initial offer period (the “IOP”), Shares shall be issued at the Net Asset Value per Share on each Dealing 

Day and adding thereto such sum as the Directors in their absolute discretion may from time to time determine as an appropriate 

provision for Duties and Charges and such other adjustment as the Directors may from time to time determine. 
 

In order to receive Shares at the Net Asset Value per Share as of any particular Dealing Day, the signed application form must  

be received no later than 5pm (Irish time) at least 1 Business Day prior to the relevant Valuation Day or, in exceptional  

circumstances, such later time as the Manager may from time to time permit provided that applications will not be accepted after 

the Valuation Point. Applications received after such time will be held over until the following Dealing Day. Where the applicant 
is an existing Shareholder a repeat application form may be used. The signed repeat application form must be received no later 

than 5pm (Irish time) at least 1 Business Day prior to the relevant Valuation Day or, in exceptional circumstances, such later 

time as the Manager may from time to time permit provided that applications will not be accepted after the Valuation Point. 
 

Shareholders may request the Sub Fund to redeem their Shares on and with effect from any Dealing Day at the Net Asset Value 

per Share less any applicable Duties and Charges on such Dealing Day (subject to such adjustments, if any, as may be specified 

including, without limitation, any adjustment required for redemption charges) in accordance with the redemption procedures  

specified below. 
 

A redemption request form should be posted or sent by facsimile or email, so as to arrive at the Administrator’s address no later 
than 5pm (Irish time) at least 1 Business Day prior to the relevant Valuation Day or, in exceptional circumstances, such later 

time as the Manager may from time to time permit provided that redemption request forms will not be accepted after the 

Valuation Point. 
 

Redemption requests should be made on the redemption request form (available from the Administrator) which should be posted 

or sent by facsimile or email to the Administrator. The address for the Administrator is set out in the Prospectus. Subject to the 

foregoing, and to the receipt of the application form and all anti-money laundering documentation and completion of all 

antimony laundering checks, redemption proceeds will be paid by telegraphic transfer to the Shareholder’s account specified in 

the application form within 3 Business Days from the deadline for receipt of redemption requests. Redemptions will not be 

processed on non-verified accounts. 

 

The Long/Short Alpha Fund 

 
The Sub Fund is offering four GBP denominated Classes of Shares – Institutional Shares, Institutional “O” Shares, Retail Shares 
and Retail “O” Shares. 

 

During the year ended 31 December 2019, two Classes of Shares in the Sub Fund were available for subscription and details of 

which are set out below: 
 

Class of Share Currency 

 

Minimum Initial 

Subscription 

Minimum 

Subsequent 

Subscription 

Minimum 

Holding 

Institutional “O” 

Shares 
GBP GBP500,000 GBP5,000 GBP10,000 

Retail “O” Shares GBP GBP15,000 GBP5,000 GBP10,000 

 

The Sub Fund was terminated during the year, hence all the above Classes of Shares fully redeemed as at 31 December 2019. 

 
Subscriptions to the Institutional “O” Shares GBP Share Class and Retail “O” Shares GBP Share Class will be restricted to 

shareholders switching from The Organic Long/ Short Alpha Fund. The initial offer price of such Shares will be GBP100. 

 
After the close of the initial offer period (the “IOP”), Shares shall be issued at the Net Asset Value per Share on each Dealing 

Day and adding thereto such sum as the Directors in their absolute discretion may from time to time determine as an appropriate 

provision for Duties and Charges and such other adjustment as the Directors may from time to time determine. 
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The Long/Short Alpha Fund (continued) 
 

In order to receive Shares at the Net Asset Value per Share as of any particular Dealing Day, the signed application form must 

be received no later than 5pm (Irish time) at least 1 Business Day prior to the relevant Valuation Day or, in exceptional 

circumstances, such later time as the Manager may from time to time permit provided that applications will not be accepted after 

the Valuation Point. Applications received after such time will be held over until the following Dealing Day. Where the applicant 

is an existing Shareholder a repeat application form may be used. The signed repeat application form must be received no later 

than 5pm (Irish time) at least 1 Business Day prior to the relevant Valuation Day or, in exceptional circumstances, such later 

time as the Manager may from time to time permit provided that applications will not be accepted after the Valuation Point. 

 

Shareholders may request the Fund to redeem their Shares on and with effect from any Dealing Day at the Net Asset Value per 

Share less any applicable Duties and Charges on such Dealing Day (subject to such adjustments, if any, as may be specified 

including, without limitation, any adjustment required for redemption charges as described under the section of the Prospectus 
entitled “Fees and Expenses”) in accordance with the redemption procedures specified below. 

 

A redemption request form should be posted or sent by facsimile or email, so as to arrive at the Administrator’s address no later 

than 5pm (Irish time) at least 1 Business Day prior to the relevant Valuation Day or, in exceptional circumstances, such later 

time as the Manager may from time to time permit provided that redemption request forms will not be accepted after the 

Valuation Point. 

 

Redemption requests should be made on the redemption request form (available from the Administrator) which should be posted 

or sent by facsimile or email to the Administrator. The address for the Administrator is set out in the Prospectus. Subject to the 

foregoing, and to the receipt of the application form and all anti-money laundering documentation and completion of all anti-

money laundering checks, redemption proceeds will be paid by telegraphic transfer to the Shareholder’s account specified in the 

application form within 5 Business Days from the deadline for receipt of redemption requests. Redemptions will not be processed 

on non-verified accounts. 

 

The Global Bond Fund 
 

The Sub Fund is offering four GBP denominated Classes and one EUR Class of Shares – Institutional Shares, Retail Shares, 
Institutional “O” Shares, Retail “O” Shares and Retail Shares EUR respectively. 

 

During the year ended 31 December 2019, two Classes of Shares in the Sub Fund were available for subscription and details of 

which are set out below: 

 

Class of Share Currency 

 

Minimum Initial 

Subscription 

Minimum 

Holding 

Retail “O” Shares GBP GBP1,000 GBP1,000 

Retail “O” Shares GBP GBP1,000 GBP1,000 

 

The Sub Fund was terminated during the year, hence all the above Classes of Shares fully redeemed as at 31 December 2019. 

 

Subscriptions to the Institutional “O” Shares GBP and Retail “O” Shares GBP will be restricted to shareholders switching from 

The Organic Bond fund, a sub-fund of the Company and will be offered at a price of GBP100 per Share. 

 

After the close of the initial offer period (the “IOP”), Shares shall be issued at the Net Asset Value per Share on each Dealing 

Day and adding thereto such sum as the Directors in their absolute discretion may from time to time determine as an appropriate 

provision for Duties and Charges as the Directors may from time to time determine. 
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The Global Bond Fund (continued) 
 

In order to receive Shares at the Net Asset Value per Share as of any particular Dealing Day, the signed application form must 

be received no later than 5pm (Irish time) at least 1 Business Day prior to the relevant Valuation Day or, in exceptional 

circumstances, such later time as the Manager may from time to time permit provided that applications will not be accepted after 

the Valuation Point. Applications received after such time will be held over until the following Dealing Day. Where the applicant 

is an existing Shareholder a repeat application form may be used. The signed repeat application form must be received no later 

than 5pm (Irish time) at least 1 Business Day prior to the relevant Valuation Day or, in exceptional circumstances, such later 

time as the Manager may from time to time permit provided that applications will not be accepted after the Valuation Point. 

 

Shareholders may request the Fund to redeem their Shares on and with effect from any Dealing Day at the Net Asset Value per 

Share less any applicable Duties and Charges on such Dealing Day (subject to such adjustments, if any, as may be specified 

including, without limitation, any adjustment required for redemption charges as described under the section of the Prospectus 
entitled “Fees and Expenses”) in accordance with the redemption procedures specified below. 

 

A redemption request form should be posted or sent by facsimile or email, so as to arrive at the Administrator’s address no later 

than 5pm (Irish time) at least 1 Business Day prior to the relevant Valuation Day or, in exceptional circumstances, such later 

time as the Manager may from time to time permit provided that redemption request forms will not be accepted after the 

Valuation Point. 

 

Redemption requests should be made on the redemption request form (available from the Administrator) which should be posted 

or sent by facsimile or email to the Administrator. The address for the Administrator is set out in the Prospectus. Subject to the 

foregoing, and to the receipt of the application form and all anti-money laundering documentation and completion of all anti-

money laundering checks, redemption proceeds will be paid by telegraphic transfer to the Shareholder’s account specified in the 

application form within 5 Business Days from the deadline for receipt of redemption requests. Redemptions will not be processed 

on non-verified accounts. 

 

Organic Bond Fund 
 

The following table details the subscription and redemption activity during the year ending 31 December 2019: 
 

                2019                        2019 

   

Class A 
Institutional 
Shares GBP 

Class A 
 Retail Shares 

GBP 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at start of year   336,546 87,465 

Issuance of Redeemable Participating Shares    - - 

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares   (208,627) (54,220) 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at end of year   127,919 33,245 

     
The following table details the subscription and redemption activity during the year ending 31 December 2018: 

 

                2018                        2018 

   

Class A 
Institutional 
Shares GBP 

Class A 
 Retail Shares 

GBP 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at start of year   400,393 166,013 

Issuance of Redeemable Participating Shares    45,749 443 

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares   (109,596) (78,991) 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at end of year   336,546 87,465 
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6. Share Capital (continued) 

 

Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund 
 

The following table details the subscription and redemption activity during the year ending 31 December 2019: 

 

                2019                        2019 

   
Institutional 
Shares GBP 

Retail 
Shares GBP 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at start of year   885,331 21,968 

Issuance of Redeemable Participating Shares      

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares   (769,953) (19,105) 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at end of year   115,378 2,863 

     
The following table details the subscription and redemption activity during the year ending 31 December 2018: 

 

          2018                        2018 

   
Institutional 
Shares GBP 

Retail 
Shares GBP 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at start of year   1,149,523 57,604 

Issuance of Redeemable Participating Shares    42,069 201 

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares   (306,261) (35,837) 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at end of year   885,331 21,968 

The Mercantile Diversified Fund 
 

The following table details the subscription and redemption activity during the year ending 31 December 2019: 

 

  2019 

    Class B 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at start of year    7,478,754 

Issuance of Redeemable Participating Shares     882,382 

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares    (1,491,103) 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at end of year    6,870,033 

     
The following table details the subscription and redemption activity during the period ending 31 December 2018: 

 

          2018                        2018 

   Class A Class B 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at start of period   - - 

Issuance of Redeemable Participating Shares    410,256 8,633,442 

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares   (410,256) (1,154,688) 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at end of period   - 7,478,754 
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The Mercantile Opportunities Fund 
 

The following table details the subscription and redemption activity during the year ending 31 December 2019: 
 

                                         2019 

    Class B 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at start of year    6,958,419 

Issuance of Redeemable Participating Shares     800,137 

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares    (1,425,508) 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at end of year    6,333,048 

     
 

The following table details the subscription and redemption activity during the period ending 31 December 2018: 
 

                                         2018 

    Class B 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at start of period    - 

Issuance of Redeemable Participating Shares     7,203,019 

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares    (244,600) 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at end of period    6,958,419 

     

The Long/Short Alpha Fund 
 

The following table details the subscription and redemption activity during the period ending 31 December 2019: 
 

       2019                       2019 

   

Retail “O” 
Shares 

Institutional 
“O” Shares 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at start of period   - - 

Issuance of Redeemable Participating Shares    1,421 51,866 

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares   (1,421) (51,866) 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at end of period   - - 

     

The Global Bond Fund 
 

The following table details the subscription and redemption activity during the period ending 31 December 2019: 
 

       2019                       2019 

   

Retail “O” 
Shares 

Institutional 
“O” Shares 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at start of period   - - 

Issuance of Redeemable Participating Shares    4,250 156,899 

Redemption of Redeemable Participating Shares   (4,250) (156,899) 

Redeemable Participating Shares in issue at end of period   - - 
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7. Related party transactions  
 

Details of potential conflicts of interest are set out in the Prospectus. During the year, the liquid assets of the Organic Bond and 

the Organic Long/Short Fund were transferred with the conversion of shareholders holding to the Global Bond Fund and the 

Long/Short Alpha Fund respectively. The company information section of note 1 of these financial statements details these the 

transfers. 
 

Mr. John Bohan a director of the Company is also a director of the Administrator. During the financial year ended 31 December 

2019, the directors fees of US$43,739 (2018: US$31,139) were incurred by the Company, out of which US$13,906 (2018: 

US$9,984) were outstanding at 31 December 2019. 
 

Mr. Julian Alworth is a director of the Manager and European Investment Consulting (EIC). Mr Alworth is a Partner in European 

& Global Advisors LLP (EGA).  
 

During the year £19,983 (2018: £3,193) was paid in risk fees to EIC. 
 

During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Management fees of US$365,331 (2018: US$863,831) were incurred 
by the Company, out of which US$7,251 (2018: US$109,369) were outstanding at 31 December 2019.  
 

During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Administrator fees of US$186,663 (2018: US$172,482) were incurred 

by the Company, out of which US$11,409 (2018: US$39,905) were outstanding at 31 December 2019. 
 

During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Depositary fees of US$169,081 (2018: US$125,862) were incurred by 

the Company, out of which US$51,074 (2018: US$33,795) were outstanding at 31 December 2019. 
 

Details of fees paid to related parties and certain connected parties are also set out in Note 3. 
 

8. Risk Management 
 

As a sub-fund of an open ended investment company each of the Sub Fund holds a portfolio of financial assets in pursuit of its 
investment objective. Each of the Sub Fund’s financial instruments comprise listed equities, listed bond investments, exchange 

traded fund and fund investment which are held to achieve its investment objective as well as debtors and creditors that arise 

from its operations, for example sales and purchases of securities awaiting settlement with brokers, fee’s payable to the 

Investment Manager and Depositary and debtors for dividends accrued.  
 

The primary responsibility of reviewing and monitoring of risk in the Sub Fund rests with the Directors; however as part of its 

strategy the Directors have contractually delegated powers and responsibility for the day to day management and administration 

of the Sub Fund to the Investment Manager.  
 

(a) Credit Risk 
 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the each 
of the Fund. In accordance with the prospectus and the UCITS regulations, each of the Fund minimises concentrations of credit 

risk by undertaking transactions with a number of creditworthy counterparties. As a result, they are not subject to significant 

amounts of credit risk. Further, the Fund obtains sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of 

financial loss from defaults. 
 

Credit risk arising on transactions with brokers relates to transactions awaiting settlement. Risk relating to unsettled transactions 

is considered to be small due to the short settlement period involved and the high credit quality of the brokers used.  
 

The Investment Manager monitors the Company’s risk by establishing relationships with high quality financial institutions and 

initially reviewing the bank’s risk management strategy and thereafter monitoring the credit worthiness of the counterparty. The 

Investment Manager would take appropriate action should the credit quality of the financial institution deteriorate significantly. 
 

The Company’s and each of the Sub Fund’s Depositary is European Depositary Bank S.A. Substantially all of the investments 

are held by same at period end. Investments are held distinct and separately, segregated from the proprietary assets of the 

Depositary’s, with ownership rights remaining with the Company. It is expected that all securities and other assets deposited 

with the Depositary will be clearly identified as being assets of the Company; the Company should not therefore be exposed to 

a credit risk with respect to such parties. However, it may not always be possible to achieve this segregation. The custodial safe-

keeping of assets, particularly abroad, may be associated with a risk of loss that can result from the Depositary, becoming 

insolvent, breaching its duties of care and diligence, or acting in an unlawful manner., The portfolio of the Company may 
experience increased exposure to credit risk associated with the Depositary, causing the Company’s rights with respect to its 

investments held by the Depositary to be delayed or limited. The maximum exposure to this risk is the amount of long 

investments disclosed in the Schedule of Investments. 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit Risk (continued) 
 

Substantially all of the cash of the Company is held with the Societe Generale S.A. (“Previous Depositary”) and Citibank NA 
London (“Sub-custodians”). In respect of the cash held by the Previous Depositary and Sub-custodians the Company will be 

exposed to the credit risk of the Previous Depositary and Sub-custodians. In the event of the insolvency or bankruptcy of the 

Previous Depositary and Sub-custodians, the Company, will be treated as a general creditor in relation to the cash held. 
 

The long term credit rating of Citibank NA London, as at 31 December 2019 is Aa3 and Societe Generale S.A. is A1 (2018: 

Societe Generale S.A. A1) (Moody’s rating). 
 

The global exposure is calculated daily for the Organic Bond Fund and the Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund by the European 
and Global Investments Limited and used with the net asset value as calculated independently by the fund administrator, Apex 

Funds Services (Ireland) Limited. In the event that the fund is exposed to derivative instruments or netting or hedging activity,  

global exposure will be calculated based on the Commitment Approach and uses active monitoring in the current value of the 

underlying assets both pre and post trades, as outlined in the Company’s Risk Management Procedure (‘RMP’) document. The  

Mercantile Diversified Fund, the Mercantile Opportunities Fund, the Long/Short Alpha Fund and the Global Bond Fund does 

not currently use financial derivative instruments. A RMP will be submitted to the Central Bank prior to the Fund engaging in 

any financial derivative transactions. 
 

The carrying amounts of financial assets best represent the maximum risk exposure at the end of the reporting year. The 

following table lists the Sub Fund’s financial assets exposed to credit risk as at 31 December 2019. 
 

 

ORGANIC 

BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total 

 2019 2019 2019 2019 

 GBP US$ GBP GBP 

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss  
 

   

Investments in bonds - - 1,560,069 169,656 

Investments in equities - - 3,203,214 2,996,333 

Investment in mutual funds 734,993 152,151 - 508,022 

Investment in exchange traded fund - - 1,339,023 1,447,475 

Receivables     

Interest receivable - - 8,725 - 

Dividend receivable - - 9,611 796 

Cash and cash equivalents 41,638 42,130 325,908 539,583 

Prepayments and other receivables - - 36 36 

Total  776,631 194,281 6,446,586 5,661,901 
 

  

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA  

Fund Total 

GLOBAL 

 BOND 

 Fund Total Company Total 

  2019 2019 2019 

  GBP GBP US$ 

Financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss  
 

   

Investments in bonds  - - 2,294,135 

Investments in equities  - - 8,222,459 

Investment in mutual funds  - - 1,800,762 

Investment in exchange traded fund  - - 3,695,731 

Receivables     

Interest receivable  - - 11,572 

Dividend receivable  - - 13,803 

Cash and cash equivalents  23,012 40,510 1,329,504 

Prepayments and other receivables  509 581 1,542 

Total   23,521 41,091 17,369,508 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit Risk (continued) 
 

The carrying amounts of financial assets best represent the maximum risk exposure at the end of the reporting year. The 

following table lists the Sub Fund’s financial assets exposed to credit risk as at 31 December 2018. 
 

  

ORGANIC 
BOND 

Fund Total 

ORGANIC 

LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA 

Fund Total 

MERCANTILE 
DIVERSIFIED 

Fund Total 

  2018 2018 2018 

  GBP US$ GBP 

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss  
 

   

Investments in bonds  15,982,686 896,659 2,524,441 

Investments in equities  4,775,740 5,111,255 1,338,715 

Investment in mutual funds  2,182,897 - 601,862 

Investment in exchange traded fund  - - 1,388,020 

Investment in option contracts  - 415 - 

Investments in future  45,720 73,313 - 

Receivables   -  

Interest receivable  860,975 36,793 19,660 

Dividend receivable  5,298 7,272 6,893 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,841,535 1,365,429 1,158,118 

Prepayments and other receivables  - 101 - 

Financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss 
 

   

Options  - (2,500) - 

Future  - (300) - 

Total   25,694,851 7,488,437 7,037,709 

 

   

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Fund Total Company Total 

   2018 2018 

   GBP US$ 

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss  

 
   

Investments in bonds   391,734 24,985,146 

Investments in equities   1,638,959 14,993,757 

Investment in mutual funds   556,258 4,258,461 

Investment in exchange traded fund   1,681,522 3,912,438 

Investment in option contracts   - 415 

Investments in future   - 131,588 

Receivables     

Interest receivable   - 1,159,251 

Dividend receivable   - 22,811 

Cash and cash equivalents   1,635,968 7,273,992 

Prepayments and other receivables   - 101 

Financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss 
 

   

Options   - (2,500) 

Future   - (300) 

Total    5,904,441 56,735,160 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit Risk (continued) 
 

As described in note 8 (c) (iv) below the Sub-Funds invest in certain markets through equity, mutual fund and bonds. As at 31 

December 2019 these equity, mutual fund, bonds, future and exchange traded fund represent 51.35%, 11.24%, 14.33%, 0.00% 

and 23.08% (2018: 31.06%, 8.82%, 51.75%, 0.27% and 8.10%) of the total investments. The individual exposures are held with 

eligible counterparties in accordance with the UCITS Regulations and are within the limits as set out in the UCITS Regulations 

(maximum of 10% where the counterparty is an EU credit institution or equivalent, otherwise 5%). 

 

The credit rating of counterparties to the bonds are shown below. The maximum exposure to each counterparty is the market 

value of the Bonds held with each counterparty which is shown in the Portfolio Statements. The below are counterparties related 

to the four sub funds: 

 

Counterparty Rating Agency 2019 Rating Agency 2018 

 
    

European Depositary Bank SA S&P’s A S&P’s A 

Royal Bank of Scotland International - - S&P’s BBB- 

Bank of America Merrill Lynch - - S&P’s A- 

Berkeley Futures Limited - - N/A NR 

Celadon Financial - - N/A NR 

Circadian Fx Solutions - - N/A NR 

MBH Corporation Plc N/A NR N/A NR 

Valbury Capital Ltd - - N/A NR 

 

The table below shows the credit quality of investment in bonds as of 31 December 2019 as per Standard and Poor’s for the 

Organic Bond Fund, the Organic Long Short Alpha Fund, the Mercantile Diversified Fund and the Mercantile Opportunities 

Fund: 

 

Bond Securities 
Rating  

Agency 2019 

ADV Holding Ltd. 10.00% 03/12/2019 N/A NR 

All Saints Commercial 8.00% 31/12/2023 N/A NR 

Apollo Commercial Property Plc 5.00% 31/12/2025 N/A NR 

Audley Funding Plc 6.00 15/11/2036 S&P BBB+ 

Ballarat Property Plc 5.50% 31/12/2025 N/A NR 

Carpe Valorem 7.00% 29/07/2021 N/A NR 

Emplc 2016-4EU A 3.50% 23/06/2031 N/A NR 

Energy Circle 6.50% 01/12/2023 N/A NR 

Ethika Finance Plc 8.50% 13/01/2022 N/A NR 

Ethiqo Green Energy Plc 7.00% 31/12/2026 N/A NR 

IPO Capital Plc 7.25% 31/03/2022 N/A NR 

Konstanz Finance Ltd 5.53% 10/08/2021 N/A NR 

Konstanz Finance Ltd 6.25% 10/08/2023 N/A NR 

MBH Corporation Plc 19/10/2020 N/A NR 
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(a) Credit Risk (continued) 
 

Bond Securities 
Rating  

Agency 2019 

Progression Escher Marwick Plc 5.50% 19/09/2036 N/A NR 

Progression Escher Marwick Plc 5.50% 17/10/2036 N/A NR 

The Resort Grp Etp 1 GBP Series 2016-04 Emarwick 0.00% 23/06/2031 N/A NR 

TSY 2 1/2% 2020I/L STOCK 2.5% 16/04/2020 S&P AAu 

UK TSY 2% 2020 22/07/2020 S&P AA 

UK TSY 4 1/4%  4.25% 07/06/2032 S&P AAu 

UK TSY 4 1/4% 4.25% 12/07/2027 S&P AAu 

US TREASURY N/B 2.75% 15/02/2028 S&P AAA 

US TREASURY N/B 4.5% 15/02/2036 S&P AAA 

Via Developments 7.00% 19/10/2020 S&P NR 

 

The table below shows the credit quality of investment in bonds as of 31 December 2018 as per Standard and Poor’s for the 

Organic Bond Fund and the Organic Long Short Alpha Fund: 

 

Bond Securities 
Rating  

Agency 2018 

ADV HOLDING LTD 10.00% 03/12/2019 N/A NR 

ALL SAINTS COMMERCIAL 8.00% 31/12/2023 N/A NR 

ANGLO AFRICAN SOLUTIONS LTD 0.00% 22/02/2022 N/A NR 

APOLLO COMMERCIAL PROPERTY PLC 5.00% 31/12/2025 N/A NR 

AUDLEY FUNDING PLC 6.00 15/11/2036 N/A NR 

BAC 6.13% 15/09/2021 S&P A- 

BALLARAT PROPERTY PLC 5.50% 31/12/2025 N/A NR 

BANCOLOMBIA SA 5.13% 11/09/2022 N/A NR 

BUNGE LTD FINANCE CORP 3.25% 15/08/2026 N/A NR 

BUPA FINANCE PLC 5.00% 08/12/2026 N/A NR 

CARPE VALOREM 7.00% 29/07/2021 N/A NR 

CODELCO INC 4.50% 16/09/2025 S&P A+ 

DELTA AIR LINES INC 3.63% 15/03/2022 S&P BB+ 

DEUTSCHE TELEKOM INT FIN 7.375% 04/12/2019 S&P BBB+ 

ECOPET 5.38% 26/06/2026 S&P BBB- 

EMBRAER NETHERLANDS BV 5.05% 15/06/2025 S&P BBB 

EMPLC 2016-4EU A 3.50% 23/06/2031 N/A NR 

EMPRESAS PUBLIC MEDELLIN 7.63% 29/07/2019 N/A NR 

ENERGY CIRCLE 6.50% 01/12/2023 N/A NR 

ENTEL 4.88% 30/10/2024 S&P BBB- 

ETHIKA FINANCE PLC 8.50% 13/01/2022 N/A NR 

ETHIQO GREEN ENERGY PLC 7.00% 31/12/2026 N/A NR 

EVRAZ 6.75% 31/01/2022 S&P BB 

FUNOTR 5.25% 30/01/2026 N/A NR 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(a) Credit Risk (continued) 
 

Bond Securities 
Rating  

Agency 2018 

GAS NATURAL DE LIMA 4.38% 01/04/2023 N/A NR 

GEELY 3.63% 25/01/2023 S&P BBB- 

IFC 7.25% 02/02/2024 S&P AAA 

IPO CAPITAL PLC 7.25% 31/03/2022 N/A NR 

KONSTANZ FINANCE LTD 5.53% 10/08/2021 N/A NR 

KONSTANZ FINANCE LTD 6.25% 10/08/2023 N/A NR 

LONDON STOCK EXCHANGE PL 4.75% 02/11/2021 S&P A- 

MEX BONOS DESARR FIX RT 5.00% 11/12/2019 S&P A- 

MEXICAN UDIBONOS 4.00% 13/06/2019 S&P A- 

OLEODUCTO CENTRAL SA 4.00% 07/05/2021 S&P BBB- 

PEMEX 6.50% 02/06/2041 S&P BBB+ 

PETROLEOS MEXICANOS 7.47%. 12/11/2026 S&P A- 

PROGRESSION ESCHER MARWICK PLC 5.50% 19/09/2036 N/A NR 

PROGRESSION ESCHER MARWICK PLC 5.50% 17/10/2036 N/A NR 

REPUBLIC OF COLOMBIA 7.38% 18/03/2019 S&P BBB- 

REPUBLIC OF PERU 8.20% 12/08/2026 S&P A- 

SIGMA ALIMENTOS SA 2.63% 07/02/2024 S&P BBB 

SSE PLC 4.25% 14/09/2021 S&P BBB+ 

STANDARD CHARTERED PLC 5.13% 06/06/2034 S&P BBB- 

THE RESORT GRP ETP 1 GBP SERIES 2016-04 EMARWICK 0.00% 23/06/2031 N/A NR 

TSY 2.50% 16/04/2020 N/A NR 

UK TSY 2.00% 22/07/2020 N/A NR 

UK TSY 4.25% 12/07/2027 N/A NR 

UK TSY 4.25% 07/06/2032 N/A NR 

US TREASURY N/B 1.88% 31/12/2019 N/A NR 

US TREASURY N/B 2.75% 15/02/2028 N/A NR 

US TREASURY N/B 4.5% 15/02/2036 N/A NR 

VIA DEVELOPMENTS 7.00% 19/10/2020 N/A NR 

WYNN LAS VEGAS LLC/CORP 5.50% 01/03/2025 S&P BB- 

 
(b) Liquidity Risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.  

 

From time to time, the counterparties with which the Company carries out trades might cease making markets or quoting prices 

for investments held in the Company. In such instances, the Company might be unable to enter into a desired transaction in other 

financial instruments, or to enter into any offsetting transaction with respect to an open position, which might adversely affect 
its performance. Similarly, it may not always be possible for the Company to execute a buy or sell order at the desired price or 

to liquidate an open position either due to market conditions or due to the operation of daily price fluctuation limits. If trading 

on an exchange is suspended or restricted, the Company may not be able to execute trades or close out positions on terms which 

the Investment Manager believes are desirable. 

 

The Investment Manager reviews liquidity on an ongoing basis. 

 

The Company maintains sufficient investments in readily realisable equity securities to pay the financial liabilities of the 

Mercantile Diversified Fund and Mercantile Opportunities Fund. 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 

 
(b) Liquidity Risk (continued) 

 

Redemptions 

 
The Company is also exposed to daily redemptions of Redeemable Participating Shares. Non-Participating Shares are 
redeemable at any stage at the option of the holder. 

 
The maturity analysis below shows each of the Sub Fund’s and Company contractual financial assets and liabilities at the end 

of the reporting period. 

 

2019 

ORGANIC BOND Fund Less than 1 – 3 3 Months Over 

 1 Month Months To 1 Year 1 Year 

  GBP GBP GBP GBP 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - - 734,993* 

Cash and cash equivalents 41,638 - - - 

Total Financial Assets 41,638 - - 734,993 

     

Depositary fees payable 285 - - - 

Audit fees payable 6,349 - - - 

Administration fees payable  705 - - - 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 5,143 - - - 

Net assets attributable to Holders of  

Redeemable Participating Shares - - 764,149 - 

Total Financial Liabilities 12,482 - 764,149 - 

 

*These are illiquid securities and was suspended to redemptions in November 2018. An overview of these security of the Sub 
Fund are detailed on page 84. 

 

2019 

ORGANIC LONG/SHORT ALPHA Fund Less than 1 – 3 3 Months Over 

 1 Month Months To 1 Year 1 Year 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 
     
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  - - - 152,151* 

Cash and cash equivalents 42,130 - - - 

Total Financial Assets 42,130 - - 152,151 

     

Depositary fees payable 81 - - - 

Audit fees payable 8,422 - - - 

Administration fees payable  936 - - - 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 6,261 - - - 

Net assets attributable to Holders of  

Redeemable Participating Shares - - 178,581 - 

Total Financial Liabilities 15,700 - 178,581 - 
 

*These are illiquid securities and was suspended to redemptions in November 2018. An overview of these security of the Sub 

Fund are detailed on page 84. 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 

 
(b) Liquidity Risk (continued) 

 

2019 

MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED Fund Less than 1 – 3 3 Months Over 

 1 Month Months To 1 Year 1 Year 

  GBP GBP GBP GBP 

     
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4,542,237 - 593,595 966,474 

Cash and cash equivalents  325,908 - - - 

Interest receivable 8,725 - - - 

Dividend receivable 9,611 - - - 

Prepayments and other receivables 36 - - - 

Total Financial Assets 4,886,517 - 593,595 966,474 

     

Management fees payable 2,805 - - - 

Depositary fees payable 8,168 - - - 

Directors fees payable 3,003 - - - 

Audit fees payable 6,349 - - - 

Administration fees payable  3,596 - - - 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 11,916 - - - 

Net assets attributable to Holders of  

Redeemable Participating Shares 6,410,749 - - - 

Total Financial Liabilities 6,446,586 - - - 

 

2019 

MERCANTILE OPPORTUNITIES Fund Less than 1 – 3 3 Months Over 

 1 Month Months To 1 Year 1 Year 

  GBP GBP GBP GBP 
     
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4,443,808 - 169,656 508,022 

Cash and cash equivalents  539,583 - - - 

Dividend receivable 796 - - - 

Prepayments and other receivables 36 - - - 

Total Financial Assets 4,984,223 - 169,656 508,022 

     

Management fees payable 2,444 - - - 

Depositary fees payable 16,915 - - - 

Directors fees payable 3,003 - - - 

Audit fees payable 6,349 - - - 

Administration fees payable  3,596 - - - 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 10,890 - - - 

Net assets attributable to Holders of  

Redeemable Participating Shares 5,618,704 - - - 

Total Financial Liabilities 5,661,901 - - - 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity Risk (continued) 
 

2019 

LONG/SHORT ALPHA Fund Less than 1 – 3 3 Months Over 

 1 Month Months To 1 Year 1 Year 

  GBP GBP GBP GBP 
     
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - - - 

Cash and cash equivalents  23,012 - - - 

Prepayments and other receivables 509 - - - 

Total Financial Assets 23,521 - - - 

     

Depositary fees payable 6,540 - - - 

Directors fees payable 1,904 - - - 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 15,077 - - - 

Net assets attributable to Holders of  

Redeemable Participating Shares - - - - 

Total Financial Liabilities 23,521 - - - 

 

2019 

GLOBAL BOND Fund Less than 1 – 3 3 Months Over 

 1 Month Months To 1 Year 1 Year 

  GBP GBP GBP GBP 
     
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - - - 

Cash and cash equivalents  40,510 - - - 

Prepayments and other receivables 581 - - - 

Total Financial Assets 41,091 - - - 

     

Management fees payable 219 - - - 

Depositary fees payable 6,540 - - - 

Directors fees payable 2,575 - - - 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 31,757 - - - 

Net assets attributable to Holders of  

Redeemable Participating Shares - - - - 

Total Financial Liabilities 41,091 - - - 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity Risk (continued) 
 

2019 

Company Less than 1 – 3 3 Months Over 

 1 Month Months To 1 Year 1 Year 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 

     
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 11,918,191 - 1,012,300 3,082,596 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,329,504 - - - 

Interest receivable 11,572 - - - 

Dividend receivable 13,803 - - - 

Prepayments and other receivables 1,542 - - - 

Total Financial Assets 13,274,612 - 1,012,300 3,082,596 

     

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 

loss - - - - 

Management fees payable 7,251 - - - 

Depositary fees payable 51,074 - - - 

Directors fees payable 13,906 - - - 

Audit fees payable 33,688 - - - 

Administration fees payable  11,409 - - - 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 105,445 - - - 

Net assets attributable to Holders of  

Redeemable Participating Shares 15,954,663 - 1,192,072 - 

Total Financial Liabilities 16,177,436 - 1,192,072 - 

 

2018 
ORGANIC BOND Fund Less than 1 – 3 3 Months Over 

 1 Month Months To 1 Year 1 Year 

  GBP GBP GBP GBP 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - 22,997,043 - 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,841,535 - - - 

Interest receivable 860,975 - - - 

Dividend receivable 5,298 - - - 

Total Financial Assets 2,707,808 - 22,997,043 - 

     

Management fees payable 67,201  - - - 

Depositary fees payable 4,419 - - - 

Directors fees payable 2,061 - - - 

Audit fees payable 6,739 - - - 

Administration fees payable  7,257 - - - 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 41,339 - - - 

Net assets attributable to Holders of  

Redeemable Participating Shares - - 25,565,835 - 

Total Financial Liabilities 129,016 - 25,565,835 - 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity Risk (continued) 

 

2018 

ORGANIC LONG/SHORT ALPHA Fund Less than 1 – 3 3 Months Over 

 1 Month Months To 1 Year 1 Year 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 
     
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  - - 6,081,642 - 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,365,429 - - - 

Interest receivable 36,793 - - - 

Dividend receivable 7,272 - - - 

Prepayments and other receivables 101 - - - 

Total Financial Assets 1,409,595 - 6,081,642 - 

     
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 

loss 2,500 300 - - 

Management fees payable 17,761 - - - 

Depositary fees payable 9,212 - - - 

Directors fees payable 2,579 - - - 

Audit fees payable 8,589 - - - 

Administration fees payable  9,571 - - - 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 26,502 - - - 

Net assets attributable to Holders of  

Redeemable Participating Shares - - 7,414,222 - 

Total Financial Liabilities 76,715 300 7,414,222 - 

 

2018 

MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED Fund Less than 1 – 3 3 Months Over 

 1 Month Months To 1 Year 1 Year 

  GBP GBP GBP GBP 

     
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2,726,735 - 150,573 2,975,730 

     Cash and cash equivalents 1,158,118 - - - 

Interest receivable 19,660 - - - 

Dividend receivable 6,893 - - - 

Total Financial Assets 3,911,406            - 150,573 2,975,730 

     
Management fees payable 2,581 - - - 

Depositary fees payable 6,228 - - - 

Directors fees payable 1,874 - - - 

Audit fees payable 1,797 - - - 

Administration fees payable  8,271 - - - 

Due to broker 11,326 - - - 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 7,997 - - - 

Net assets attributable to Holders of  

Redeemable Participating Shares 6,997,635 - - - 

Total Financial Liabilities 7,037,709 - - - 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity Risk (continued) 

 

2018 

MERCANTILE OPPORTUNITIES Fund Less than 1 – 3 3 Months Over 

 1 Month Months To 1 Year 1 Year 

  GBP GBP GBP GBP 
     
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,320,481 - - 947,992 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,635,968 - - - 

Total Financial Assets 4,956,449 - - 947,992 

     

Management fees payable 2,090 - - - 

Depositary fees payable 8,640 - - - 

Directors fees payable 1,874 - - - 

Audit fees payable 1,797 - - - 

Administration fees payable  8,271 - - - 

Due to broker 55,282 - - - 

Redemption payable 1,896 - - - 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 7,486 - - - 

Net assets attributable to Holders of  

Redeemable Participating Shares 5,817,105 - - - 

Total Financial Liabilities 5,904,441 - - - 

 

2018 

Company Less than 1 – 3 3 Months Over 

 1 Month Months To 1 Year 1 Year 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 

     
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 18,477,519 283,275 1,091,283 28,429,728 

Cash and cash equivalents  7,273,992 - - - 

Interest receivable 1,159,251 - - - 

Dividend receivable 22,811 - - - 

Prepayments and other receivables 101 - - - 

Total Financial Assets 26,933,674 283,275 1,091,283 28,429,728 

     

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 

loss 2,500 300 - - 

Management fees payable 109,369 - - - 

Depositary fees payable 33,795 - - - 

Directors fees payable 9,984 - - - 

Audit fees payable 21,759 - - - 

Administration fees payable  39,905 - - - 

Due to broker 84,898 - - - 

Redemption payable 2,417 - - - 

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 98,928 - - - 

Net assets attributable to Holders of  

Redeemable Participating Shares 56,334,104 - - - 

Total Financial Liabilities 56,737,660 300 - - 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(c) Market Risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate. Market risk comprises three 

types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk. 

 

Some of the recognised exchanges in which the Company may invest may be less well-regulated than those in developed markets 

and may prove to be illiquid, insufficiently liquid or highly volatile from time to time. This may affect the price at which the 

Company may liquidate positions to meet redemption requests or other funding requirements. In addition, the investments of 

the Company are subject to normal market fluctuations and the risks inherent to investment in international securities markets 

and there can be no assurances that appreciation or preservation of capital will occur.  

 

Details for each of the Sub Fund’s investment portfolio at 31 December 2019 are disclosed in the Portfolio Statement on 

pages101 to 115. 

 

(i) Price Risk  

 
Price risk is the risk of changes in the fair values of equities or equity-linked derivatives as the result of changes in market prices. 

The equity price risk exposure arises from each of the Sub Fund’s investments in equity securities and from equity-linked 

derivatives.  

 

The Directors manage the market price risk inherent in the Company’s portfolio by ensuring full and timely access to relevant 

information from the Investment Manager. The Directors seek to ensure that an appropriate proportion for each of the Fund’s 

portfolio is invested in cash and readily realisable securities, which are sufficient to meet any funding commitments that may 

arise. 

 

As each of the Sub Fund’s financial instruments are carried at fair value with fair value changes recognised in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income, all changes in market price will directly affect net investment income. 

 

The following is an analysis of the each of the Sub Fund’s investment portfolio by industry diversification, net of the long and 

short positions held by the each of the Sub Fund as at the reporting date: 

 

 

ORGANIC BOND Fund 

2019 

% of investments 

2018 

% of investments 
Basic Materials - 6.10% 

Communications - 26.21% 

Consumer, Cyclical - 5.37% 

Consumer, Non-cyclical - 9.37% 

Diversified Financial Services - 4.81% 

Energy - 4.60% 

Financial - 4.00% 

Funds 100.00% 31.16% 

Future - 0.65% 

Industrial - 4.20% 

Technology - 3.53% 
 100% 100% 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(c) Market Risk (continued) 
 

(i) Price Risk (continued) 

 

 

ORGANIC LONG/SHORT ALPHA Fund 

2019 

% of investments 

2018 

% of investments 
Basic Materials - 5.70% 

Communications - 30.12% 

Consumer, Cyclical - 15.16% 

Consumer, Non-cyclical - 20.57% 

Diversified Financial Services - 1.64% 

Energy - 6.94% 

Financial - 4.21% 

Funds 100.00% 5.39% 

Future - 1.41% 

Industrial - 0.97% 

Technology - 4.27% 
Utilities - 3.62% 

 100% 100% 

 

 

MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED Fund 

2019 

% of investments 

2018 

% of investments 
Basic Materials 5.15% - 

Communications 6.54% 9.54% 

Consumer, Cyclical 8.81% - 

Consumer, Non-cyclical 13.30% 2.91% 

Energy 2.59% 7.06% 

Financial 13.51% 20.71% 

Funds 34.24% 59.78% 
Non-Financial corporations 13.41% - 

Technology 2.45% - 

 100% 100% 

 

 

MERCANTILE OPPORTUNITIES Fund 

2019 

% of investments 

2018 

% of investments 
Basic Materials 4.26% - 

Communications 7.33% 6.11% 

Consumer, Cyclical 5.73% 15.65% 

Consumer, Non-cyclical 5.89% 4.79% 
Equity 2.82% - 

Financial 15.37% 10.82% 

Funds 43.19% 57.72% 

Investment funds (IFs) 1.96% - 

Non-Financial corporations 6.98% - 

Technology 6.47% 4.91% 

 100% 100% 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(c) Market Risk (continued) 
 
(i) Price Risk (continued) 

 

As at 31 December 2019, the Long/Short Alpha Fund and the Global Bond Fund did not hold equity or equity linked derivatives, 

therefore the Sub-Funds are not exposed to the price risk. 

 

Sensitivity Analysis 
At the 31 December 2019, had the stock price strengthened by 5% with all other variables held constant, Net Assets attributable 

to the holders of redeemable participating shares would have increased by GBP36,750 (2018: GBP1,149,352) on the Organic 

Bond Fund, by USD7,608 (2018: USD303,942) on the Organic Long Short Alpha Fund, by GBP305,115 (2018: GBP292,652) 

on the Mercantile Diversified Fund and by GBP256,074 (2018: GBP213,424) on the Mercantile Opportunities Fund. A 5% 

weakening of the global equity markets with all other variables held constant would have resulted in an equal but opposite effect. 

Actual trading results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference may be material. 

 

(ii) Interest rate risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 

market interest rates. 

 
The majority of the Company’s financial assets are listed in bond investments which are characterized by short duration and 

high rating and as such the impact of the interest rate risk, results to be low on these investments. 
 

Sensitivity Analysis 
The sensitivity of the Sub-Fund's comprehensive income for the year and the Net Assets attributable to holders of redeemable 

Participating shares to a reasonable possible change in interest rates by 1%, with all other variables held constant would have 

resulted in increase in interest income of USD344 (2018: USD17,484) on The Organic Bond Fund, USD274 (2018: USD800) 

on The Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund, USD744 (2018: USD507) on The Mercantile Diversified Fund, USD25 (2018: USD19) 

on The Mercantile Opportunities Fund, USD10 on The Long/Short Alpha Fund and USD30 on The Global Bond Fund. 

 
The Company’s interest rate exposure is also to its cash and cash equivalent holdings which are detailed in Note 5 and also 

interest earned on bonds as disclosed in Note 8(a). 
 

Organic Bond Fund - 2019 

              Assets                                      Interest bearing                        Non-Interest bearing                              Total  

Fund Investment - 734,993 734,993 

Cash - 41,638 41,638 

 

Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund - 2019 

              Assets                                      Interest bearing                        Non-Interest bearing                              Total  

Fund Investment - 152,151 152,151 

Cash - 42,130 42,130 

 

Mercantile Diversified Fund- 2019 

              Assets                                      Interest bearing                        Non-Interest bearing                              Total  

Bonds 1,560,069 - 1,560,069 

Equities - 3,203,214 3,203,214 

Exchange Traded Fund - 1,339,022 1,339,022 

Cash - 325,908 325,908 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(c) Market Risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued) 

 

Sensitivity Analysis (continued) 

 

Mercantile Opportunities Fund- 2019 

              Assets                                      Interest bearing                        Non-Interest bearing                              Total  

Bonds 169,656 - 169,656 

Equities - 2,996,333 2,996,333 

Fund Investment - 508,022 508,022 

Exchange Traded Fund - 1,447,475 1,447,475 

Cash - 539,583 539,583 

 

Long/Short Alpha Fund - 2019 

              Assets                                      Interest bearing                        Non-Interest bearing                              Total  

Cash  23,012 23,012 

 

Global Bond Fund- 2019 

              Assets                                      Interest bearing                        Non-Interest bearing                              Total  

Cash - 40,510 40,510 

 

Organic Bond Fund - 2018 

              Assets                                      Interest bearing                        Non-Interest bearing                              Total  

Bonds 15,982,686 - 15,982,686 

Equities - 4,775,740 4,775,740 

Future - 45,720 45,720 

Fund Investment - 2,182,897 2,182,897 

Cash - 1,841,535 1,841,535 

 

Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund - 2018 
              Assets                                      Interest bearing                        Non-Interest bearing                              Total  

Bonds 896,659 - 896,659 

Equities - 5,111,255 5,111,255 

Option - 415 415 

Future - 73,313 73,313 

Cash - 1,365,429 1,365,429 

 

Mercantile Diversified Fund- 2018 

              Assets                                      Interest bearing                        Non-Interest bearing                              Total  

Bonds 2,524,441 - 2,524,441 

Equities - 1,338,715 1,338,715 

Fund Investment - 601,862 601,862 

Exchange Traded Fund - 1,388,020 1,388,020 

Cash - 1,158,118 1,158,118 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(c) Market Risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued) 

 

Sensitivity Analysis (continued) 
 

Mercantile Opportunities Fund- 2018 

              Assets                                      Interest bearing                        Non-Interest bearing                              Total  

Bonds 391,734 - 391,734 

Equities - 1,638,959 1,638,959 

Fund Investment - 556,258 556,258 

Exchange Traded Fund - 1,681,522 1,681,522 

Cash - 1,635,968 1,635,968 

 

(iii) Currency risk 

 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 

foreign exchange rates. 

 

Sensitivity Analysis 
A significant portion of the Company’s assets may be denominated in a currency other than the base currency of the Company,  

the Fund or a Class. There is the risk that the value of such assets and/or the value of any distributions from such assets may 

decrease if the underlying currency in which assets are traded falls relative to the base currency in which Shares of the relevant 

Fund are valued and priced. The Company is not required to hedge its foreign currency risk, although it may do so through  

foreign currency exchange contracts, forward contracts, currency options and other methods. 

 

To the extent that the Company does not hedge its foreign currency risk or such hedging is incomplete or unsuccessful, the value 

of that Company’s assets and income could be adversely affected by currency exchange rate movements. There may also be 

circumstances in which a hedging transaction may reduce currency gains that would otherwise arise in the valuation of the 

Company in circumstances where no such hedging transactions are undertaken. 

 

2019 
Financial 

assets at fair 

value through 

profit or loss 

Financial 

liabilities at 
fair value 

through 

profit or loss 

Other net 

assets / 

(liabilities) 

Net assets / 

(liabilities) 

Total 

Exposure ORGANIC BOND Fund 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP % 

Canadian Dollar - - 1 1 0.00% 

Euro* 238,240 - 28,571 266,811 99.61% 

Mexican Peso* - - 1 1 0.00% 

United States Dollar - - 1,057 1,057 0.39% 

 238,240 - 29,630 267,870 100.00% 

*Currencies are for Share Class Hedging – Actual trading results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference may be material. 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(c) Market Risk (continued) 
 

(iii) Currency risk (continued) 

 

Sensitivity Analysis (continued) 
 

2018 
Financial 

assets at fair 

value through 
profit or loss 

Financial 

liabilities at 

fair value 

through 
profit or loss 

Other net 

assets / 
(liabilities) 

Net assets / 
(liabilities) 

Total 
Exposure ORGANIC BOND Fund 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP % 

Canadian Dollar 67,809 - 9 67,818 0.54% 

Swiss Franc 341,915 - - 341,915 2.71% 

Hong Kong Dollar 804,716 - 53 804,769 6.39% 

Euro* 2,050,797 - (28,564) 2,022,233 16.05% 

Japanese yen 161,299 - 1,694 162,993 1.29% 

Mexican Peso* 1,739,576 - 35,959 1,775,535 14.09% 

Peruvian New Sol 129,994 - 3,498 133,492 1.06% 

UDI 261,857 - 500 262,357 2.08% 

United States Dollar 6,293,383 - 736,153 7,029,536 55.79% 

 11,851,346 - 749,302 12,600,648 100.00% 

*Currencies are for Share Class Hedging – Actual trading results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference may be material.  

 

At the 31 December 2019, had the GBP strengthened by 5% in relation to all currencies, with all other variables held constant,  

net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares would have decreased by GBP13,394 (2018: GBP630,032). 

 

A 5% weakening of the GBP against the above currencies would have resulted in an equal but opposite effect on the above 

financial statement amounts to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant. 
 

2019 
Financial 

assets at fair 

value through 

profit or loss 

Financial 

liabilities at 

fair value 

through 

profit or loss 

Other net 

assets / 

(liabilities) 

Net assets / 

(liabilities) 

Total 

Exposure 

ORGANIC LONG/SHORT 

ALPHA Fund 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ % 

Euro* - - (5,603) (5,603) (3.41)% 

Great Britain pound* 152,151 - 17,575 169,726 103.41% 

Hong Kong Doller - - 4 4 0.00% 

 152,151 - 11,976 164,127 100.00% 
 

2018 
Financial 

assets at fair 

value through 
profit or loss 

Financial 

liabilities at 

fair value 

through 
profit or loss 

Other net 

assets / 
(liabilities) 

Net assets / 
(liabilities) 

Total 
Exposure 

ORGANIC LONG/SHORT 
ALPHA Fund 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ % 

Euro* 435,346 - 13,397 448,743 18.36% 

Great Britain pound* 1,633,601 - 273,083 1,906,684 78.03% 

Hong Kong Dollar 88,098 - - 88,098 3.61% 

 2,157,045 - 286,480 2,443,525 100.00% 

*Currencies are for Share Class Hedging – Actual trading results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference may be material. 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(c) Market Risk (continued) 
 

(iii) Currency risk (continued) 

 

Sensitivity Analysis (continued) 
 

At the 31 December 2019, had the US Dollar strengthened by 5% in relation to all currencies, with all other variables held 

constant, net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares would have decreased by US$8,206 (2018: 

US$122,176). 

 

A 5% weakening of the US Dollar against the above currencies would have resulted in an equal but opposite effect on the above 

financial statement amounts to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant. 

 

2019 
Financial 

assets at fair 

value through 

profit or loss 

Financial assets  

at fair value  

through other 

comprehensive 

income 

Other net 

assets / 

(liabilities) 

Net assets / 

(liabilities) 

Total 

Exposure 

MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED 

Fund 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP % 

Euro* 844,736 - (26,176) 818,560 25.35% 

United States Dollar 929,971 - 11,871 941,842 29.16% 

Australian Dollar 182,413 - 28,030 210,443 6.52% 

Canadian Dollar 307,402 - 3,299 310,701 9.62% 

Swiss Franc 125,458 - 328 125,786 3.89% 

Hong Kong Dollar 712,345 - 11,304 723,649 22.41% 

Swedish Krona Equals 96,761 - 1,907 98,668 3.05% 

 3,199,086 - 30,563 3,229,649 100.00% 

 

2018 
Financial 

assets at fair 

value through 

profit or loss 

Financial assets  

at fair value  
through other 

comprehensive 

income 

Other net 

assets / 

(liabilities) 

Net assets / 

(liabilities) 

Total 

Exposure 

MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED 

Fund 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP % 

Euro* 530,750 - (13,767) 516,983 32.53% 

United States Dollar 1,058,644 - 13,721 1,072,365 67.47% 

 1,589,394 - (46) 1,589,348 100.00% 

*Currencies are for Share Class Hedging – Actual trading results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference may be material. 

 

At the 31 December 2019, had the GBP strengthened by 5% in relation to all currencies, with all other variables held constant, 
net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares would have decreased by GBP161,482 (2018: 
GBP79,467). 
 

A 5% weakening of the GBP against the above currencies would have resulted in an equal but opposite effect on the above 

financial statement amounts to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant. 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(c) Market Risk (continued) 
 

(iii) Currency risk (continued) 

 

2019 
Financial 

assets at fair 

value through 

profit or loss 

Financial 

liabilities at 

fair value 

through 

profit or loss 

Other net 

assets / 

(liabilities) 

Net assets / 

(liabilities) 

Total 

Exposure 

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES Fund 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP % 

Euro* 718,782 - (28,350) 690,432 38.92% 

Hong Kong Dollar - - 3 3 0.00% 

United States Dollar 1,074,203 - 9,448 1,083,651 61.08% 

 1,792,985 - (18,899) 1,774,086 100.00% 

 

2018 
Financial 

assets at fair 

value through 

profit or loss 

Financial 

liabilities at 

fair value 

through 

profit or loss 

Other net 

assets / 

(liabilities) 

Net assets / 

(liabilities) 

Total 

Exposure 

MERCANTILE 

OPPORTUNITIES Fund 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP % 

Euro* 841,382  - 118,849 960,231 56.54% 

United States Dollar 732,495 - 5,649 738,144 43.46% 

 1,573,877 - 124,498 1,698,375 100.00% 

*Currencies are for Share Class Hedging – Actual trading results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference may be material. 

 

At the 31 December 2019, had the GBP strengthened by 5% in relation to all currencies, with all other variables held constant, 
net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares would have decreased by GBP88,704 (2018: GBP84,919). 
 

A 5% weakening of the GBP against the above currencies would have resulted in an equal but opposite effect on the above 

financial statement amounts to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant. 

 

2019 
Financial 

assets at fair 

value through 

profit or loss 

Financial 

liabilities at 

fair value 

through 

profit or loss 

Other net 

assets / 

(liabilities) 

Net assets / 

(liabilities) 

Total 

Exposure LONG/SHORT ALPHA Fund 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP % 

Euro* - - (153) (153) (84.53%) 

Hong Kong dollar - - 6 6 3.31% 

United States Dollar - - 328 328 181.22% 

 - - 181 181 100.00% 

*Currencies are for Share Class Hedging – Actual trading results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference may be material. 

 
At the 31 December 2019, had the GBP strengthened by 5% in relation to all currencies, with all other variables held constant, 
net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares would have decreased by GBP9. 
 
A 5% weakening of the GBP against the above currencies would have resulted in an equal but opposite effect on the above 
financial statement amounts to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant. 
 



82  

 

THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)  

 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 
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(c) Market Risk (continued) 
 

(iii) Currency risk (continued) 
 

In Global Bond Fund, all financial assets and liabilities are denominated in GBP. As a result, there was no significant foreign 
exchange risk for the period ended 31 December 2019. 
 
Actual trading results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference may be material.  
 

(iv) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities  
 

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation 
technique: 
 -Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

-Level 2: those involving inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and 

-Level 3: those whose inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

The Company’s investments as at 31 December 2019 in unlisted bond investments fall under both Level 2 and Level 3 category.  
 

At 31 December 2019, all financial investments were held at their estimated fair value based on available market information. 
For other financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, interest receivable and other assets, amounts receivable on 

securities sold, amounts payable for securities purchased, accounts payable and, administration fees payable, the carrying 

amounts approximate fair value due to the immediate or short-term nature of these financial instruments. 
 

ORGANIC BOND Fund Fair value 

31 December 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP 

Financial assets measured at fair value     
Investments in funds - - 734,993 734,993 

  - - 734,993 734,993 
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(c) Market Risk (continued) 

 

(iv) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

The above level 3 securities valued at GBP734,993 include the below holdings: 
 

2019  

% of NAV Description GBP Fair Value 

   

ADV Holding Ltd. 10.00% 03/12/2019 - 0.00% 

All Saints Commercial 8.00% 31/12/2023 - 0.00% 

Audley Funding Plc 6.00 15/11/2036 - 0.00% 

Ballarat Property Plc 5.50% 31/12/2025 - 0.00% 

Carpe Valorem 7.00% 29/07/2021 - 0.00% 

Emplc 2016-4EU A 3.50% 23/06/2031 - 0.00% 

Energy Circle 6.50% 01/12/2023 - 0.00% 

Ethika Finance Plc 8.50% 13/01/2022 - 0.00% 

Ethika Sustainable Impact Fund EUR Class A 238,240 31.18% 

Ethika Sustainable Impact Fund EUR Class B 496,753 65.01% 

ETI Securities Plc - 0.00% 

IPO Capital Plc 7.25% 31/03/2022 - 0.00% 

Konstanz Finance Ltd. Aug 21 5.525%. - 0.00% 

Konstanz Finance Ltd. Aug 23 6.25% - 0.00% 

Progression Escher Marwick Plc 5.50% 17/10/2036 - 0.00% 

The Resort Grp Etp 1 GBP Series 2016-04 Emarwick 0.00% 23/06/2031 - 0.00% 

Via Developments 7.00% 19/10/2020 - 0.00% 

   

 
The information used in carrying out the valuation of the level 3 instruments as at 31 December 2019 is based on: 
 

1.   Market price sources (Bloomberg), broker valuations and market liquidity premia. Such information is checked against 
other data relating to the security, such as the status of coupon payments. 

2.   In the absence of such information a credit risk of assessment has been carried out using the most up to date information         
on the issuer and the underlying collateral. Where possible news on the issuer has been collated and updated periodically 

3.  The valuations also implicitly take account of estimates of default probability and recovery rate based on market  
assumptions for similar assets. 

4.  Sensitivity to assumptions have also where relevant been reported 
 
Outlined is specific details relating to the positions listed in the above table. 
 
The COVID-19 / Coronavirus outbreak has further impaired the value of the securities held in the portfolios of the Organic Bond 
and Organic Long Short fund. 
 
The most significant downward adjustment concerns the positions which are linked to loans to The Resort Group PLC (TRG). 
TRG is a property company with a focus on investments in tourism in Capo Verde. Over the past decade they have built at least 
three resort on Sal Island which are currently managed by the Meliá Group. There have been plans to complete further resorts 
on the islands (notably for the Hilton hotels group) but these have been repeatedly delayed owing to the inability to raise 
financing.  
 
TRG is heavily indebted and currently in discussions to restructure its debt. The latest financial statements were published in 
2017 and describe a significantly impaired financial position. 
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(iv) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

CORONAVIRUS will have significantly worsened this situation:  
 

(i) The deep recession engendered by COVID-19 and the measures to restrict movement will have a major impact on 
tourism. The World Tourism Organisation estimates a contraction in tourism worldwide of up to 30% in. Share prices 
of hotel groups have fallen by close to 80%. 

(ii) several major travel groups on which TRG was relying have either entered bankruptcy (Thomas Cook) or required 
emergency financing (TUI). Pre-sale agreements are likely to plummet in coming months furthering deepening the 
travails of the property group 

(iii) the disruption will further delay the construction projects in which TRG is involved (Boa Vista for the Steigenberger 
Group has already been delayed from 2020 to 2022) 

(iv) in light of (i-iii), credit spreads are widening and inevitably heavily indebted companies such as TRG will face difficulty 
in refinancing their outstanding debt. 
 

These developments suggest that the prospect of recovery on the Resort group related assets is very low and the already 
conservative valuations need another consistent downgrading. At this juncture the chances of recovery appear very low and the 
probability of finding a buyer extremely unlikely. This warrants a valuation of zero on these positions.  
 

Audley 6 11/15/36 Corp      GB00BYWLR183 
THE RESORT GRP ETP 1 GBP SERIES 2016-04 EMARWICK.  GB00BD4F3X58 
PROGRESSION ESCHER MARWICK PLC 5.5% 10/17/36 CORP. GB00BD0FRG07 
EMPLC 2016-4EU A 3.5% 06/23/2031.     GB00BD4F4095 
 

In addition to being held directly by the fund, these securities are also held by the Ethika Sustainable Impact Fund (GBP Class 
B, ISIN: MT7000013249 and EUR Class A, ISIN: MT7000013231). Accordingly, the valuations of those two classes have been 
written down further from 55 to 33.5. 
 

Ethika Sustainable Impact Fund EUR Class A 
Cost:                          GBP 831,183 
Fair Value:               GBP 238,240 (2018: GBP 483,076) 
% of NAV:                31.18% 
 

Ethika Sustainable Impact Fund GBP Class B 
Cost:                         GBP 1,500,123 
Fair Value:              GBP 496,753 (2018: GBP 949,021) 
% of NAV:               65.01% 
 

The Ethika SICAV was suspended to redemptions in November 2018.  
 

During the course of 2019, a series of enquiries (in collaboration with the only other shareholder, WAY Fund managers were 
made to the former investment manager, Altarius (No information has been provided by the fund administrator APEX Malta). 
It has been possible to obtain detailed information regarding the fund. In particular, Altarius has provide a breakdown of the 
current portfolio and its evolution over the past three years. While such data is not audited it represents a good basis for carrying 
out a tentative valuation of the funds. 
 

Some of the securities held in the portfolio of the Ethika Sustainable Finance fund are also held directly by the Organic bond or 
Organic Long/Short fund (e.g. Carpe Valorem) and/or issued by the same issuer (e.g. Escher Marwick). One of the bonds held 
by the fund was issued by Organic IS; it has been written off. Altarius has also considered other securities as impaired. However, 
a number of securities are still held at par. Altarius estimates the overall NAV of the fund at roughly €3.5 million (inclusive of 
liabilities). This suggests an estimated share value of 68 and 70 for the GBP and EUR share classes. This value is slightly higher 
than the NAV estimate of 64 provided in the financial statements for end-2018.  
 

The “haircut” applied to the Altarius valuation appears justified in light of the following: 
 

 The Altarius estimate considers the two Escher Marwick positions at par. The largest underlying exposure through these 
securities is to Just Cash Flow plc a specialist lender to UK SME. The company posted strong revenue growth in 2018 but 
also made significant losses. It is heavily dependent on the support of its parent company, the JLG Group and the financial 
statements debentures are secured on first charge against all the assets of the group. The Group at end-2018 appeared to 
have a strong cash position although it too recorded significant losses (and additional impairments to subsidiaries).  
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(iv) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
 Despite the value of three positions are considered impaired (75%) interest on these securities has continued to be accrued. 
 
 Altarius (as EGI with the Organic fund) has been unable to sell the positions, 

 
 Altarius has also informed of legal proceedings in Northern Ireland instigated by a former director of the fund (Gareth 

O’Connell). This follows on a similar court case in Malta. 
 
The above holdings are ones impacted by the COVID 19 situation noted above.  
 
The below securities were written down to zero during the period. 
 
ADV Holding Ltd 
Cost:                         GBP 1,845,240 
Fair Value 2019:    GBP Nil (2018: GBP 380,512) 
% of NAV:               0.00% 
 

On 31 August 2017 the issuer announced that trespassers had prevent the Issuer from exercising full physical and legal control 
over the Properties. The Issuer has taken appropriate and available commercial and legal measures within Angola in its efforts 
to re-establish possession and control over the Properties and ensure that the collection of rental revenues from the Properties 
continues to the extent possible. Angolan courts had failed to carry out any enforcement orders. As a result the coupon payments 
have been suspended. 
 

It is difficult to foresee the outcome of any legal proceeding; the properties continue to be in the hands of trespassers two years 
after the occupation. Giving the impending maturity of the bond it is difficult not to foresee that repayment will be seriously 
delayed. The assets should be considered impaired. 
 

In November 2019, a notice to bondholders asked for the extension of the maturity date by two years to 3 December 2021, an 
option for the Issuer to redeem all or part of the Bonds at par plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, a waiver for 
any breach or event of default and that the bonds will no longer be listed on the Irish Stock Exchange. The bonds ceased to be 
admitted to trading on 31 May 2019. 
 

In early 2019, Angola entered into a settlement agreement in which it agreed to make a lump-sum of $47.5 million to the Issuer 
in exchange for it to relinquish all its rights and claims relating to the properties. The Angolan government later failed to make 
the lump-sum and further legal proceedings in US courts were made in May 2019 against it for refusal to honour the settlement 
and should have seen traction by the end of that year. Legal proceedings have expended extensive corporate resources but 
allowed the Issuer to gain support from the US government and members of Congress and the Treasury which should expedite 
the successful resolution of the matter. 
 

There is some possibility that a minimal recovery may occur. A valuation of the timing and amount is however subject to extreme 
uncertainty: the bond may potentially be worthless or alternatively it may be possible that a small percentage of face value may 
eventually be recovered if legal proceedings are successful.  
 

The Angolan government appointed in 2017 has been attempting to reduce corruption and money laundering perpetrated by 
government officials of the previous administration, as indicated by the recent prosecution for fraud and embezzlement and 
freezing of assets of the former president’s daughter, Isabel dos Santos. While there appear to be no connections between the  
former president and the trespassers, the ADV structure appears to have linkages to PEPs and was also mentioned in the Panama 
Papers. It is not clear whether the current government could consider ADV as part of a corrupt scheme.  
 

In light of these considerations, it seems appropriate to fully write down the valuation to $0. 
 
Ethika Finance Plc 8.50% 13/01/2022 
Cost:                     GBP300,338  
Fair Value 2019: GBP Nil (2018: GBP 104,115) 
% of NAV:           0.00% 
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(iv) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

Ethika Finance Plc is a specialist UK funding company which raises capital from public and private sources for the purpose of 
investing in UK companies. Ethika Finance Plc has a management and advisory team which includes specialists in underwriting, 
capital raising and the ongoing management of specialist finance transactions. According to their website, so far there is only 
project in development which is the GBP 20 million secured fixed rate notes due in 2022. 
 

The bond is listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange but is currently very illiquid, with minimal to no trading activity. Fair value 
valuations in the Multi-Manager UCITS Platform Fund PLC financial accounts have reduced the value of the investment from 
GBP 317,165 in December 2017 to GBP 104,115. Coupon payments of £ 25,285.12 have been paid on schedule on 17 January 
2018 and 21 January 2019 However, an announcement on 13 January 2020 stated that interest due on the Notes that day was 
not made as a result of non-payment of amounts owed to the Issuer by Wesley Limited, the sponsor of Allied Care Group, which 
made payment to Noteholders impossible due to funding constraints. The Issuer will give an update on the actions it is planning 
to take by 13 April 2020.  
 

Insofar as the issuer has been unable to pay coupon payments in time and pending further action, we increase the likelihood of 
default to 100%. 
 
Carpe Valorem 7.00% 29/07/2021 
Cost:                      GBP 200,000 
Fair Value 2019:  GBP Nil (2018: GBP 136,000)  
% of NAV:           0.00% 
 

The valuations of Carpe Valorem have been gradually reduced in line with the information received from the issuer and other 
investors. In conversation the issuer has suggested that the Potential Recovery is very low (<20%). Furthermore, the 
communication received from the Trustee hints at a number unpaid expenses. 
 

The Trustee has informed that Carpe Valorem should be sending a restructuring by the end of February. There do not appear at 
present sufficient grounds to believe that there will be significant recovery of assets. A revised valuation of £0 is reflective of 
the heightened uncertainty and the overall illiquidity of the claim. 
 

All Saints Commercial 8.00% 31/12/2023 
Cost:                     GBP 867,600 
Fair Value 2019: GBP Nil (2018: GBP 326,880) 
% of NAV:           0.00% 
 

The company specializes in acquiring property development sites predominately in the North of England and Scotland. The 
funding principally would be by way of the issuance of the 8% 2023 Bonds. Management is looking to expand into luxury 
residential developments in the North of England with investments ranging from 2 to 5 years and Company funds deriving from 
the end sale of residential units. 
 

According to the company’s website, over the next 20 years the number of UK households is expected to rise by 250,000 per 
year, underscoring the urgent requirement for further housing. UK property has proved to be a sustainable means to long-term 
returns and, due to the increased demand in rental properties, investment in housing is relatively secure. 
 

The company’s accounts up to 31 December 2018 are overdue and the last published accounts date to 31 May 2018. Two current 
residential developments in Morar House, Helensburgh and Aidan Gardens, Belmont are shown on the website, as well as 
another eight recently completed projects indicated in the 2023 Bonds Brochure published on 15 January 2016 and the financial 
statement for 31 May 2018. 
 

The losses reported in the company accounts up to 31 May 2018 of GBP -3,329,008 suggest the untenability of the investment 
unless the proposed residential developments in the pipeline are successfully realized and sold. 
 

Accounts made up to 31 December 2018 are overdue as they were supposed to have been released on 7 February 2020. On 7 
April 2020, the Registrar of Companies announced that the issuer will be struck off the register and dissolved within 2 months 
of the announcement.
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Audley 6 11/15/36 Corp. 
Cost:                    GBP 2,677,454 
Fair Value:          GBP Nil (2018: GBP 2,688,529) 
% of NAV:           0.00% 
 
The security is priced on the Frankfurt exchange but there is no trading volume. Coupons were paid regularly in 2018 and there 
were issues to report. The pricing on the Frankfurt exchange continued despite the announcement on 16 May 2019, by the 
London Stock Exchange that “interest payments due on the Notes on 15 May 2019 was not made due to a shortfall in the payment 
of amounts due to the Issuer by The Resort Group PLC ("TRG")”. On 20 August 2019, the LSE reported that a bondholder 
meeting would be convened to decide further steps. 
 
On 13 September 2019 the security was delisted from the International Stock Exchange. No further information has been made 
available. 
 
The Frankfurt stock exchange continued to post a value of the securities close to par. 
 
The previous valuation was consistent with a default probability of 60%, a recovery rate of 60% and a 20% liquidity haircut. 
This valuation is no longer considered appropriate for the following reasons: 
1. The security is in default 
 
2. The TRG group faces financial distress. This distress is accentuated by the difficulties of all major travel groups although 

TRG is tied to TUI which has reported positive earnings in 2019 and potential increase in market share as a result of the 
Thomas Cook bankruptcy 
 

3. The absence of any information by the note issuer  
 
It is the opinion of the Directors that the probability of default has now risen to 100%. This holding is also impacted by the 
COVID 19 situation noted above.  
 
EM Plc 2016-4EU A 3.5% 06/23/2031 (EUR) 
Cost:                      GBP 815,161 
Fair Value:           GBP Nil (2018: GBP 599,596) 
% of NAV:            0.00% 
 
EM Plc 2016-4GBP A 3.5% 06/23/2031 (GBP) / The Resort GRP ETP 1 GBP Series 2016-04 Emarwick 
Cost:                     GBP 2,006,536 
Fair Value:           GBP Nil (2018:GBP 1,591,037) 
% of NAV:           0.00% 
 
The Escher Marwick is considered stale. The bid price at 31.12.2019 reported by the Frankfurt exchange is 100. No trading 
volume was recorded.  
 
It appears that the property investments of the Resort Group have not been as profitable as originally envisaged in the offering 
memoranda despite the continuing growth in tourism to Cabo Verde. Furthermore, press reports at the end 2019 indicate that 
the Resort Group appears to be under considerable financial difficulties. In the latest financial statements for Escher Marwick 
PLC at 30 April 2019, the company recorded a loss of GBP 625 on interest income of 5,091,714. There are no further 
communications or news surrounding the notes. Payment of coupons has not yet occurred. 
 
The valuation of collateral is difficult. Hence given the long term of the security, the opaqueness of the Resort Group business 
and the absence of any coupon payments there is an inherent probability of default. On average this leads to a discount of 80% 
in line with the discount applied to the other Escher Marwick and TRG-backed securities 
 
These holdings are also impacted by the COVID 19 situation noted above 
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IPO Capital 7.25% 03/31/2022 
Cost:                     GBP 400,000 
Fair Value:           GBP Nil (2018:GBP 317,240) 
% of NAV:            0.00% 
 
The directors of IPO Capital made an impairment provision of GBP 4.5 million against the company’s largest investment, Incept  
Holdings (BVI) Ltd, effectively writing down the value of the investment to zero until the time of its listing, which has so far 
taken a considerable time. 
 
In the financial statement for the period ended 30 March 2018, the company reported a loss after tax of GBP -4,741,377 on 
turnover of GBP 3,500. The revaluation of the investment portfolio including impairment provision against Incept resulted in 
the NAV of IPO Capital being reduced from GBP 5,406,751 to GBP 406,751. According to the directors at the time of the 
financial statement’s publication, this should have placed the company on a more robust platform and minimized the risk of 
further impairments. 
 
In May 2017, the company raised GBP 500,000 by issuing a corporate bond and in March 2018 entered into a convertible loan 
note agreement with an institutional investor for GBP 1,000,000 to provide working capital for pipeline investment 
opportunities. 
 
The financial accounts up to 29 March 2019 are overdue. Furthermore, there has been very little feedback from the issuer in 
respect of an overdue interest payment. The loan at this point appears seriously impaired and recovery is very uncertain. 
Correspondence with the issuer on 4 March 2020 suggests that the security has no recovery value due to the CEO suffering from 
serious health complications. 
 
Progression Escher Marwick Plc 5.50% 10/17/36 Corp. 
Cost:                      GBP 1,385,631 
Fair Value:           GBP Nil (2018: GBP 1,000,889) 
% of NAV:            0.00% 
 
The security (a medium-term note) is issued by a special purpose vehicle used for funding investments in the property and 
renewable energy sectors. While the note is secured there is no description in the prospectus of the underlying collateral. The 
security is priced daily on the Frankfurt exchange but there is little or no trading volume.  
 
A deferral of coupon payments was announced on May 11, 2018 and since mid-2019, the issuer has provided regular updates 
stating the following: “Escher Marwick Plc (the "Issuer") announces that interest payments due on the Notes on 13 May 2018, 
13 November 2018, 13 May 2019 and 13 November 2019 were not made in full and only partially paid. This is due to a shortfall 
in sums received by the Issuer in respect of assets held by it as security for the Notes. The Issuer's current assets comprise a 
minority interest in a number of corporate bonds. A number of such corporate bonds are currently being restructured following 
defaults and will either be refinanced or deferred to allow underlying assets to be commercialised.” 
 
The Escher Marwick price is considered stale despite the bid price at 31.12.2019 reported by the Frankfurt exchange is 100 
(with an ask of 115). In adjusting downward, the price published by the Frankfurt exchange consideration must be given to the 
opaqueness of the collateral of the security. The security is in default and the recent announcement (14 February) suggests that 
further coupon payments are unlikely. 
 
This holding is also impacted by the COVID 19 situation noted above.  
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Ballarat Property Plc 5.50% 31/12/2025 
Cost:                      GBP 159,634 
Fair Value:           GBP Nil (2018: GBP 41,339) 
% of NAV:            0.00% 
 
Ballarat announced an extraordinary resolution to wind up on 2019-05-29 (posted on Companies House on 17 June 2019). The 
investments of £1.2 million shown in the latest financial statements of the year ended 31 March 2018 are a loan at an annual 
interest rate of 9% to a related party, Affinity Developments Ltd, which is in administration. 
 
Ballarat, along with Apollo Commercial Property, holds a fixed charge over Affinity’s 50% stake in a subsidiary – Chessington 
View Ltd.– which holds rights to an empty plot of land of 27 acres in London which is awaiting planning permission. There is 
no indication of the estimated value of this land although, if planning permission were to be obtained, the land could worth 
between £20-£30m. The value of the land is likely to be dramatically reduced if planning permission is not obtained and the 
likelihood of receiving such permission is limited as the land is in the green belt, which is subject to government protection. 
 
Ballarat has stopped reporting financial statements after 31 March 2018. Liquidators have been named (Quantuma). There has 
been an exchange of e-mails with Martina Alexandrou of Quantuma as well as two calls in October. It transpired from the calls 
that recovery from existing assets will be very low and probably nil after allowing for the expenses associated with the 
liquidation. 
 
Apollo Commercial Property Plc 5.00% 31/12/2025 
Cost:                     GBP 153,069 
Fair Value:          GBP Nil (2018: GBP 39,611) 
% of NAV:           0.00% 
 
Apollo Commercial Properties plc announced an extraordinary resolution to wind up on 2019-05-29 (posted on Companies 
House on 17 June 2019). The loan of £1.5 million at 9% annual interest shown in the latest financial statements of the year 
ended 28 February 2018 is to a related party, Affinity Developments Ltd, which is in administration. Apollo Commercial 
Property holds a charge over Affinity’s 50% stake in a subsidiary – Chessington View Ltd.– which holds rights to an empty plot 
of land of 27 acres in London which is awaiting planning permission. There is no indication of the estimated value of this land 
although, if planning permission were to be obtained, the land could worth between £20-£30m.The value of the land is likely to 
be dramatically reduced if planning permission is not obtained and the likelihood of receiving such permission is limited as the 
land is in the green belt, which is subject to government protection. 
 
The company has stopped reporting financial statements after 28 February 2018. Liquidators have been named (Quantuma). 
There has been an exchange of e-mails with Martina Alexandrou of Quantuma as well as two calls in October. It transpired from 
the calls that recovery from existing assets will be very low and probably nil after allowing for the expenses associated with the 
liquidation. 
 
Via Developments 7.00% 19/10/2020 
Cost:                      GBP 938,085 
Fair Value:           GBP Nil (2018: GBP 624,226) 
% of NAV:            0.00% 
 
The proceeds of the Via Developments 7% debenture have been used to fund property investments in the UK property market 
with a primary focus in the residential property in the Manchester/North West region of England. In comparison to other illiquid 
securities there has been some albeit very low trading and the fund was able to sell part of its position at unit price of 87 prior 
to suspension. 
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The price oscillated between 100 and 85 in 2018 but at the beginning of 2019 fell precipitously to 65. This decline was followed 
by a suspension of trading in the security which was triggered by the announcement on 1 March that the company was delaying 
the publication of its financial statements and undergoing a major refinancing. Following the suspension, we were informed to 
correspondence relating to the debenture between certain investors and the CEO of Via Developments that pending funding for 
a large project being drawn down the publication of the audited accounts of the company would be delayed, resulting in a 
temporary suspension of the bonds. The debenture has always paid its coupon due at end-year (in 2019, £ 67,224.36). 
 
The Company published unaudited accounts for March 2019. Losses over the previous six months amounted to a further 
£283,576 bringing total net liabilities to £587,545. The risk of default or a request to restructure unless the bond can be refinanced 
appears quite significant. On 21 February 2020 we were informed that Via Developments had been served a winding up petition 
by HMRC. Accordingly, the market value has been debased to nil. 
 
ETI Securities Plc 
Cost:                      GBP 1,216,674 
Fair Value:           GBP Nil (2018: GBP 336,648) 
% of NAV:            0.00% 
 
The security is currently in default. The issuer ETI Securities Plc states in the issuing memorandum that the proceeds are invested 
in Loan Note issued by Christianson Property Capital Limited. The Financial Statements of the Property company at April 2017 
recorded total assets (net of current liabilities) of GBP 5.8 million. Creditors falling due after more than one year were GBP 10.5 
million. The company’s accounts for the year ended August 2018 reported total assets (net of current liabilities) of GBP 
6,811,874 with creditors falling due after more than year amounting to GBP 11,455,681 and overall loss of GBP -4,643,807. 
 
On 6 November 2018 the issuer posted a Board Resolution that a buy back of the ETI units would be set in place. The terms of 
the buyback were not published. The written down value of the security at end-2018 based on the assumption that roughly 40% 
of the outstanding loan would be recovered on the basis of it only been 70% of that shown in the Christiansen balance sheet.  
 
Since end-December 2018 there has been no further information issued by the Company and the issuer. There has been to date 
no reply to Correspondence sent to the issuer. In light of the opaqueness of the issuer and the lack of any information, it seems 
appropriate that the value of the position should be completely written off. 
 
Konstanz Finance Ltd. Aug 21 5.525%. 
Cost:                      GBP 1,252,000 
Fair Value:           GBP Nil (2018: GBP Nil) 
% of NAV:            0.00% 
 
Konstanz Finance Ltd. Aug 23 6.25% 
Cost:                     GBP 589,000 
Fair Value:          GBP Nil (2018: GBP Nil) 
% of NAV:           0.00% 
 
The issuer is a special purpose securitization vehicle. The security was suspended from trading on Euronext Dublin on 11 
February 2019 for non-publication of annual and half yearly financial reports. The prices are published daily on Bloomberg 
(BVAL) but there is no trading in the security. The valuation of the administrator prior to the suspension of the fund was close 
to par. 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(c) Market Risk (continued) 
 

(iv) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 
There is no information forthcoming on this issuer or the issuer group, and on the current value of the underlying assets of the 
secured note after 2017. Valuations of underlying assets was provided at the issuance. It does not appear that the projects for 
which issuance was foreseen have been started and there is no sign of activity and potentially there may be a significant debt 
overhang. 
 
Attempts have been made to contact the issuer and the board of directors earlier this year initially through the law firm 
(Greenwood) and subsequently through the registrars and administrators in Guernsey. All service providers have resigned. 
Informal discussions suggested that the assets of Konstanz were in a loan to a company in financial distress which held real 
estate and was currently undergoing restructuring. We could not ascertain if there was any scope for recovery. 
 
Further correspondence did not yield any additional information. 
 
In the absence of any information it would be advisable to write down this security to nil. Should more information be 
forthcoming there can only be upside (even possibly at par) but this is unlikely given the current opaqueness of the issuer. 
 
Energy Circle 6.50% 01/12/2023 
Cost                        GBP 151,000 
Fair Value             GBP Nil (2018: GBP 90,600) 
% of NAV:            0.00% 
 
The 2018 accounts provide a narrative regarding several projects and objectives relating to the installation of various power 
plants and facilities, due diligence by a number of investors and project financing. None of these appear to have come to fruition. 
The FS for 2018 reveal a company with a very stressed financial situation, Net equity at -£1,841,535 suggests virtual bankruptcy. 
No coupons were ever paid by the company. The Organic bond fund held 302,000 of the total 402,000 issued by Energy Circle. 
On 21 May 2019 a meeting was held in London with Mick Avison CEO of Energy Circle. He said that there potentially positive 
news for the company as a number of projects would be coming to fruition in the late fall. Mr. Avison also spoke of a refinancing 
round that would also accompany the development phase of these projects. He appeared confident that the company was close 
to a turnaround. Full accounts for 2018 only appeared in July 2019. 
 
A number of e-mails were sent in December 2019 and January 2020 seeking further information. Calls were not returned. The 
termination of the appointment of two directors and the secretary of the Company was announced on 13 January 2020 (with 
effect 31/12/2019). 
 
In light of the above, the very problematic financial statements for 2018, the absence of a fair value assessment of any recoverable 
value for assets and the termination of key figures of the Company, it appears that the most reasonable assessment of the 
company is a value of nil. 
 
The valuation of collateral is difficult. This recent information suggests that a significant write down to 20 is in order. 
 

ORGANIC BOND Fund Fair value 

31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP 

Financial assets measured at fair value     
Investments in government bonds - 638,404 - 638,404 

Investments in corporate bonds - 7,403,707 7,409,575 15,344,282 

Investments in equities 4,439,092 - 336,648 4,775,740 

Investments in funds - 750,800 1,432,097 2,182,897 

Investments in future 45,720 - - 45,720 

  4,484,812 8,792,911 9,709,320 22,987,043 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(c) Market Risk (continued) 
 

(iv) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

ORGANIC LONG/SHORT ALPHA Fund Fair value 

31 December 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Financial assets measured at fair value     
Investments in funds - - 152,151 152,151 

  - - 152,151 152,151 

 
The above level 3 securities valued at US$152,151 include the below holdings: 
 

2019  

% of NAV Description USD Fair Value 

   
Ethika Sustainable Impact Fund GBP Class B 152,151 85.20% 

Ethiqo Green Energy Plc 7.00% 31/12/2026 - - 

ETI Securities PLC - - 

IPO Capital Plc 7.25% 31/03/2022 - - 

Progression Escher Marwick Plc 5.50% 19/09/2036 - - 

Via Developments 7.00% 19/10/2020 - - 

 
Ethika Sustainable Impact Fund GBP Class B 
Cost:                            US$ 443,065 
Fair Value:                  US$ 152,151 (2018:US$ 279,346) 
% of NAV:                   85.20% 
 
ETI Securities PLC 
Cost:                            US$ 238,299 
Fair Value:                  US$ Nil (2018:US$ 84,747) 
% of NAV:                   0.00% 
 
IPO Capital 7.25% 03/31/2022 
Cost:                            US$ 138,241 
Fair Value:                  US$ Nil (2018:US$ 101,089) 
% of NAV:                   0.00% 
 
Via Developments 7.00% 19/10/2020 
Cost:                            US$ 557,888 
Fair Value:                  US$ Nil (2018:US$ 371,998) 
% of NAV:                  0.00% 
 
Progression Escher Marwick Plc 5.50% 10/17/36 Corp. 
Cost:                           US$ 250,850 
Fair Value:                 US$ Nil (2018: US$ 186,716) 
% of NAV:                 0.00% 
 
Details of the above securities is outlined under Organic Bond Fund in this section of the financial statements. 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(c) Market Risk (continued) 
 

(iv) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 
Ethiqo Green Energy Plc 7.00% 31/12/2026 (New name: Tristone Green Energy from on 2 June 2017) 
Cost:                            US$ 250,838 
Fair Value:                  US$ Nil (2018: US$ Nil) 
% of NAV:                   0.00% 
 
The issuer is insolvent though has not yet been dissolved and company accounts continue to be reported on schedule. There have 
been 5 resignations up to 2017, however two directors and a secretary remain. Total net equity as of December 2017 was GBP 
-378,000 and GBP -327,147 as of December 2018. The funding was used to provide a loan to company Glanpower Energy UK 
Ltd which was dissolved on 5 December 2017 according to Companies House. The valuation is nil. 
 

ORGANIC LONG/SHORT ALPHA Fund Fair value 

31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Financial assets measured at fair value     
Investments in government bonds  - 148,922 - 148,922 

Investments in corporate bonds - 87,935 659,802 747,737 

Investments in equities 4,747,161 - 364,093 5,111,255 

Investments in options - 415 - 415 

Investments in futures 73,313 - - 73,313 

  4,820,474 237,272 1,023,895 6,081,642 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value     

Investments in futures 300 - - 300 

Investments in options - 2,500 - 2,500 

 300 2,500 - 2,800 

 

MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED Fund Fair value 

31 December 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP 

Financial assets measured at fair value     
Investments in government bonds  - - 191,306 191,306 

Investments in corporate bonds 1,368,763 - - 1,368,763 

Investments in equities 3,203,214 - - 3,203,215 

Investments in exchange traded fund 1,339,023 - - 1,339,022 

  5,911,000 - 191,306 6,102,306 

 
The above level 3 securities valued at GBP191,306 include the below holdings: 
 

2019 % of NAV 

Description Total 

  

MBH Corporation PLC 19/10/2020 2.98% 

 
The above level 3 security is valued at cost. 
 



 

94 

THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 

 
8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(c) Market Risk (continued) 
 

(iv) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED Fund Fair value 

31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP 

Financial assets measured at fair value     
Investments in government bonds  - 1,452,604 - 1,452,604 

Investments in corporate bonds - 637,875 433,962 1,071,838 

Investments in equities 1,338,715 - - 1,338,715 

Investments in exchange traded fund 1,388,019 - - 1,388,020 

Investments in funds - 601,862 - 601,862 

  2,726,734 2,692,342 433,962 5,853,038 
 

The above level 3 securities valued at GBP433,962 include the below holdings: 
 

2018 % of NAV 

Description Total 

MBH Corporation PLC 19/10/2020 6.20% 
 

The above level 3 security is valued at cost. 
 

MERCANTILE OPPORTUNITIES Fund Fair value 

31 December 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP 

Financial assets measured at fair value     
Investments in corporate bonds - - 169,656 169,656 

Investments in equities 2,996,333 - - 2,996,333 

Investments in exchange traded fund 1,447,475 - - 1,447,475 

Investments in funds 271,249 236,773 - 508,022 

  4,715,057 236,773 169,656 5,121,486 

 

The above level 3 securities valued at GBP169,656 include the below holdings: 
 

 2019 2018 

Description % of NAV % of NAV 

MBH Corporation PLC 19/10/2020 3.02% 6.73% 
 

MERCANTILE OPPORTUNITIES Fund Fair value 

31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 GBP GBP GBP GBP 

Financial assets measured at fair value     
Investments in corporate bonds - - 391,734 391,734 

Investments in equities 1,638,959 - - 1,638,959 

Investments in exchange traded fund 1,681,522 - - 1,681,522 

Investments in funds - 556,258 - 556,258 

  3,320,481 556,258 391,734 4,268,473 

 

The above level 3 securities valued at cost.  
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(c) Market Risk (continued) 
 

(iv) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

As at 31 December 2019, the Long/Short Alpha Fund and the Global Bond Fund had no investment. 
 

The following table shows a reconciliation of all movements in the fair value of financial instruments categorised with Level 3 

between the beginning and the end of the reporting year. 
 

ORGANIC BOND Fund                            Level 3 

                   2019                     2018 

  GBP GBP 

Balance as at beginning of the year 9,709,320 3,700,087 

Purchases  4,198,943 4,991,294 

Sales  (4,199,157) (826,450) 

Net realised and movement in unrealised   (8,974,113) (8,885,566) 

Transfer in  - 10,729,955 

Balance as at 31 December  734,993 9,709,320 
    

Net Unrealised Balance  (6,917,242) (8,735,882) 

    
 

ORGANIC LONG/SHORT ALPHA Fund              Level 3 

  2019 2018 

  US$ US$ 

Balance as at beginning of the year 1,023,895 1,323,674 

Purchases  250,850 275,789 

Sales  (250,871) (138,241) 

Net realised and movement in unrealised   (871,723) (1,165,237) 

Transfer in  - 727,910 

Balance as at 31 December   152,151 1,023,895 
    

Net Unrealised Balance  (634,689) (1,165,930) 
 

MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED Fund              Level 3 

  2019 2018 

  GBP GBP 

Balance as at beginning of the year/period 433,962 - 

Purchases  - 1,218,343 

Sales  (198,683) (789,819) 

Net realised and movement in unrealised   (43,973) 5,438 

Balance as at 31 December  191,306 433,962 
    

Net Unrealised Balance  (25,386) 4,372 
 

MERCANTILE OPPORTUNITIES Fund              Level 3 

  2019 2018 

  GBP GBP 

Balance as at beginning of the year/period 391,734 - 

Purchases  - 1,009,889 

Sales  (182,540) (622,834) 

Net realised and movement in unrealised   (39,538) 4,679 

Balance as at 31 December   169,656 391,734 
    

Net Unrealised Balance  (22,631) 3,806 
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8. Risk Management (continued) 
 

(c) Market Risk (continued) 
 

(iv) Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

The Manager has priced these investments taking into consideration all the above at what they believe to be the best estimate of 

fair value as at 31 December 2019. If other prices are available, they may be different to those presented and those differences 

could be material. Therefore, the realisable value of the Company’s investments may differ significantly from the fair values  

recorded. 

 

9. Exchange Rates 
 

The following exchange rates were used to translate assets and liabilities into the reporting currency as at 31 December 2019 

and 31 December 2018. 

 

 2019 2019 

 GBP USD 

Canadian Dollar 1.7213 1.2979 

Euro 1.1813 1.1227 

Mexican Peso 25.1029 18.9276 

Great Britain pound 1.0000 1.3263 

United States Dollar 0.7540 1.0000 

Hong Kong Dollar 10.3310 7.7920 

Australian Dollar 1.8882 1.4255 

Swiss Franc 1.2819 0.9678 

Swedish Krona 12.4019 9.3659 

 

 2018 2018 

 GBP USD 

Canadian Dollar 1.7392 1.3641 

Euro 1.1130 1.1452 

Mexican Peso 25.0650 19.6525 

Peruvian Sol 4.2962 3.3706 

Great Britain pound 1.0000 1.2746 

Japanese Yen 139.9530 109.8015 

United States Dollar 0.7846 1.0000 

Hong Kong Dollar 9.9923 7.8396 

Mexican unidad de inversion 4.0255 3.1582 

 

10. Soft Commission 
 

There were no soft commission arrangements affecting the Company during the financial year. 

 

11. Contingent Liabilities   

 
As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, there were no commitments or contingent liabilities. 
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12. Efficient Portfolio Management 

 
The Company may employ investment techniques and FDI (Financial Derivative Instrument) for efficient portfolio management 

of the assets of any Fund including hedging against market movements, currency exchange or interest rate risks under the 

conditions and within the limits stipulated by the Central Bank under the Regulations and Notices and described below. The 

Company may not leverage a Fund through the use of derivative instruments, i.e. the total exposure of a Fund, including but not 

limited to, its exposure from the use of any derivative instruments, must not exceed the total net asset value of the each of the 

Fund. 

 

Efficient portfolio management means investment decisions involving transactions that are entered into for one or more of the 

specific aims: 

 

1. The reduction of risk; 

2. The reduction of cost; or 

3. The generation of additional capital or income for the UCITS with an appropriate level of risk, taking into account the risk 
profile of the Company. 

 

13. Reconciliation of net asset value 
 

ORGANIC BOND Fund 

 Class A Institutional shares  

                                     GBP 

  Class A Retail Shares 

                          GBP 

 2019  2019 

 GBP GBP 

   

Net asset value per audited financial statements 743,928 20,221 

Net asset value per approved valuation 743,928 20,221 

Net asset value per share as per approved valuation 5.816 0.608 

   

 

ORGANIC LONG/SHORT ALPHA Fund       Institutional shares GBP        Retail Shares GBP 

 2019 2019 

 US$ US$ 

   

Net asset value per audited financial statements 173,624 4,957 

Net asset value per approved valuation 173,624 4,957 

Net asset value per share as per approved valuation 1.505 1.732 

 

MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED Fund            Class B GBP 

  2019 

  GBP 

   

Net asset value per audited financial statements  6,410,749 

Net asset value per approved valuation  6,410,749 

Net asset value per share as per approved valuation  0.933 

 

MERCANTILE OPPORTUNITIES Fund             Class B GBP 

  2019 

  GBP 

   

Net asset value per audited financial statements  5,618,704 

Adjustments made:   

Difference in respect of amortisation of deferred and organisational costs  8,721 

Net asset value per approved valuation  5,627,425 

Net asset value per share as per approved valuation  0.889 
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13. Reconciliation of net asset value (continued) 
 

ORGANIC BOND Fund 

 Class A Institutional shares  

                                     GBP 

  Class A Retail Shares 

                           GBP 

 2018  2018 

 GBP GBP 

   

Net asset value per audited financial statements 24,886,189 679,646 

Adjustments made:   

Difference in respect of amortisation of deferred and organisational costs 1,130,353 371 

Net asset value per approved valuation 26,016,542 680,017 

Net asset value per share as per approved valuation 77.304 7.775 

   

 

ORGANIC LONG/SHORT ALPHA Fund       Institutional shares GBP        Retail Shares GBP 

 2018  2018 

 US$ US$ 

   

Net asset value per audited financial statements 7,206,960 207,262 

Adjustments made:   

Difference in respect of amortisation of deferred and organisational costs 352,744 (95) 

Net asset value per approved valuation 7,559,704 207,167 

Net asset value per share as per approved valuation 8.539 9.430 

 

MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED Fund             Class B GBP 

  2018 

  GBP 

   

Net asset value per audited financial statements  6,997,635 

Adjustments made:   

Difference in respect of amortisation of deferred and organisational costs  3,112 

Net asset value per approved valuation  7,000,747 

Net asset value per share as per approved valuation  0.936 

 

MERCANTILE OPPORTUNITIES Fund              Class B GBP 

  2018 

  GBP 

   

Net asset value per audited financial statements  5,817,105 

Adjustments made:   

Difference in respect of amortisation of deferred and organisational costs  11,091 

Net asset value per approved valuation  5,828,196 

Net asset value per share as per approved valuation  0.838 

Net asset value per share as per approved valuation   
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14. Events during the year 
 

European and Global Advisors LLP was appointed and European and Global Investments Limited resigned as Investment 

Manager of the Organic Bond Fund and Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund during the year. 

 

Mr. Maurice Murphy resigned as Director of the Company on 17 May 2019 and Mr. Andrew Curtin was appointed on same 

date. 

 

The Long/Short Alpha Fund and The Global Bond Fund commenced operations on 1 July 2019 and terminated on 30 September 

2019. 

 

An updated Prospectus of the Company and supplements for The Organic Bond Fund, The Organic Long/Short Alpha Fund, 
The Quantum Managed FX Fund, The Mercantile Diversified Fund and The Mercantile Opportunities Fund were issued on 4 

December 2019. 

 

European Depositary Bank SA was appointed and Societe Generale S.A. resigned as Depositary of the Company on 4 December 

2019. 
 

15. Subsequent events 
 

Since the financial year end we have seen the development of the coronavirus Covid-19 outbreak initially in China and now 

reaching most continents. It has been declared a global pandemic by the World Health Organisation. The nature and extent of 

the impact of such an event is difficult to predict but it may adversely affect the return on each Fund and its investments and 

there is growing concern about the impact on the world economy. There has been a significant correction in the financial markets 

in the past few weeks. The Directors and the Investment Managers continue to watch the efforts of governments to contain the 
spread of the virus and monitor the economic impact on the investments in the portfolios. 

 

Investors should be aware of the liquidity risk presented by this global pandemic. There is the risk that an entity will encounter 

difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. Market disruptions or closures may result in the Investment 

Managers being unable to accurately value the assets of a Fund, or in the event of high levels of redemption, the Directors may 

use certain liquidity management tools permitted by the Central Bank, including deferred redemptions, the implementation of 

fair value pricing or temporarily suspension of a Fund. 

 

On 23 March 2020, the Board of the Company and European and Global Investments Limited (the “Manager”), as manager of 

the Mercantile Sub-Funds, were informed that, due to financial circumstances and developments beyond its control, the 

Investment Manager of the Sub-Funds, Agincourt Financial Limited, anticipated entering into an orderly voluntary winding up 

of its legal limited company status as from the 17th April 2020.  

 

The Board of the Company in conjunction with the Manager took the decision that it is no longer financially viable to continue 

to operate the Mercantile Diversified Fund and the Mercantile Opportunities Fund.  

 

Accordingly, pursuant to Clause 11.01 of the Articles of Association of the Fund, notice was given of the Manager’s intention 

to redeem all Shares in the Mercantile Diversified Fund and the Mercantile Opportunities Fund and to terminate them on 14 
May 2020 (the “Final Dealing Day”) or such later date as may be determined by the Board and notified to Shareholders in 

advance. Furthermore, the Mercantile Sub-funds were the last remaining active sub-funds on the portfolio and as such it is the 

Directors intention to close the whole umbrella once the issue of the illiquid assets in the Organic funds is resolved. 

 

In light of the continuing volatility of financial markets resulting from the pandemic associated with Covid-19 virus and in order 

to realise an orderly sale of the existing assets without any prejudice to the interest of the shareholders, the Board has decided 

to change the dealing frequency of the Mercantile Sub-Funds from daily to fortnightly with effect from 26 March 2020.  

 

During the period between the 17 April 2020 and 14 May 2020, European and Global Advisers LLP has been nominated to 

manage the Mercantile Sub-funds on a day to day basis with a view to liquidating all the assets.  

 

16. Approval of Financial Statements 
 

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 23 April 2020. 
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Disclosure of Remuneration 
In line with the requirements of regulation 89 (3A) of the UCITS Regulations, The Multi-Manager UCITS Platform Fund plc (“the 

Company”) is required to establish, implement and maintain a remuneration policy (the “Remuneration Policy”) which is in 

accordance with the requirements of the UCITS Regulations, and the European Securities and Markets Authority's "Guidelines on 

sound remuneration policies under the UCITS directive and under AIFMD" (the "ESMA Guidelines"). 
 

This Remuneration Policy sets out the remuneration policies for the Company and describes remuneration practices for the Company. 

It ensures that any relevant conflicts of interest can be managed appropriately at all times and sets out practices for certain Identified 

Staff, as defined below, that are consistent with and promote sound and effective risk management and do not encourage risk-taking 

which is inconsistent with the risk profile, rules or instrument of incorporation of the Company. This Remuneration Policy is in line 

with the business strategy, objectives, values and interests of the Company and the investors in the Company and includes measures 

to avoid conflicts of interest. 
 

Identified Staff 
The UCITS Regulations require the Company to identify the categories of staff, including senior management, risk takers, control 

functions and any employees receiving total remuneration that falls into the same remuneration bracket as senior management and 

risk takers, whose professional activities have a material impact on the risk profile of the Company and categories of staff of the 

entity to which investment management activities have been delegated, whose professional activities have a material impact on the 

risk profiles of the Company. 
 

The Company is controlled and managed by the Board, but does not currently have any staff. Accordingly, "Identified Staff" for 

the purpose of this Remuneration Policy comprises the Board.  
 

As the Board has delegated its investment management activities to the Investment Manager the Board has ensured that the 

Investment Manager is subject to regulatory requirements on remuneration that are equally as effective as those applicable under the 

UCITS Regulations and the ESMA Guidelines.  
 

Variable Remuneration 
Mr. Julian Alworth as a Directors of The Multi-Manager UCITS Platform Fund plc, have waived his right to receive a Director's fee 

from the Company. The independent non-executive Director receive fixed remuneration of €20,000 per annum in respect of his 

service. None of the Directors are currently in receipt of variable remuneration in respect of their services as Directors of the 
Company. None of the Directors are currently in receipt of a pension from the Company. Mr. Julian Alworth and Mr John Bohan 

are not independence directors.  Mr. John Bohan charges director’s fee of €5,000 per annum per sub-fund. 
 

The Company has determined that the fixed remuneration payable to the Directors who are not employees of The Multi-Manager 

UCITS Platform Fund plc is (a) consistent with sound and effective risk management and does not encourage risk-taking which is 

inconsistent with the risk profile, rules or instrument of incorporation of the Company and (b) in line with the business strategy, 

objectives, values and interests of the Company and its shareholders. The nature of the Directors’ remuneration, being fixed and not 
including any variable component and being determined by the Board as a whole, ensures that the Company appropriately manages 

any conflicts of interest in respect of remuneration. 
 

Remuneration Committee 
The UCITS Regulations require self-managed investment companies that are significant in terms of their size, their internal 

organisation and the nature, scope and complexity of their activities to establish a remuneration committee. Having considered these 

criteria, the Company has determined that it is not significant in these respects and has not established a remuneration committee. 
 

Disclosure 
The Company shall comply with the disclosure requirements set out in the UCITS Regulations. The total amount of remuneration 

for the financial year paid by the Company to its staff, the aggregate amount of remuneration broken down by the relevant categories 

of employees (i.e. the Directors of the Company), a description of how the remuneration has been calculated and any material changes 

to this Remuneration Policy shall be disclosed in the Company's annual report. Refer to “Variable Remuneration” section of this 

Appendix for details.  
 

Annual review 
On an annual basis, and during 2018, the Board reviewed the terms of this Remuneration Policy and assess whether its overall 

remuneration system operates as intended and is compliant with the obligations on remuneration policies as set out in the UCITS 

Regulations. The Remuneration Policy will be updated by the Board as and when required. 
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Portfolio Statement of ORGANIC BOND Fund: 
  

   % of 

Description   Fair net 

By geographic location Maturity Units Value Asset  

  GBP  
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss      

    
Corporate Bond      

    

Great Britain     

All Saints Commercial 8.00% 31/12/2023 31/12/2023 908,000 - 0.00% 

Apollo Commercial Property Plc 5.00% 31/12/2025 31/12/2025 158,444 - 0.00% 

Audley Funding Plc 6.00 15/11/2036 15/11/2036 2,669,840 - 0.00% 

Ballarat Property Plc 5.50% 31/12/2025 31/12/2025 165,355 - 0.00% 

Carpe Valorem 7.00% 29/07/2021 29/07/2021 200,000 - 0.00% 

Emplc 2016-4EU A 3.50% 23/06/2031 23/06/2031 834,190 - 0.00% 

Energy Circle 6.50% 01/12/2023 01/12/2023 302 - 0.00% 

Ethika Finance Plc 8.50% 13/01/2022 13/01/2022 297,472 - 0.00% 

IPO Capital Plc 7.25% 31/03/2022 31/03/2022 400 - 0.00% 

Progression Escher Marwick Plc 5.50% 17/10/2036 17/10/2036 1,334,519 - 0.00% 

The Resort Grp Etp 1 GBP Series 2016-04 Emarwick 

0.00% 23/06/2031 23/06/2031 1,988,796 - 0.00% 

Via Developments 7.00% 19/10/2020 19/10/2020 960,348 - 0.00%  
    

Guernsey     

Konstanz Finance Ltd 5.53% 10/08/2021 10/08/2021 1,252,000 - 0.00% 
Konstanz Finance Ltd 6.25% 10/08/2023 10/08/2023 589,000 - 0.00% 

     

Virgin Islands, British     

ADV Holding Ltd. 10.00% 03/12/2019 03/12/2019 2,425,000 - 0.00% 

     

Total Corporate Bond   - 0.00% 

     

Total Bond 
  

- 0.00% 

     

 

    % of 

Description  Number of Fair Net 

By geographic location  Shares Value Assets 

   US$  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

Listed Equity     

     
Malta 

 
   

ETI Securities Plc 
 

881 - 0.00%   
   

Total Equity   - 0.00% 
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Portfolio Statement (continued) 

As at 31 December 2019 

 

Portfolio Statement of ORGANIC BOND Fund: 

 
Description  Number of Fair net 

By geographic location  Shares Value Asset 
   GBP  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

     

Fund investment     

     

Malta     

Ethika Sustainable Impact Fund EUR Class A  8,401 238,240 31.18% 

Ethika Sustainable Impact Fund GBP Class B  14,828 496,753 65.01% 

     

Total investment fund   734,993 96.19% 

     

   2019 2019 

   GBP  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   734,993 96.18% 

Cash and cash equivalents   41,638 5.45% 

Other current assets   (12,482) (1.63)% 

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares 

  

764,149 100.00% 

     

Analysis of Total Assets   GBP  
   Fair  % of total 
   Value Assets 
Transferable securities admitted to an official stock 

exchange on a regulated market 

  

734,993 94.64% 

Cash at bank   41,638 5.36% 

Total Assets   776,631 100.00% 
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Portfolio Statement (continued) 

As at 31 December 2019 
 

Portfolio Statement of ORGANIC LONG/SHORT ALPHA Fund:  
 

    % of 

Description   Fair Net 

By geographic location Maturity Units Value Assets 

   US$  
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

     
Corporate Bond 

    

Great Britain     

Ethiqo Green Energy Plc 7.00% 31/12/2026 31/12/2026 200,000 - 0.00% 

IPO Capital PLC 7.25% 31/03/2022 31/03/2022 100,000 - 0.00% 

Progression Escher Marwick Plc 5.50% 19/09/2036 17/10/2036 195,320 - 0.00% 

Via Developments 7.00% 19/10/2020 19/10/2020 449,007 - 0.00% 

     

Total Corporate Bond   - 0.00% 

     

Total Bond   - 0.00% 

     
 

    % of 
Description  Number of Fair Net 
By geographic location  Shares Value Assets 
   US$  
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

     
Listed Equity     

     
Malta     

ETI Securities PLC  174 - 0.00% 

     

Total Equity   - 0.00% 
 

Fund investment     

     

Malta     

Ethika Sustainable Impact Fund GBP Class B  3,424 152,151 85.20% 

     

Total investment fund   152,151 85.20% 
 

     

   2019 2019 
   US$  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   152,151 85.20% 

Cash and cash equivalents   42,130 23.59% 

Other current assets   (15,700) (8.79)% 

     

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable 

Participating Shares 

  178,581 100.00% 

     

Analysis of Total Assets     
     
     
Transferable securities admitted to an official stock 

exchange on a regulated market 

  

152,151 78.31% 

Cash at bank   42,130 21.69% 

Total Assets 
  

194,281 100.00% 
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Portfolio Statement (continued) 

As at 31 December 2018 

 

Portfolio Statement of MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED Fund: 
  

   % of 

Description   Fair net 

By geographic location Maturity Units Value Assets  

  GBP  
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     
     

Corporate Bond     

     

Great Britain     

MBH Corporation Plc 19/10/2020 19/10/2020 2,430 191,306 2.98% 

     

Total Corporate Bond   191,306 2.98% 

     

Government Bond     
     

Great Britain     

TSY 2 1/2% 2020I/L STOCK 2.5% 16/04/2020 16/04/2020 68,500 242,083 3.78% 

UK TSY 2% 2020 22/07/2020 22/07/2020 159,000 160,207 2.50% 

UK TSY 4 1/4% 4.25% 12/07/2027 07/12/2027 206,000 262,994 4.10% 

UK TSY 4 1/4%  4.25% 07/06/2032 07/06/2032 194,000 268,484 4.19% 
     

United States     

US TREASURY N/B 2.75% 15/02/2028 15/02/2028 270,000 216,965 3.38% 

US TREASURY N/B 4.5% 15/02/2036 15/02/2036 218,000 218,030 3.40% 

     

Total Government Bond   1,368,763 21.35% 

     

Total Bond   1,560,069 24.33% 

     
    % of 

Description  Number of Fair net 

By geographic location  Shares Value Asset 

     
Listed Equity     

     

Australia     
Accent Group Ltd  60,462 59,719 0.93% 

JB Hi-Fi Limited  6,150 122,694 1.91% 

     

Canada     

Corus Entertainment Inc-B SH  29,285 90,511 1.41% 

Riocan Real Estate Invst TR  7,375 114,655 1.79% 

Telus Corporation  3,500 102,237 1.59% 

     

China     

Anhui Conch Cement Co Ltd-H  25,000 137,450 2.14% 

Postal Savings Bank Of Chi-H  240,000 123,125 1.92% 

     

France     

Television Francaise (T.F.1)  16,450 103,047 1.61% 

     

Germany     

Deutsche Telekom AG  9,000 111,005 1.73% 

Sirius Real Estate Ltd  162,000 143,370 2.24% 
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Portfolio Statement (continued) 

As at 31 December 2018 

 

Portfolio Statement of MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED Fund: 
 

    % of 

Description  Number of Fair net 

By geographic location  Shares Value Assets 

   GBP  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

     

Listed Equity     
     

Great Britain     

3I Group Plc  10,800 118,584 1.85% 

Glaxosmithkline Plc  7,200 128,088 2.00% 

Man Group Plc  73,000 115,340 1.80% 

MBH Corp Plc  214,471 113,472 1.77% 

Redrow Plc  19,750 147,137 2.29% 

Regional Reit Ltd  100,000 113,200 1.77% 

Tate & Lyle Plc  17,500 133,035 2.08% 

     

Hong Kong     

HKT Trust And HKT Ltd  93,000 98,842 1.54% 

Shougang Fushan Resources  725,000 117,898 1.84% 

Stella International  100,000 120,995 1.89% 

Yuexiu Transport Infrastructure Ltd SHS  170,000 114,035 1.78% 

     

Italy     

Unipol Gruppo SPA  27,800 121,668 1.90% 
     

Portugal     

Altri SGPS ORD  20,082 96,560 1.51% 

NOS SGPS  26,500 107,678 1.68% 

     

Sweden     

Hennes & Mauritz AB-B SHS  6,300 96,761 1.51% 

     

Switzerland     

Novartis AG  1,750 125,458 1.96% 

     

United States     

Intl Business Machines Corporation  1,100 111,169 1.73% 

Philip Morris International  1,800 115,481 1.80% 

     

Total Equity   3,203,214 49.97% 

     

Exchange traded fund     

     

Ireland     
Invesco Us Treasury Dist  4,000 126,548 1.97% 

Ishares Barclays Treasury Bond 7-10 GBP  1,242 191,094 2.98% 

Ishares Global Gov BND-Distr  1,350 114,392 1.79% 

SPDR BBG US Treasury   2,300 191,671 2.99% 

Vanguard Usd Treasury ETF  7,500 141,778 2.21% 

     

Jersey     

Wisdometree Short USD Long GBP  56,000 423,780 6.61% 

WT Short Eur Long GBP 5X Dly  12,000 149,760 2.34% 

Total Exchange traded fund   1,339,023 20.89% 
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Portfolio Statement (continued) 

As at 31 December 2019 

 

Portfolio Statement of MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED Fund: 
 

THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Portfolio Statement (continued) 

As at 31 December 2019 

 

Portfolio Statement of MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED Fund: 

 
  2019 2019 
  GBP  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  6,102,306 95.19% 

Cash and cash equivalents  325,908 5.08% 

Other current assets  (17,465) (0.27)% 

    

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares  6,410,749 100.00% 
 

   
Analysis of Total Assets GBP  

 Fair % of total 

 Value assets 

Transferable securities admitted to an official stock exchange on a regulated market 6,102,306 94.66% 

Cash at bank 325,908 5.06% 

Other assets 18,372 0.28% 

Total Assets 6,446,586 100.00% 
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Portfolio Statement (continued) 

As at 31 December 2019 

 

Portfolio Statement of MERCANTILE OPPORTUNITIES Fund: 
  

   % of 

Description   Fair net 

By geographic location Maturity Units Value Asset  

  GBP  
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     
     
Corporate Bond     
     

Great Britain     

MBH Corporation Plc 19/10/2020 2,155 169,656 3.02% 

     

Total Corporate Bond   169,656 3.02% 

     
     

    % of 

Description  Number of Fair net 

By geographic location  Shares Value Asset 
   GBP  
Listed Equity     
     

Georgia     

TBC Bank Group PLC  8,500 110,500 1.97% 

     

Germany     

MLP AG  24,500 116,143 2.07% 

     

Germany     

Barclays Plc  75,500 135,628 2.41% 

BARR AG  13,950 80,910 1.44% 

Hargreaves Lansdown Equity  5,850 113,197 2.01% 

HSBC Holdings Plc   16,500 97,664 1.74% 

Imperial Brands Plc  6,000 112,140 2.00% 

Johnson Matthey Plc ORD  3,250 97,370 1.73% 

Legal & General Group Plc  40,000 121,200 2.16% 

MBH Corp Plc  192,013 101,590 1.81% 

Smith & Nephew Plc  5,950 109,034 1.94% 

Standard Life UK Smaller Co  4,607 29,393 0.52% 

     

Hong Kong     

Melco Resorts & Entert-ADR  10,675 194,537 3.46% 

     

Ireland     

Ishares Core FTSE 100  56,433 419,974 7.47% 

     

Isle of Man     

Playtech Plc  35,600 141,332 2.52% 

     

Israel     

Plus500 Ltd  11,483 101,739 1.81% 

     

Italy     

Unipolsai Assicurazioni SPA  23,013 50,456 0.90% 

     

Netherlands     

BE Semiconductor Industries  3,900 113,768 2.02% 
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As at 31 December 2019 

 

Portfolio Statement of MERCANTILE OPPORTUNITIES Fund: 
 

    % of 

Description  Number of Fair net 

By geographic location  Shares Value Asset 
   GBP  
Listed Equity     
     

Russian Federation     
Evraz Plc  7,752 31,318 0.56% 

     

Spain     

NH Hotel Group SA  22,500 89,330 1.59% 

     

Switzerland     

Glencore Plc  35,000 82,373 1.47% 

     

United States     

Activision Blizzard Inc  1,461 65,455 1.16% 

Amazon.Com Inc  192 267,500 4.76% 

Commerce Bancshares Inc  2,310 118,330 2.11% 

Twitter Inc  3,950 95,452 1.70% 

     

Total Equity   2,996,333 53.33% 

     

  

  % of 

Description  Fair net 

By geographic location Units Value Asset  
 GBP  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    
    
Exchange traded fund    
    

Germany    

Ishares Core Dax UCITS ETF   810 77,839 1.39% 

    

Ireland    

Ishares Euro Stoxx 50  3,350 107,904 1.92% 

Ishares Global Gov Bnd-Distr 1,120 94,903 1.69% 

Ishares Plc Ishares Markit Iboxx Corporate Bond 1,040 156,863 2.79% 

SPDR BBG BARC 15+ Gilt 2,200 156,288 2.78% 

Vanguard FTSE Emerging Market 2,500 115,938 2.06% 

Ishares Bric 50 LN 6,300 158,343 2.82% 

WT S&P 500 3X  23,000 49,024 0.87% 

    

Jersey    

Wisdometree Short USD Long GBP  20,200 152,864 2.72% 
Wt Short Eur Long GBP 5X DLY 8,700 108,576 1.93% 

WT Sugar 23,850 125,562 2.23% 

    

Luxembourg    

Lyxor Eur Corp Bond (GBP) 1,100 143,371 2.56% 

    

Total Exchange traded fund  1,447,475 25.76% 
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Portfolio Statement (continued) 
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Portfolio Statement of MERCANTILE OPPORTUNITIES Fund: 
  

  % of 

Description  Fair net 

By geographic location Units Value Asset  
 GBP  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    
    
Fund Investment    
    

Great Britain    

Aptus Global Financials-Bi 97,463 271,249 4.83% 

    

Ireland    

IShares European Property Yiel 2,500 97,313 1.73% 

IShares FTSE 250 6,700 139,460 2.48% 

    

Total Fund Investment   508,022 9.04% 

     

 

  2019 2019 
  GBP  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  5,121,486 91.15% 

Cash and cash equivalents  539,583 9.60% 

Other current assets  (42,365) (0.75)% 

Net assets attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares  5,618,704 100.00% 
     

   
Analysis of Total Assets GBP  

 Fair % of total 

 Value assets 

Transferable securities admitted to an official stock exchange on a regulated market 5,121,486 90.46% 

Cash at bank 539,583 9.53% 

Other assets 832 0.01% 

Total Assets 5,661,901 100.00% 
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Significant Portfolio Movement 

As at 31 December 2019 
 

*ORGANIC BOND Fund: 
 

List of top 20 Buys and Sells during the year 1st January 2019 to 31 December 2019 
 

MAJOR PURCHASES GBP MAJOR SALES GBP 

UK Tsy 2% 2020 3,051,900 Petroleos Mexicanos Nov 26 7.47%. 31,444,682 

ADV Holding Ltd. 10.00% 03/12/2019 1,845,240 IFC 7.25 02/2/24 4,330,110 

Konstanz Finance Ltd 5.53% 10/08/2021 1,252,000 UK Tsy 2% 2020 3,044,700 

Konstanz Finance Ltd 6.25% 10/08/2023 589,000 Mex Bonos Desarr Fix Rt Dec 19 5%  2,598,509 

Carpe Valorem 7.00% 29/07/2021 200,000 ADV Holding Ltd. 10.00% 03/12/2019 1,845,240 

Ballarat Property Plc 5.50% 31/12/2025  159,634 Bupa Finance Plc Dec 26 5% 1,540,000 

Apollo Commercial Property Plc 5.00% 

31/12/2025  153,069 Konstanz Finance Ltd 5.53% 10/08/2021 1,252,000 

  First Trust North American Energy 849,600 

  Ecopet 5 3/8 06/26/26 829,325 

  Tencent Holdings Ltd 657,533 

  Konstanz Finance Ltd 6.25% 10/08/2023 589,000 

  Alibaba Group Holding-SP ADR 541,041 

  Sigma Alimentos SA Feb 24 2.625% 523,582 

  Codelco Inc 4.5% 16/09/25 489,217 

  Republic Of Peru Aug 26 8.2% 461,726 

  Zur Rose AG 365,905 

  Funotr 5 1/4 01/30/2026 330,494 

  Gas Natural De Lima Apr 23 4.375% 326,723 

  Entel 4 7/8 10/30/24 320,339 

  Bancolombia Sa 5.125% 11/09/2022 319,664 
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Significant Portfolio Movement (continued) 

As at 31 December 2019 
 

*ORGANIC LONG SHORT ALPHA Fund: 
 

List of top 20 Buys and Sells during the year 1st January 2019 to 31 December 2019 
 

MAJOR PURCHASES US$ MAJOR SALES US$ 

Vanguard Funds - FTSE All-World ETF USD 501,056 

Vanguard Funds - FTSE All-World ETF 

USD 527,168 

Us Treasury NB 03/05/2019 498,430 Us Treasury NB 03/05/2019 500,000 

Progression Escher Marwick Plc 5.50% 

19/09/2036 250,850 Alphabet Inc-Cl A 448,172 

  Facebook Inc-A (US) 274,620 

  Alibaba Group Holding-SP ADR 274,428 

  Royal Dutch Shell Plc - ADR A - 255,963 

  

Progression Escher Marwick Plc 5.50% 

19/09/2036 250,850 

  Burberry Group Plc 227,217 

  Rio Tinto Plc-Spon ADR (Us) 225,150 

  Wynn Resorts Ltd 217,721 

  Cisco Systems 203,072 

  United Utilities Group Plc 196,373 

  Imperial Brands Plc 184,052 

  Bayer AG-Reg  182,447 

  Apple Inc 177,950 

  Archer-Daniels-Midland Co 174,015 

  Bunge Ltd 172,029 

  JD.Com Inc 171,798 

  Gilead Sciences Inc 164,996 

  Nike Inc Cl B 157,840 
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Significant Portfolio Movement (continued) 

As at 31 December 2019 
 

* MERCANTILE DIVERSIFIED Fund: 
 

List of top 20 Buys and Sells during the year 1st January 2019 to 31 December 2019 
 

MAJOR PURCHASES GBP MAJOR SALES GBP 

Guangzhou R&F Properties - H 1,153,285 WT Short USD Long GBP 671,326 

WT Short USD Long GBP 686,166 Vanguard FTSE Emerging Marke  363,674 

Wisdometree Short USD Long GBP  377,349 Ishares Core Em Imi Acc (LN) 362,750 

Wisdomtree Short Usd Long GBP 301,479 Ish Divers Commod SWAP ETF 331,935 

Ishares Global Gov Bnd-Distr 218,968 Ishares FTSE 250 315,673 

Spdr Bbg Us Treasury 200,744 Wisdomtree Short USD Long GBP 311,279 

Ishares Barclays Treasury Bond 7-10 GBP 200,136 Ishares European Property Yiel 208,989 

Invesco Us Treasury Dist 199,250 MBH Corp Plc 199,250 

MBH Corp Plc 199,250 MBH Corp Plc 198,683 

MBH Corp Plc 198,683 Lyxor S&P 500 (GBP) 171,361 

Vanguard Usd Treasury ETF 198,441 Lyxor Core Eurstx 600 Dr (GBP) 170,200 

WT Short Eur Long GBP 3X Dly 150,021 London Stock Exchange Pl Nov 21 4.75% 163,400 

X Ftse100 Short Daily SWAP 149,573 Wt Short Eur Long GBP 3X Dly 150,890 

WT S&P 500 3X Daily Short 136,255 Deutsche Telekom Int Fin Dec 19 7.375% 146,396 

WT Short EUR Long GBP 5X DLY 135,957 Spirent Communications Plc 144,581 

Verizon Communications Inc 122,102 Facebook Inc - A 137,574 

Riocan Real Estate Invst TR 121,061 X Ftse100 Short Daily Swap 135,564 

Deutsche Telekom AG (GY) 120,933 Vanguard Glb Val Factor 133,557 

Sirius Real Estate Ltd 120,696 Exxon Mobil Corp 132,461 

Accent Group Ltd 120,584 Bailie Gifford Japan Smaller B Acc 130,232 
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Significant Portfolio Movement (continued) 

As at 31 December 2019 
 

* MERCANTILE OPPORTUNITIES Fund: 
 

List of top 20 Buys and Sells during the year 1st January 2019 to 31 December 2019 
 

MAJOR PURCHASES GBP MAJOR SALES GBP 

WT Short USD Long GBP 822,112 WT Short USD Long GBP 823,782 

Hargreaves Lansdown Equity 414,589 Ishares Core S&P 500 372,367 

Ishares Core FTSE 100 399,956 Hargreaves Lansdown Equity 357,005 

3I Group Plc 298,820 Porsche Automobil Holding 320,884 

Ishares Core S&P 500 USD 220,738 3I Group Plc 313,657 

Easyjet Plc 201,243 Wisdomtree Broad Commodities 245,561 

ETFS Daily Hedged Silver 200,425 Ishares Global Gov BND-Distr 240,519 

X Ftse100 Short Daily SWAP 200,104 Thomas Cook Group Plc 232,704 

MBH Corp Plc 183,061 Ishares Core S&P 500 USD 229,881 

MBH Corp Plc 182,540 Easyjet Plc 226,188 

Thomas Cook Group Plc 171,678 Etfs Daily Hedged Silver 199,447 

Ishares Global Gov BND-Distr 157,000 Volkswagen AG-Pref 190,984 

Porsche Automobil Holding 152,959 X Ftse100 Short Daily SWAP 190,080 

Ishares Bric 50 LN 150,007 MBH Corp Plc-New 183,061 

Ashtead Group Plc 148,086 MBH Corporation Plc 182,540 

Wisdometree Short USD Long GBP 140,672 Plus 500 Ltd 182,386 

Plus 500 Ltd 124,540 Target Corp 174,545 

Wt S&P 500 3X Daily Short 122,202 Ashtead Group Plc 171,038 

Kier Group Plc 122,024 Royal Bank Of Scotland Plc 155,962 

TBC Bank Group Plc 111,804 X Global Gov Bond GBP 149,003 
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Significant Portfolio Movement (continued) 

As at 31 December 2019 
 

* LONG/SHORT ALPHA Fund: 
 

List of top 20 Buys and Sells during the year 1st January 2019 to 31 December 2019 
 

MAJOR PURCHASES GBP MAJOR SALES GBP 

ESU9 CME Sep 19 478,267 ESU9 CME Sep 19 494,228 

DFWU9 EUX Sep 19 223,438 DFWU9 EUX Sep 19 222,392 

Total SA 87,055 Total SA 86,764 

Micron Technology Inc 72,557 Micron Technology Inc 72,436 

Caterpillar Inc 54,639 Caterpillar Inc 54,639 

Caterpillar Inc 53,839 SAP AG 50,403 

SAP AG 50,755 Caterpillar Inc 50,192 

SAP SE (GR) 50,403 SAP SE (GR) 49,474 

Microsoft Corp 44,842 Microsoft Corp 43,551 

Amazon.Com Inc 43,292 Amazon.Com Inc 39,306 

Lockheed Martin Corp 36,403 Lockheed Martin Corp 36,508 

Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc  35,346 Eoan Gr Equity 33,922 

Eoan Gr Equity 34,100 Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc  33,067 

Apple Inc (US) 33,543 Apple Inc (US) 32,442 

Zurich Insurance Group AG 30,495 Zurich Insurance Group AG 30,721 

Comcast Corp-Class A (US) 28,336 Comcast Corp-Class A (US) 27,727 

Nike Inc -Cl B  27,919 Nike Inc -Cl B 26,161 

Ferrovial SA 26,273 Ferrovial SA 25,691 

Alphabet Inc-Cl C 22,971 Alphabet Inc-Cl C 24,046 

Siemens AG-Reg 22,761 Wirecard 21,781 

 



 

115 

THE MULTI-MANAGER UCITS PLATFORM FUND PLC  
 

Significant Portfolio Movement (continued) 

As at 31 December 2019 
 

* GLOBAL BOND Fund: 
 

List of top 20 Buys and Sells during the year 1st January 2019 to 31 December 2019 
 

MAJOR PURCHASES GBP MAJOR SALES GBP 

UK TSY 4 1/4% 2032 Jun 32 4.25% 70,335 UK TSY 4 1/4% 2032 Jun 32 4.25% 71,457 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

 
*- All Portfolio amalgamated trades above 1% of Net Asset Value as at 31 December 2019 

 


